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3 .  Willard Conlon, October and November, 1972, Sp r ing f i e ld ,  I l l i n o i s .  

Walter Goodman, In te rv iewer .  

Q. M r .  Conlon, what was your b i r t h  da t e?  

A. I was born November 11, i n  1910. 

Q, And y0.u have had, of course,  va r ious  occupat ions.  Could you s o r t  

of l i s t  them more o r  l e s s  chronologica l ly?  

A. Well, yes. O f  course,  as a youngster ,  you know, i n  my t e e n s  and 

even before ,  I had the normal t h i n g s  such as ca r ry ing  papers  and door- 

to-door selling--once of brooms, I remember, when I was a schoolboy. 

Then la ter  I worked f o r  about n ine ty  days i n  t h e  c o a l  mine; I worked 

w i t h  my f a t h e r  i n  c i t i z e n ' s  Mine B. I remember t h a t  on December 20, 

1928, I went t o  work i n  t h e  accounting department of t h e  I l l i n o i s  B e l l  

Telephone Company as a mailboy. I worked t h e r e  from December 20, 1928 

u n t i l  I l e f t  t o  enter Government s e r v i c e ,  and t h a t  occurred i n  February 

of 1937. I b e l i e v e  I repor t ed  f o r  duty w i t h  t h e  Div is ion  of Disbursments 

of t h e  United S t a t e s  Treasury Department on February 15, 1937. 

Q. Now let's see, your b i r thday  i s  Armist ice Day. O f  course,  it wasn't  

Armist ice Day when you were born,  bu t  do you have any r e c o l l e c t i o n s  

about  World War I? I r e a l i z e  you were very  young, bu t  do you remember 

t h i n g s  such as r a t i o n i n g  poss ib ly?  

A. A s  a ma t t e r  of f a c t ,  I do. I was e i g h t  yea r s  o l d  on t h e  f i r s t  A r m i -  



s t i c e  Day, November 11 i n  1918, and I r e c a l l  t h a t  before  t h a t ,  of course,  

t h e  war w a s  on and i t  was t h e  s u b j e c t  of a great: d e a l  of conversat ion.  

It w a s  s h o r t l y  a f t e r  w e  had moved i n t o  Spr ing f i e ld  from t h e  farm--we 

l i v e d  on South Eighth Street--and t h e r e  w a s  a detachment of s o l d i e r s  t h a t  

marched down Eighth S t r e e t  r i g h t  i n  f r o n t  of our house. We were t o l d  

t h a t  they  were going t o  t h e  depot so  t h a t  t hey  could t ake  t h e  t r a i n  some- 

where. And I w a s  very  much a f r a i d .  I ' d  heard of s o l d i e r s ,  bu t  s ee ing  

them t h a t  c l o s e  up d i d n ' t  cheer  m e  up a b i t .  ( laughter )  

La te r ,  I r e c a l l  t h a t  t h e r e  w e r e  some shor tages ,  p a r t i c u l a r l y  i n  sugar  

and a few o t h e r  t h ings ,  and I r e c a l l  t h a t  my mother d id  a l o t  of baking 

and she  s a i d  t h a t  it was necessary f o r  h e r  t o  buy s u b s t i t u t e s  i n  an 

equal  amount t h a t  she  bought f l o u r .  She was i n  t h e  h a b i t  of buying f l o u r  

i n  24 pound sacks ,  o r  perhaps i n  some cases  i n  48 pound sacks.  That ' s  

t h e  way f l o u r  was prepared o r  packed i n  t h o s e  days. But i t  seems t h a t  

i n  o rde r  t o  get: f l o u r  t h a t  way, you were expected t o  buy an  equal  amount 

of weight i n  o t h e r  c o m o d i t i e s  such a s  bran  f l o u r  o r  cornmeal o r  just 

any corn  product of any kind t o  e s t a b l i s h  t h a t  you were t r y i n g  t o  . . . 
I t h i n k  t h e  term a t  t h a t  t ime w a s  t o  share t h e  burden and he lp  your 

courrfxp by us ing  th ings  t h a t  were not  i n  s h o r t  supply,  s o  t h a t  t h i n g s  

t h a t  were i n  s h o r t  supply would b e  more a v a i l a b l e  t o  o the r s .  

Q. During World War I, d i d  you ever  run  ac ros s  any of t h e  horse  s t e a k s  

o r  t h i n g s  t h a t  t h e  o t h e r  people t r i e d  and s o  f o r t h ?  

A. I never d id ,  no. A l l  of my information on that t y p e  of food came 

from conversa t ion ,  t h e  conversa t ion  i n  t h e  family and i n  o the r  p laces .  



But I do remember t h e r e  was a g rea t  dea l  of conversation i n  our family 

about t h e  hardships t h a t  t h e  Belgians were pu t t ing  up with. It was 

never q u i t e  c l e a r  t o  me  i n  those days exact ly  what a Belgian was, r e a l l y ,  

but i t  seemed t h a t  t h e  Belgian chi ldren  were denied food and were being 

harshly  mis t rea ted  by t h e  Germans. O f  course, s ince  t h a t  t i m e  I learned 

what they meant by t h a t ,  but f o r  a long while t h e  t e r m  Belgian was almost 

. . . it always ca l l ed  t o  my mind c rue l ty  t o  chi ldren ,  o r  chi ldren  hav- 

ing  very hard times. 

Q. What: about publ ic  support? Do you remember anything about t h i s ?  

Were the re  b i g  r a l l i e s ,  o r  did your parents go i n  f o r  t h i s  s t u f f ?  

A. My parents  were r a t h e r  t h e  qu ie t  type; they never r e a l l y  at tended 

very many publ ic  functions.  Indeed, they d idn ' t  have a g rea t  d e a l  t o  

say about t h e  a f f a i r s  of t h e  day although they d id  have d e f i n i t e  views 

on t h e  war and th ings  of t h a t  nature. But even though I was young, I 

r e c a l l  t h a t  t h e r e  was some t a l k  i n  our household about t h e  f a c t  t h a t  a 

couple of parochia l  schools here  i n  Spr ingf ie ld  t h a t  had--they were grade 

schools--they had courses i n  t h e  German language, and found it advisable  

t o  discontinue these  German language courses because of publ ic  resent-  

ment and h o s t i l i t y .  I n  f a c t ,  i t  was s a i d  t h a t  t h e  pas to r  of one of these  

pa r i shes  had been so  outspoken i n  h i s  support of t h e  German forces  t h a t  

he had ra ised  se r ious  quest ions i n  t h e  minds of h i s  own congregation a s  

t o  whether o r  not  he was s t a b l e  enough, o r  r e a l l y  acceptable t o  them 

under these  conditions. 

Q. You s a i d  a few minutes ago that yob moved i n  from the farm. Where 

was the farm? 



A. The l a s t  farm we l i v e d  on--we were r e n t e r s ,  of course--was down by 

Nilwood, I l l i n o i s .  That ' s  south of Sp r ing f i e ld  t h e r e ,  oh, around 25 o r  

30 miles, o r  perhaps j u s t  a  shade f u r t h e r  than t h a t .  1t's loca ted ,  1 

be l i eve ,  i n  Montgomery County. But we came up, we l l ,  we must have come 

t o  Sp r ing f i e ld  i n  e i t h e r  l a t e  1917 o r  e a r l y  i n  1918. I remember t h a t  
1 

I s t a r t e d  school  i n  f i r s t  grade a t  Nilwoad, I l l i n o i s ,  and the  name of 

my t eache r  was M i s s  Bloyer. And I r e c a l l  t h a t  she  used t o  read t o  u s  

every a f te rnoon,  and, i n  f a c t ,  she  read t o  u s  from The Wizard of Oz. I 

always thought t h a t  t h e  name Dorothy was a very b e a u t i f u l  name, and i t  

came t o  me from The Wizard o f  Oz. And every day a f t e r  school ,  M i s s  Bloyer 

would take the in t e ru rban  car - - i t ' s  an e l e c t r i c  c a r  s i m i l a r  t o  a s t r e e t -  

car--to C a r l i n v l l l e  because t h a t ' s  where she  l i ved .  

Q. Did you eve r  know of anyone--not n e c e s s a r i l y  polit ical--who spoke 

out  aga ins t  t h e  war, i n  your family o r  anybody e l s e ,  o r  poss ib l e  d i s -  

c r imina t ion  a g a i n s t  people l i k e  t h i s ?  

A. I r e a l l y  never heard of anyone t ak ing  any view o r  having an a t t i t u d e  

o t h e r  than t h a t  our  country w a s  very wel l  j u s t i f i e d  i n  a l l  of i t s  a c t i v -  

i t i e s ,  and t h a t  every th ing  t h a t  t h e  Al l i ed  Powers d i d  was g r e a t  and every- 

t h i n g  t h a t  the o t h e r  s i d e  d id  was wrong. I do remember my very  f i r s t  po- 

l i t i c a l  thought ,  which i s n ' t  connected wi th  t h e  w a r ,  bu t  I remember when 

Hughes ran a g a i n s t  Wilson, which had t o  be i n  1916 because t h i s  goes back 

t o  Nilwood when I w a s  i n  t h e  first grade. And w e  had a  l i t t l e  v e r s e  we 

used t o  say: "Wilson runs  t h e  engine,  Hughes r i n g s  t h e  bell. Wilson goes 

t o  t h e  White House, and Hughes goes t o  t h e  o the r  place." My f a t h e r  and 

mother were very  d i s t r e s s e d  when they 'd hea r  u s  t a l k  l i k e  t h i s .  ( l augh te r )  



Q. After  World War I, t h e  boys were coming home and s o  f o r t h ,  and they 

were f inding it a  l i t t l e  d i f f i c u l t  t o  f ind  jobs. Was your family ever 

ef fec ted  by this--I'm sure  they didn ' t  come home from t h e  war o r  any- 

th ing,  but d id  they . . . 

A. They r e a l l y  weren't ,  because we did not have any r e a l  c lose ,  l i k e  

brothers  and sisters o r  even cousins on a c t i v e  duty i n  the  m i l i t a r y  

service.  My parents  w e r e  q u i t e  old;  they were married la te  i n  l i f e ,  

and w e l l ,  w e  c e r t a i n l y  knew many re turning servicemen. I was old enough 

by then t o  know t h a t  somebody was home, and we heard repor t s ,  and the re  

w a s  t a l k  t h a t  it was r a t h e r  d i f f i c u l t  f o r  s o l d i e r s  t o  f ind employment 

again o r  t o ,  wel l ,  t o  s u i t  themselves o r  t o  f i t  themselves f o r  c j v i l i a n  

l i f e  again. It seemed t h a t  many of the so ld fe r s  found readjus t ing t o  

t h e  normal humdrum way of l i v i n g  t h a t  most of us faced, i t  was not r e a l l y  

s u i t a b l e  t o  them. 

There was one th ing about t h e  re turnees  from World War I t h a t  I do re- 

member, though, and t h a t  i s  they were i n  t h e  hab i t  of coming back i n  a  

group. I n  o ther  wor&, you could go down t o  t h e  ra i l road  s t a t i o n  or  

o ther  places where a l a r g e  sec t ion  of them would get off  t h e  t r a i n .  I 

don' t  know i f  i t  was a company o r  a  platoon o r  what it was, but the re  

would be a c i v i c  reception t o  greet  the  boys coming home. In World 

War m, t h a t  wasn't t h e  case; j u s t  a l l  of a  sudden you j u s t  learned t h a t  

so-and-so ww back again, you see. But t o  have any c i v i c  ceremony while 

a  c e r t a i n  number of them returned home was not common i n  World War 11, 

but I bel ieve  it was r a t h e r  common i n  World War I. 

Q. What w a s  your f a t h e r ' s  occupation? 



A. He was a coal  miner. He had been a farmer and he was born and ra ised  

on a farm i n  Sangamon County, and then he rented farms, a s  I say, down 

i n  Montgomery County and i n  and around Springfield.  Then when he l e f t  

t h e  farm, he came back t o  Springfield and he became a coal  miner. He 

had, i n  h i s  e a r l i e r  days, been connected with t h e  Bissell Coal Mine out 

here,  A t  one time, he and h i s  own fa the r  had had a hand i n  t h e  estab- 

lishment of t h a t  coal  mine, and he had been the  bookkeeper f o r  the  orig- 

i n a l  Bissell Coal Company out there .  Then t h e  corporate ownership changed 

and he had worked underground a s  a miner f o r  a while. So he was no 

novice a t  t h i s .  

I do know t h i s ,  t h a t  when he was farming, he had some d r a f t  horses-- 

t h a t  was t h e  power, of course, they had--and some buyers f o r  t h e  B r i t i s h  

Army o r  for one of t h e  Al l ied  Powers came through and made him such a 

f i n e  o f f e r  fo r  some of these  horses t h a t  he had, t h a t  he f e l t  t h a t  he 

couldn't a f ford  t o  not take  it,  so  he sold  them. He  s t i l l  had re ta ined 

enough f o r  t h e  uses t h a t  he needed. 

Q. Following t h e  more o r  less s l i g h t  depression a f t e r  World War I, came 

t h e  Twenties, of course, and t h e  Twenties have always been known i n  t h e  

h i s to ry  books a s  boom time. Everybody was more o r  l e s s  gay and happy 

and a l l  t h a t  s t u f f .  Do you have fee l ings  l i k e  t h i s ,  too? 

A. No, I don't. I n  f a c t ,  q u i t e  t h e  opposite. It might wel l  be because 

of t h e  fact t h a t  my f a t h e r  was o lder  by then and he was working i n  t h e  

mines. The mines w e r e ,  of course, not  near ly  as p r o f i t a b l e ,  o r  not a s  

good a place t o  work a s  they had been during t h e  war, because l i k e  every- 

th ing else, a f t e r  t h e  war t h e r e  was slackening i n  indust ry  general ly and 



the  work i n  the  mines f e l l  o f f .  So the re  were many periods there ,  where 

j u s t  because of t h e  season--the summer season--they would not  be working 

a t  a l l ,  and the re  were o ther  periods when the  mines were on s t r i k e  f o r  

long periods of time. I can remember my f a t h e r  being on s t r i k e  f o r  s i x  

months a t  a time on severa l  occasions. 

So t h a t  while t h e  Twenties a r e  sa id  by t h e  h i s t o r i a n s  and t h e  economists 

t o  be a period of r e l a t i v e  af f luence  and prosper i ty  f o r  t h e  country a t  

l a rge ,  i t  r e a l l y  wasn't t r u e  f o r  t h e  Conlon family a s  a u n i t .  Because 

even when t h e  mines were working, your earnings depended i n  a l a r g e  mea- 

s u r e  on how much you yourself could produce, because i n  those days, you 

know, you were paid on a tonnage bas i s  and t h i s  varied.  There were many 

f a c t o r s  involved here  i n  addi t ion  t o  your own physical  a b i l i t y  t o  load 

coal  and your own s k i l l  a t  being a b l e  t o  b l a s t  coal .  There was t h e  amount 

of coal  needed by your employer as t o  whether you could load a l l  t h e  ca r s  

you were capable of o r  not .  And so, put a l l  together,  t h i s  w a s  not r e a l l y  

a very prosperous time. My f a t h e r  married l a t e  i n  l i f e ,  and t h i s  w a s  a t  

t h e  t i m e  when h i s  chi ldren were a t  t h e i r  youngest and i n  t h e i r  school 

age so  t h a t  they were not  ab le  t o  contr ibute  anything. They were con- 

sumers, but they were not ab le  t o  help out f inanc ia l ly  i n  any way. My 

f a t h e r  did have some resources i n  addi t ion  t o  h i s  earnings i n  t h e  coal  

mine job. He owned some small property i n  addi t ion  t o  our own home. He 

owned another house, and he came i n t o  a very s m a l l  inher i tance ,  and i n  

those  ways w e  had some advantages t h a t  perhaps we wouldn't have had other- 

w i s e ,  but  we were never i n  the  top rank. In  o ther  words, o ther  people 

bought automobiles long before w e  d id  and enjoyed a measure of comfort 

t h a t  we didn ' t  have access to .  
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Q. During t h e  1920's you were a teenager .  Do you remember much about 

P roh ib i t i on ,  such as t h e  speakeas ies?  

A. Sure do. Yes, indeed. You know, i t ' s  kind of funny. I do n o t  

remember when P roh ib i t i on  came. I do very  dimly remember be fo re  Prohi- 

b i t i o n  came. I n  o the r  words, I remember when sa loons  were open and run- 

ning. And I know f o r  c e r t a i n  t h a t  when we came t o  Sp r ing f i e ld ,  t h a t  

t h e r e  were s e v e r a l  corner  sa loons ,  as they  were c a l l e d  then-in our  

neighborhood because I heard my f a t h e r  r e f e r  t o  them on s e v e r a l  occasions.  

Then l a t e r ,  of course,  t h e  p r o h i b i t i o n  l a w  was passed,  and j u s t  when 

t h a t  came about escaped my a t t e n t i o n  a s  it had no i n t e r e s t  f o r  me. I 

r e a l l y  d i d n ' t  know a t h i n g  about t h a t .  

Then s t i l l  a l i t t l e  l a t e r ,  I became conscious of t h e  f a c t  t h a t  t h e  s a l e  

of l i q u o r  w a s  i l l e g a l  and a l l  of t h e  sa loons  and taverns  were c losed  

and one t h i n g  o r  another ,  and t h a t  l i q u o r  was being s o l d  on, oh, s o r t  of 

a, w e l l ,  i t ' s  hard t o  put  i t--an i l l e g a l  b a s i s ,  but  t h a t ' s  no t  i t .  It 

w a s  being so ld  on t h e  s l y ,  I t h i n k  i s  t h e  only way you'd s ay  it. And us  

c h i l d r e n  and young teenagers ,  w e  were p r e t t y  w e l l  aware of who w a s  doing 

the  s e l l i n g  and who was doing t h e  buying. And i t  became q u i t e  t h e  cus- 

tom f o r  people t o  make t h e i r  own wine and t h e i r  own beer .  And i n  t h i s ,  

they were, w e l l ,  they  were encouraged, r e a l l y ,  by t h e  bus iness  i n t e r e s t  

because i t  turned  out  t h a t  by t h e  purchase of a product c a l l e d  malt .  . . . 
Now t h i s  malt, there was nothing unusual about i t  except t h a t  it w a s  

f l avo red  wi th  hops, and i t  w a s  so ld  under t h e  . . . it  was s o l d  a s  some- 

t h i n g  one would use i n  baking, t o  f l a v o r  bread o r  f l a v o r  o t h e r  baked 

products .  But any r e c i p e  w i l l  show you t h a t  a tablespoon f u l l  of t h a t  



malt would f l avor  a l a r g e  batch of bread, whereas i t  was sold  i n  about 

a three-pound can, you see .  So t h a t  was j u s t  r e a l l y  a subterfuge. So 

it soon became q u i t e  t h e  custom t h a t  everyone would buy these  cans of 

malt and a package of compressed yeas t ,  and t h e r e  was a l i t t l e  sugar 

involved i n  it, I th ink.  And you put t h i s  a l l  i n  together  with water 

and dissolved i t  i n  lukewarm water i n  a l a r g e  crock, and t h a t  would soon 

foam up, and then t h a t  foam would d isapperar  and then i t  would revive  

and foam up again,  a f t e r  which t i m e  you'd b o t t l e  it. It made a p r e t t y  

pa la tab le  beer; i t  was r e a l l y  very good. The point  here is  t h a t  every 

grocery s t o r e  a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  they would have on hand a t  l e a s t  a ha l f  a 

dozen, and i n  a l l  p robab i l i ty  twelve d i f f e r e n t  v a r i e t i e s  of t h i s  malt. 

I doubt very much i f  you could buy a can of i t  i n  Spr ingf ie ld  today. 

Q. What about t h e  speakeasies? 

A. The speakeasies? '  A s  I say, we,  a s  youngsters,  wel l  knew where they  

were. It wasn't u n t i l  a l i t t l e  l a t e r  on t h a t  I patronized any of them, 

but  I a c t u a l l y  f requent ly  did.  I have been i n  speakeasies on a number 

of occasions. A s  t i m e  went on, you got t o  know who was i n  the  business 

and where you might be a b l e  t o  buy something t o  dr ink ,  and t h i s  s t a r t e d  

a t  a r a t h e r  young age. We now have a law t h a t  says one shouldn' t  sel l  

t o  anyone less than 21,  1 bel ieve ,  i n  t h e  S t a t e  of I l l i n o i s .  I know 

t h a t  I was only 16 when I bought my first b o t t l e  of white mule, which is  

t h e  same as bootleg whiskey. 

Q. Where were some of these  a t ?  

A. They were sca t t e red ,  r e a l l y ,  a l l  over the town. I wouldn't say 

t h e r e  were very many on t h e  w e s t  s i d e  of Spr ingf ie ld ,  j u s t  a s  t h e r e  real ly  



a ren ' t  very many f i l l i n g  s t a t i o n s  o r  grocery s to res .  But t h e r e  were 

p lenty  of them i n  the  downtown d i s t r i c t  and t h e  f r i n g e  a reas  downtown. 

By f r inge ,  I would lnc lude  anything l i k e  e a s t  of Ninth S t r e e t ,  o r  south 

of Capitol ,  o r  nor th  of Madison ox perhaps Carpenter. But they were 

spr inkled  i n  there ,  l a r g e l y  i n  t h e s e  cases on the  second f l o o r  of down- 

town buildings.  There were none of them t h a t  1 knew of ever operated 

on t h e  f i r s t  f loor .  Now I have heard t h a t  t h e r e  were some, but  I was never 

i n  one. The only ones i n  t h i s  p a r t i c u l a r  a rea  would be on t h e  second 

f loor .  Then on the  e a s t  s i d e  and on t h e  nor th  s i d e  t h e r e  w e r e  r e a l l y  

q u i t e  a few of them. Some of them sold  only a l i t t l e  alcohol  t h a t  was 

supposed t o  be  d i s t i l l e d  from sugar-- i t ' s  s a id  t h a t  t h a t ' s  a very easy 

and quick  way t o  make alcohol--and they'd s e l l  you t h e  alcohol  and cut  

it with water f o r  you and sometimes they'd f l avor  it. By f l avor  it ,  I 

mean they'd make and imi ta t ion  g i n  o r  even put  a l i t t l e  peach o r  black- 

berry  f l avor ing  o r  something l ik i ;  t h a t .  But we had a custom here  i n  

Spr ingf ie ld  i n  t h e  s a l e  of t h i s  home brew tha t  I have never heard of 

any p lace  e l s e .  

When th ree  o r  four  people would approach a bootlegging joint--say on 

t h e  nor th  side--you'd go i n  and a l l  of us would s i t  a t  a t a b l e ,  a l l  i n  

one party.  And someone would say,  " ~ e t ' s  have a beer." The wa i t e r ,  o r  

sometimes a wa i t r e s s ,  would t ake  a l a r g e  t i n  bucket, and empty i n t o  t h a t  

bucket two quar t  b o t t l e s  of beer and then br ing  it t o  us. Then every- 

one would dr ink  from t h i s  bucket and pass  it  around u n t i l  i t  was empty, 

and then it would be t he  next man's t u r n  and he, too ,  would order .  In 

o the r  words, you j u s t  emptied these  b o t t l e s  i n t o  t h i s  bucket, and you 

drank out of i t  u n t i l  i t  was empty and then you ordered another  on. I f  



you wanted something a l i t t l e  harder l i k e  white mule, a s  I say,  you 

would get  a shot  and they'd give you a chaser of soda pop o r  whatever 

you wanted. 

Q. How much a c t u a l  publ ic  support was the re ,  a t  l e a s t  i n  your family? 

A, I never heard of any real c r i t i c i s m  of this, except of a s o r t  of a 

s o c i a l  nature.  By t h i s  I mean t h a t  the re  would be some comment, "Well, 

so-and-so is sending h i s  son off t o  be a doctor, and he can w e l l  a f ford  

t o  because he's been bootlegging f o r  years." That 's an a c t u a l  quotation. 

I even know t h e  doctor. ( laughter)  

Q. How good was t h e  l lquor?  

A,  It was not very good. There were a l o t  of sca re  s t o r i e s  i n  magazines 

and i n  the newspapers--these s t i l l  is,  of course--about people drinking 

i n f e r i o r  alcohol--wood alcohol was t h e  term we a l l  used--where people 

went b l ind and one th ing  o r  another. And the re  was a l s o  t a l k  t h a t  i n  the  

manufacture of t h i s  white mule t h a t  there 'd  be dead r a t s  and c a t s  and 

other  mattes of t h a t  kind i n  the  fermentaion va t s .  And t h a t  might w e l l  

be, but I remember t h a t  a f t e r  Prohibi t ion  i t  came out  t h a t  a l a r g e  pro- 

por t ion  of t h i s  homemade product had been t e s t e d  and found t o  be as pal- 

a t a b l e  and as potable a s  one could expect. In o ther  words, t h e r e  was not  

r e a l l y  any g rea t  r i s k  t o  be run from t h i s .  It was not as bad a s  it was 

painted. It was a good deal  cheaper than what we're paying today. I 

know one place  where you could buy alcohol a t  four d o l l a r s  a gallon. I 

don't know t h e  proof of i t ,  but I do know t h a t  i t  was p r e t t y  strong.  

Q. Did you ever run across  anybody you knew who was involved i n  t h e  



gangs ter  element o r  t h e  v io l ence  which occurred i n  Sp r ing f i e ld?  

A.  Nobody, a s  f a r  a s  being pe r sona l ly  acquainted wi th  anyone, no t  r e a l l y .  

I knew a couple of fe l lows  about my own age who i t  w a s  s a i d  were working 

f o r  t h e  boot leggers  and were working f o r  Chicago and Cicero i n t e r e s t s ,  

and i t  might w e l l  be. There w a s  supposed t o  be a t i e  up between S t .  ~ b u i s  

and Chicago i n  those  mat te rs .  And I bel ieved it,  and I s t i l l  b e l i e v e  i t ,  

as a matter of f a c t .  I n  f a c t ,  some of them a r e  s t i l l  a c t i v e  i n  Spring- 

f i e l d  today. I fo rgo t  t h e  f i r s t  p a r t  of t h e  quest ion.  

Q. Could you r e l a t e  any i n c i d e n t s  of violence that occurred i n  Sp r ing f i e ld?  

A. Oh, I w e l l  remember when v a r i o u s  boot legging j o i n t s  were c losed  down 

and t h e  goss ip  was t h a t  they  had been ordered t o  c l o s e  by t h e  syndica te .  

I don't: t h i n k  we used t h e  word synd ica t e  i n  t hose  days; I t h i n k  somebody 

s a i d ,  " the  gangsters ."  But a t  any r a t e ,  t h e r e  was a p l ace  out  n o r t h  of 

town c a l l e d  t h e  Wayside Inn which w a s  p r e t t y  notor ious  f o r  its day 

because i t  continued t o  o p e r a t e  on a l i t t l e  more s o p h i s t i c a t e d  l e v e l  than  

t h e  working man's common beer-drinking j o i n t  t h a t  I t a lked  about.  They 

had a band t h e r e ,  and they  had a r e g u l a r  ba r ,  and they had some p r e t t y  

racy  decora t ions  i n  back of t h e  bar .  And it seemed t o  enjoy a g r e a t  popu- 

l a r i t y  w i t h  t h e  more a f f l u e n t  people i n  t h e  town, e s p e c i a l l y  t hose  who, 

oh, l i k e d  t o  swing a l i t t l e  b i t ,  I suppose. A t  any r a t e ,  t h e  word went 

out  they were t o l d  t o  c l o s e  down, and they  d i d n ' t  do i t .  They were then  

burned ou t ;  they were d e f i n i t e l y  bombed, and the p l a c e  was burned. There 

were no c a s u a l t i e s  i n  t h a t ,  but t h e  p l ace  never d l d  open again.  

I remember t h e  f i r s t  gangs ter  k i l l i n g  t h a t  I ever heard of w a s  down on 

Ninth and Reynolds S t r e e t .  There w a s  a grocery s t o r e  and another  s t o r e  



the re ,  and apparently two fellows were walking e a s t  on Reynolds S t r e e t ,  

and as they cornered Ninth S t r e e t  t h e r e  were some fellows t h e r e  waiting 

f o r  them and they had machine guns, and they k i l l e d  them r i g h t  on the  spot .  

Then some t i m e  l a t e r ,  the re  was another k i l l i n g  a t  a place c a l l e d  t h e  

Bluebird Cafe down on Jefferson S t ree t .  It was between Seventh and Eighth 

Street on Jefferson.  And i t  was on t h e  south s i d e  of t h e  s t r e e t ,  and i t  

was t h e  s o r t  of a p lace  of quest ionable repute. A t  any r a t e ,  some fellows 

were s i t t i n g  in the re  one afternoon a t  a t a b l e  and t h e  place was invaded 

by other  people with machine guns who k i l l e d  two fellows there .  That, by 

t h e  way, is  only a block away from the  po l i ce  s t a t i o n .  

Q. I think you t o l d  me a s to ry  about a fel low who ran  a shoeshine shop 

o r  something where Horace Mann i s  today, and went t o  lunch and was shot  

and didn ' t  come back from lunch o r  something. 

A. Oh, no. There used t o  be an establishment on the  corner--it  wasn't a 

shoeshine place. There used t o  be an establishment on the  comer ,  I 

th ink  it was Eighth and Washington s t r e e t s ,  and i t  was run by a man who 

was known a s  a gambler. This was r a t h e r  well-known and accepted a s  

though he were a shoe man or  something of t h a t  kind. And he had t h e  

reputa t ion of being scrupulously honest. I f  he l o s t  a be t ,  he paid i t .  

I f  you were known t o  him and you needed money, he'd loan i t  t o  you. And 

apparently he operated i n  defiance o f  t h e  demands of some element of our 

socie ty ,  because he d i d  go t o  lunch one day and a s  he l e f t  t h e  place,  why, 

they le t  him have it. It was i n  t h e  middle of t h e  afternoon o r  t h e  e a r l y  

afternoon, about lunch t i m e .  Charl ie  Dawson, I th ink,  was h i s  name. 

Q. How did t h e  po l i ce  reac t  t o  the  violence o r  the  speakeasies o r  t o  any 

of t h i s  s t u f f  t h a t  was ac tua l ly  i l l e g a l ?  Were the re  ac tua l ly  any great  

lpovea t o  el iminate crime? 
1 



A. A s  far  a s  I know, t h e i r  a t t i t u d e  was t h i s :  they did not condone 

any of this. T h i s  w a s  i l l e g a l ,  and the re fo re  they were agains t  it. But 

their basic  a t t i t u d e  was t h a t  t h i s  was a Federal law and i t ' s  up t o  t h e  

Federal  Government t o  do t h e i r  own enforcing. They themselves, of 

course, would enforce i t  where they could. And mind you now, i n  saying 

this, I c e r t a i n l y  was not c lose  enough t o  know any of t h e  po l i ce  o r  any 

of the a u t h o r i t i e s  i n  charge of the police.  But my a t t i t u d e ,  o r  my 

impressions-and I was q u i t e  young a t  t h e  time, although, by now, I was 

i n  my twenties--was t h a t  they f e l t  t h a t  t h e  enforcement of t h e  prohibi- 

t i o n  law, i t s e l f ,  was r e a l l y  not  t h e i r  f i r s t  r e spons ib i l i ty .  In an ad- 

v i so ry  o r  o ther  capacity,  they would help'where necessary, but i n  f e r r e t -  

ing  out o r  t ry ing  t o  c o l l e c t  evidence, I don't  be l ieve  they spent much 

t h e  on it at all, Now then, t h e r e  w e r e  many, many individual  police- 

men who took t h e  a t t i t u d e  t h a t ,  wel l ,  they didn ' t  approve of prohibi t ion  

anyway, and they themselves l iked  t o  drink a l i t t l e ,  and i t  was not 

really uncommon t o  run across  an off-duty policeman e i t h e r  i n  a place of 

t h a t  kind o r  a t tending a s o c i a l  function where a good deal  of l iquor  was 

served. 

I wouldn't say t h a t  they went out of t h e i r  way t o  make an example, but 

I had one s t o r y  r e l a t e d  t o  m e  by a r e l a t i v e  of mine who went t o  Chicago 

t o  t e s t i f y  a s  an expert witness i n  a lawsuit  there .  It was i n  a Federal 

court and one of t h e  s i d e s  had hi red  him t o  come i n  as an exper! witness 

on t h i s  case involving t h e  coal  mine. So he went up the re ,  and he l e f t  

the Union S ta t ion  and he f e l t  a l i t t l e  t h i r s t  and he asked the f i r s t  

Chicago policeman he met where a man could buy a d t fnk.  The policeman 

dihwbully. ~Fliged and t o l d  Iiim. 



Q. Everybody knows 1929 is  t h e  year t h a t  was t h e  boom and then the  

bust ,  t h e  stock market crash. What were your impressions of t h e  s tock 

market crash? Did it e f f e c t  you o r  anybody you knew? 

A. Yea, it did ,  It 's kind of funny, by e f f e c t .  L i t t l e  d id  I r e a l l y  

know hbw much it was going t o  e f f e c t  me. A t  t h a t  t i m e ,  I was working 

f o r  t h e  telephone company and I was working i n  t h e  accounting depart- 

ment. Now, i n  t h e  a rea  i n  which I worked, the re  were a l s o  o ther  o f f i c e r s  

of t h e  company because t h i s  was a d iv i s ion  o f f i c e  set up. I r e c a l l  t h a t  

t h e  AT and T &erican Telephone and ~ e l e ~ r a ~ g  s tock a t  t h a t  time was 

s e l l i n g  f o r  $310 s h a r g .  

Q. What was t h a t  again? 

A. Et wag $310 a share. That 's  AT and T. Now they had an employees' 

plan whereby an employee could buy i t  f i r s t  a t  $120, and then j u s t  before 

t h e  crash,  a t  $150 a share. Now, p a r t  of t h e  agreement was t h a t  i f  t h e  

s tock went down and the employee d idn ' t  want it,  he could get  h i s  money 

back, I n  o ther  words, you couldn't  possibly lose  on the  thing.  If ,  

before your l a s t  payment was made, t h e  s tock went down below what you 

wanted t o  pay f o r  i t ,  they would glve you back everything t h a t  you had 

paid i n t o  it. Natural ly,  a good many employees had subscribed t o  t h i s .  

I wasrthe proud buyer of one share  myself. ( laughter)  I remember one 

d iv i s ion  head of t h e  t r a f f i c  department--I be l ieve  h i s  name was . . . 
well ,  I don't  be l ieve  h i s  name is too pe r t inen t  anyway, i t ' s  so  long 

ago now-but he used t o  t a l k  very elouqently about t h i s  stock. I very 

much r e c a l l  t h a t  he sa id  j u s t  before t h e  crash when it was $310, " I ' m  

not going t o  s e l l  u n t i l  it g e t s  t o  $1000." One thousand d o l l a r s ,  And 



a f t e r  t h e  c r a sh  i t  went down t o  $200, came back t o  $220, and i t  went 

down t o  $180, i t  came back t o  maybe $200 and then  i t  went down again. 

I th ink ,  even tua l ly ,  t h a t  s tock  went down t o  $69, a l though I would have 

t o  check t h a t  myself. But I know one th ing ,  t h e  company was good enough 

t o  g ive  m e  back my money t h a t  I had pa ld  out  on my share.  I think I 

bought a t  $120 and it hadn' t  pa id  $120, s o  they gave me back my money. 

But of course,  I do remember o t h e r  people wi th  more than  AT and T s tock ,  

wi th  o t h e r  k inds  of s tock .  

This  was r e a l l y  a t  t h e  t ime of t h e  I n s u l l  scandal  when Samuel ~ n s u l l ' s  

stock--which had a l s o  been s e l l i n g  a t  i n f l a t e d  p r i c e s ,  and which covered 

a g r e a t  many d i f f e r e n t  companies. It would be i n c o r r e c t  t o  say t h a t  

t h e r e  was a s h a r e  of I n s u l l  s tock.  It was r a t h e r  a number of e l e c t r i c  

u t i l i t y  companies and o t h e r  pub l i c  u t i l i t y  companies which were owned 

and con t ro l l ed  by t h e  I n s u l l  i n t e r e s t s  thxough holding companies o r  one 

t h i n g  o r  anoxher* . In f a c t ,  t h e  C&IM - E h i c a g o  and I l l i n o i s  ~ i d l a n a  

Rai lroad i s  s t i l l  an I n e u l l  Company. These s tocks  were selling a t  wi ld ly  

i n f l a t e d  p r i c e s  and t h e  bottom f e l l  ou t  of them, you know. And t h e r e  

was a g rea t  pub l i c  clamor t h a t  t h e  laws t h a t  we then  had had been unen- 

forced and t h e  people had been cheated out  of t h e i r  money. And a s  a 

r e s u l t ,  Samuel I n s u l l ,  h imsel f ,  he  l e f t  the country and took re fuge  over  

i n  England. He l a t e r  re turned  and was t r i e d ,  and I be l i eve  he was ac- 

q u i t t e d .  I don' t  b e l i e v e  t h e r e  was eve r  any convic t ion  on malfeasance 

of any kind,  bu t  t h e r e  was c e r t a i n l y  one heck of a l o t  of money l o s t .  

Many of these  s h a r e s  went down t o  nothing o r  l e s s ,  where they  l o s t  every 

cen t  t h a t  they  had, because t o  an exten t - - i t  was pyramiding, you know-- 

one company was i n  t u r n  t h e  c r e a t i o n  of another  company. I read a book 



by John Kenneth Galbra i th  about t h i s  p a r t  of t h e  g r e a t  c r a sh  one time, 

which he d e a l s  wi th  a t  g r e a t  l eng th  t h i s  type of i n t e r l o c k i n g  t h i n g ,  

you know, and t h i s  pyramiding of r e l a t i v e l y  no a s s e t s  t o  g i a n t  obl iga-  

t ions .  

Q. O f  course,  t h e  s tock  market c r a sh  now i s  j u s t  a very minor event ,  

r e a l l y ,  t o  what was going t o  happen l a t e r  t o  t h e  whole country. Of 

course,  t h e  banks closed i n  . . . what w a s  i t ,  1932 o r  19331 

A. Well, they s t a r t e d  a l i t t l e  be fo re  t h a t .  The c rash  i t s e l f  was i n  

1929. I don ' t  t h i n k  t h e  p r a c t i c a l  e f f e c t s  began t o  be f e l t  by normal, 

average working men and women c e r t a i n l y  f o r  s i x  months, and t h e  full 

f o r c e  no t  f o r  a year  o r  more. Up u n t i l  then,  I th ink ,  t h e  g r e a t e s t  

impact was on t h e  i n v e s t i n g  c l a s s ,  t h e  people wi th  money who r e a l l y  

knew t h a t  t h i s  i s  going t o  r e s u l t  i n  g r e a t  hardship.  But then ,  a l l  of 

a sudden t h e  employment f e l l  o f f  and t h e  f a c t o r i e s  closed and a good 

many f i n a n c i a l  i n s t i t u t i o n s  d id  go bankrupt,  and w e l l ,  t h e r e  was j u s t  

no p r a c t i c a l  s t e p s  taken t o  change i t ,  There were a l o t  of c laims made 

a s  t o  t h e  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  f o r  it and t h e r e  was a l o t  of s o r t  of s i l l y  

t ype  th ings  suggested a s  t o  how t o  cure  it. What 1 ' m  t r y i n g  t o  say is  

t h i s  on t h a t  s tock  bus iness :  t h e  l eade r s  of t h e  country d i d n ' t  seem 

t o  know what t h e  sco re  was. 

Coolidge is quoted as saying  t h a t  when people ge t  l a i d  o f f ,  unemployment 

r e s u l t s .  The banking i n t e r e s t s  gene ra l ly  seemed t o  t h i n k  t h a t  every- 

t h i n g  would be f i n e  i f  t h e  government would loan  them money a t  l i t t l e  

o r  no i n t e r e s t  r a t e s  and l e t  them do wi th  i t  whatever they  wanted to .  

There was no uni formi ty  i n  banking o r  t h e  government c i r c l e s  a s  t o  where 

government r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  s t a r t e d  o r  stopped the re .  And t h e r e  seemed 



t o  be  a s o r t  of a despe ra t e  f e e l i n g  on t h e  p a r t  of t h e  f i n a n c i a l  i n t e r -  

e s t  t o  p r o t e c t  themselves without  any acknowledgement of any responsi-  

b i l i t y  t o  t h e  we l f a re  of c i t i z e n s  as such. There was a l o t  of t a l k  about 

t h e  Wall S t r e e t  bankers and t h e r e  was a Congressional i nqu i ry  i n t o  bank- 

ing p r a c t i c e s  a t  t h e  t ime,  none of which, a s  f a r  a s  I can t e l l ,  bore any 

f r u i t  a t  a l l .  

Hoover was P res iden t  when all of a sudden, t h e  p a r t y  i n  power backed a 

nationwide movement t o  popular ize  t h e  song, "Pack up Your Troubles i n  

Your Old K i t  Bag." And t h e r e  was another  one l i k e  t h a t ,  an i n s p i r a t i o n a l  

type  of song: nothing i s  wrong, j u s t  smi le ,  smi le ,  smi le ,  and every- 

t h i n g  is going t o  be  f i n e .  This  i s  t h e  s i l l i n e s s .  It d i d n ' t  answer 

anybody's ques t ions  o r  h e l p  anybody a t  a l l .  And looking back on i t ,  

you'd almost t h i n k  it never  happened, but  i t  did.  

Q. I n  Spr ing f i e ld  , t h e  Ridgely Bank &dgely-~armers  State ~ a n g  c losed .  

That was in 1933, 1932? 

A. It must be 1933, because i t  hadn' t  y e t  c losed  when Roosevelt w a s  

e l e c t e d  i n  1932. Now, w a i t  a minute. Roosevelt  was e l e c t e d  i n  1932. 

Be w s  imugstrated in march of 14133, In those  days, inaugura t ion  day was 

&xch 4 ,  O n  Iiis inaugura t ion  day, he  publ ished the e d i c t  which c losed  a l l  

t k  hanks-the moratorium, H e  c losed  every bank i n  the country,  j u s t  

closed them down on thevary day he took the oa th  of o f f i c e .  Now then ,  t o  

look back on it, I b e l i e v e  t h e  Ridgely Bank had already closed.  I can't 

be-certain. I believe i t  had. But you got  t o  remember, a t  t h a t  t ime 

s p r i n g f i e l d  only had . . . le t ' s  s e e ,  %hat: d i d  i t  have? It had t h e  I l l i n o i s  

Nat ional ,  it had t h e  First Nat iona l ,  i t  had t h e  Ridgely Bank, and it had 

t h e  Marine, and t h a t ' s  a l l .  And i t  a l s o  had a r a t h e r  ques- 



t i o n a b l e  bank here ,  i n  t h a t  t h e  F i r s t  Nat ional  was r e a l l y  two banks. 

This is  n o t  known t o  many people,  bu t  t h e  F i r s t  Nat ional  operated as t h e  

F i r s t  Nat ional  and a l s o  as t h e  S t a t e  T rus t  and Savings Bank. And I never 

d i d  understand t h a t  one. I know t h a t  they  weren't  allowed t o  reopen 

u n t i l  they changed it. ( l augh te r )  

Q. Do you know anybody t h a t  l o s t  t h e i r  l f f e  sav ings  i n  t h e  Ridgely 

Bank? 

A. Yes, I did.  Yes, t h e r e  was a lady ac ros s  t h e  s t r e e t  who had worked 

a t  t h e  watch f a c t o r y  which was i n  i t s  death s t r u g g l e  a t  the time. But 

s h e  had worked t h e r e  probably f o r t y ,  o r  maybe longer ,  years .  And at 

t h a t  time t h e r e  was no unemployment compensation, and t h e r e  was c e r t a i n l y  

no s o c i a l  s e c u r i t y .  And she  got  l a i d  o f f  a t  t h e  watch company, and 

dur ing  t h a t  week o r  perhaps even t h e  next  day, t h e  Ridgely Bank c losed  

i t s  doors and s h e  d i d  away wi th  herself--committed su i c ide .  And t h e r e  

were a number of s i m i l a r  cases ,  no t  t r i g g e r e d  by exac t ly  t h e  same t h i n g ,  

bu t  t h e r e  were a number of o l d  people who had saved t h e i r  money and who 

thought they  had made some reasonable provis ion  for t h e i r  o l d  age,  and 

found all of a sudden t h a t  t h e  bank o r  t h e  bu i ld ing  and loan  o r  which- 

eve r  they  had t r u s t e d ,  t h a t  t h e i r  sav ings  were gone and they  had no 

p l ace  t o  go. 

It 's kind of funny t o  t a l k  about t h a t  now, but  you see ,  t h e r e  was no 

such t h i n g  a s  ADC G i d  t o  Dependent c h i l d r e g ,  t h e r e  was no such t h i n g  

a s  s o c i a l  s e c u r i t y ,  t h e r e  was no such t h i n g  as unemployment compensation. 

What t h e r e  was cons i s t ed  of only one word; t h e r e  w a s  cha r i t y .  Churches 



had c h a r i t y ,  some c i v i c  organiza t ions  had c h a r i t y ,  some p o l i t i c i a n s  had 

c h a r i t y .  A 1  Capone had soup k i t chens  t h a t  h e  personal ly  f inanced i n  

Chicago f o r  d e s t i t u t e  persons who wanted a bowl of soup. Otherwise, if 

you d i d n ' t  have anything,  you d id  without.  It's hard t o  exp la in  t h a t  

now, because one of t h e  b igges t  conversa t iona l  t o p i c s  of t h e  cu r r en t  

scene i s  t h e  c o s t  of we l f a re  and t h e  c o s t  of t ak ing  ca re  of var ious  

m i n o r i t i e s  of one kind o r  another .  By m i n o r i t i e s ,  I don ' t  mean r a c i a l  

o r  otherwise,  bu t  I mean underprivi ledged o r  hardship  cases  such as t h e  

lame, t h e  b l i n d  o r  t h e  inep t .  

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. W e  were t a l k i n g  about t h e  Depression, bu t  I no t i ced  t h e r e  a r e  a 

couple of p l a c e s  we d i d n ' t  h i t  during t h e  1920's. One of t h e s e  I ' m  a 

l i t t l e  i n t e r e s t e d  about.  I know you were r a t h e r  young, b u t  do you re-  

member anything about t h e  scandals  under t h e  Warren G. Harding regime? 

A. I don ' t  remember anything,  r e a l l y ,  f i r s t  hand. I w e l l  remember when 

P res iden t  Harding d ied ,  and w e l l ,  t h e  pub l i c  r e a c t i o n  t o  i t ,  which was 

one of shock and s u r p r i s e .  But i t  wasn't u n t i l  s e v e r a l  yea r s  l a t e r  t h a t  

any information o r  even thought reached me t h a t  t h e r e  was anything o t h e r  

than  a p e r f e c t l y  n a t u r a l  explana t ion  t o  t h a t .  I n  my family,  and i n  t h e  

people t h a t  I knew, i t  was simply a r e g r e t t a b l e  l o s s  of a man who d ied  

unexpectedly, and no thought of c r i t i c i s m  t h a t  I eve r  heard of f o r  a . 

number of yea r s  a f t e r  that. I r e c a l l  I w a s  spending a summer wi th  a 

r e l a t i v e  i n  the  country a t  t h e  time. They l i v e d  q u i t e  a way from t h e  road 

where t h e  mailbox was, and a f t e r  t h e  normal time f o r  m a i l  de l ive ry ,  my 

aunt  asked t o  m e  go g e t  t h e  m a i l ,  which I d i d ,  And I could read ,  and i n  

t h e  paper was word t h a t  P re s iden t  Harding had d ied  and everybody 



seemed very saddened by it .  So I remember t h e  day q u i t e  well. 

Q. During t h e  ea r ly  1920's t h e r e  was what was ca l l ed  t h e  Red Scare i n  

t h e  h i s t o r y  books. It was led  by Mitchell  Palmer and some of t h e  fellows. 

They were f e r r e t t i n g  out comunism thoughout t h e  world, or  throughout 

t h e  United Sta tes .  They were t ry ing  t o  make s u r e  t h a t  t h e  Bolsheviks 

d idn ' t  take  over i n  t h e  United Sta tes .  Did you have any ink l ing  t h a t  

t h i s  was going on, o r  did you know anyone t h a t  was ac tua l ly  kicked out 

of t h e  country? 

A. No, t h e  answer t o  t h a t  i s  no. When t h i s  was going on, I had no in- 

k l ing  of it. I don't r e c a l l  hearing anybody discuss  i t  and I don' t  re- 

c a l l  ever reading about i t  o r  having any Information on t h a t  a t  a l l .  A 

good many years  l a t e r ,  an a t torney f r i end  of mine who w a s  then a s  old 

man, discussed t h i s  f e a t u r e  with me,  and a t  t h a t  time s a i d  t h a t  t h e  A. 

Mitchell  Palmer t a c t i c s  i n  handling t h i s  so-called Red Scare were t h e  

most e f f e c t i v e  t h a t  could be used, i n  t h a t  they did  not charge them with 

a s p e c i f i c  v i o l a t i o n  of law, but r a t h e r  charged them with a conspiracy, 

which, according t o  him, was t h e  e a s i e s t  t h ing  t o  prove. 

Q. Then, i n  1928 . . . ( tape shut off  f o r  a minute and then turned back 

on) agains t  Herbert Hoover, and of course, t h e  h i s t o r y  books a r e  f u l l  

of t h e  anti-Catholic propaganda and so f o r t h  which existed.  You, being 

a Catholic, were you ever subjected t o  anything l i k e  t h i s ?  

A. Well, I was subjected t o  i t  i n  t h a t  you knew what was going on. 

There was  a whispering campaign. It was never t h a t  anyone would say t o  

you, r i g h t  t o  your face,  o r  t o  anyone c lose  t o  you t h a t  was a l s o  a Cath- 



o l i c ,  t h a t  t h i s  was not advisable. But t h e r e  was a l i t t l e  crude humor, 

f o r  example, about i t .  One of them was t h a t  a f t e r  t h e  e lec t ion ,  A l  Smith 

would send a one-word telegram t o  the  Pope: "~npack." And the re  were 

severa l  others,  because while h i s  p r inc ipa l  deficiency a s  a candidate 

was h i s  r e l ig ion ,  a l s o  h i s  stand on t h e  prohibi t ion  i s sue  was of great  

importance t o  many people. And while probably, emotionally, r e l i g i o n  

f igures  more prominently than other  things, h i s  d i r e c t  and h i s  une- 

quivocable stand on prohibition--in o ther  words, he was agains t  it-- 

a l s o  was a great  object ion t o  A1 Smith. 

I remember hearing him make a speech one time. It was, indeed, a f t e r  

he l o s t  t h e  e lec t ion  and t h e r e  was a convention t o  be held of people 

who were i n  favor of repealing t h e  Eighteenth Amendment. And he said-- 

t h i s  was on t h e  radio  which was comparatively new--"It's not  s u f f i c i e n t  

f o r  you t o  vo te  d ry  i n  November and then t o  hold p ro tes t  meetings i n  

January saying t h a t  you're wet. I f  you're i n  favor of repealing t h e  

prohibi t ion  amendment, you have t o  vote it i n  November. Don't hold a 

p r o t e s t  meeting i n  January; t h a t  won't ,he lp  you. 1 I 

Q. Le t ' s  go back t o  t h e  Depression now. I n  1932, l a t e  1932 o r  1933, 

t h e  Ridgely Bank i n  Springfield closed. Did you know anyone who had 

money i n  t h i s  bank t h a t  l o s t  money? 

A. Well, yes, of course I did. I knew a g rea t  many people who had 

money on deposit .  My sister-in-law, Olive Fisher--my wife ' s  s i s ter - -  

had some money on deposit  t h e r e  and she l o s t  a por t ion  of it. How much 

she had on deposit  and how much she regained, I do not know, but I 

be l$eve  she got paid c l o s e  t o  80 per  cent of it. Probably she d i d n l t  



have more than  a hundred o r  two hundred d o l l a r s  a t  t h e  most, bu t  she  

had a l i t t l e  money i n  it. And I knew o t h e r s  who a l s o  had some. They 

perhaps d i d n ' t  s ay  exac t ly  how much, bu t  they  had money. 

A t  t h a t  t i m e  I w a s  working i n  an o f f i c e  t h a t  was i n  t h e  Ridgely-Farmer's 

Bank bu i ld ing ,  and a l l  of u s  cashed our checks t h e r e  and many of u s  had 

some money i n  savings accounts  t h e r e .  I n  those  days, checking accounts  

were no t  s o  prominent, w e  d i d n ' t  have t h a t  kind of funds. But I knew a 

l o t  of people t h a t  d id  have some money i n  t h e  Ridgely Bank. I was ac- 

qua in ted ,  i n  a s o r t  of d i s t a n t  way, b u t  I knew who t h e  p re s iden t  of t h e  

bank was and I knew who t h e  c a s h i e r  w a s  and t h i s  t h a t  and t h e  o t h e r ,  and 

I r e c a l l  f u l l  w e l l  t h a t  . . . I b e l i e v e  t h e  p re s iden t  of t h e  bank was 

George Keyes, and a f t e r  t h e  bank was l i q u i d a t e d  and put  i n t o  r ece ive r sh ip ,  

he then  went t o  Havana, I l l i n o i s  where he  became t h e  p re s iden t  of a bank 

t h e r e  and remained i n  t h e  banking bus iness  f o r  30, 35 yea r s  a f t e r  t h a t .  

Q. During t h e  Depression, of course,  t h ings  were very bad f o r  people.  

Most people d i d n ' t  have much. But t h e  ones who had jobs--you, yourse l f  

had a job during t h e  Depression--could you l i v e  w e l l  during t h e  Depression? 

A. Well, you l i v e d  w e l l  i n  t h i s  way: c r e d i t  was a v a i l a b l e  i f  you had a 

s teady  job, l i k e  wi th  t h e  S t a t e ,  o r  w i th  t h e  u t i l i t y  l i k e  t h e  I l l i n o i s  

B e l l ,  o r  w i t h  t h e  r a i l r o a d  o r  w i th  insurance  companies. A t  t h e  same 

t i m e ,  your earn ings  were no t  g r e a t ,  s o  I would say  t h a t  you l i v e d  b e t t e r  

than  those  who were a t  t h e  mercy of t h e  economic f o r c e s  and were working 

either temporari ly  o r  on s h o r t  hours  o r  n o t  a t  a l l  and were depending 

upon t h e  va r ious  r e l i e f  agencies .  You d i d n ' t  r e a l l y  l i v e  r i c h l y ,  bu t  you 

could su rv ive  wi th  a c e r t a i n  amount of s a t i s f a c t i o n  by t h e  very circumstance 



t h a t  you were not  dependent upon a publ ic  agency. 

Q. How d i d  the  p r i c e s  and wages compare t o  each o ther?  Could you give 

an example of anything you bought? 

A. There was r e a l l y  no g rea t  break i n  p r i c e s ,  although t o  look back 

a t  them and compare them with p r i ces  now it  might seem so,  but  p r i c e s  

w e r e  j u s t  not  r e a l l y  increasing.  You could about depend t h a t  i f  you 

bought a ga l lon  of pa in t  t h i s  month, next month it would be the  same 

p r i ce .  The p r i c e  of shoes--there were chain s t o r e s ,  f o r  example, t h a t  

adver t i sed  nationwide, "Our shoes a r e  $3,50 per  pair1'--this kind of thing.  

Now then, i n  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h e  average wage, t h a t  was not  exhorbitant ,  but  

i t  was j u s t  normal o r  usual.  There was not  what I would c a l l  d i s t r e s s  

p r i c ing ,  l i k e ,  "Please come take  t h i s  of f  our hands." There might have 

been such, but  t h e  merchants c a r e f u l l y  avoided t h e  f l avor  o r  t h e  thought 

t h a t ,  "we've got  t o  se l l  t h i s  a t  any cost." There was a s t a b i l i t y  t o  

p r i c e s  t h a t  might be just a l i t t l e  su rp r i s ing  when you look back a t  t h e  

economic f i g u r e s  on what was going on. 

Q. Of course, i n  1932 Franklin Roosevelt was e lec ted  and he promised 

everyone a new dea l ,  and he immediately began pu t t ing  everybody t o  work. 

How e f f e c t i v e  were these  government jobs? 

A. Well, I suppose i t ' s  an opinioned matter .  In  my opinion, they were 

very,  very e f fec t ive .  To s t a r t  with, they res tored  some confidence, i n  

t h a t  people thought t h a t ,  "Well, no matter  how bad i t  is ,  no matter  how 

sca rce  t h e  employment is, the re  a r e  agencies on which we can r e l y  f o r  

t h e  ba re  necess i t ies ."  No one t h a t  I knew of thought f o r  a minute of 



t h e s e  agencies  a s  anything except a temporary stopgap t o  supply them 

wi th  t h e  n e c e s s i t i e s ,  t o  s e e  t o  it t h a t  t h e  l i g h t s  were no t  tu rned  o f f  

t o  wear, un le s s  they could make a b i g  case  of i t ,  because no one t h a t  I 

knew of t r i e d  t o  e x p l o i t  t h i s .  But I d i d  know of a l o t  of people who 

were s k i l l e d  tradesmen who couldn ' t  f i n d  any work a t  t h e i r  t r a d e  a t  a l l .  

They'd spen t  a l i f e t i m e .  

I knew one man t h a t  had been a blacksmith i n  a c o a l  mine f o r  many years-- 

bu t  he  was a s k i l l e d  blacksmith--and he  couldn ' t  f fnd  any work a t  a l l  

f o r  years .  A s  a r e s u l t ,  he had t o  t a k e  two daughters  ou t  of high school.  

He j u s t  couldn ' t  a f f o r d  t o  keep them i n  the re .  I was c l o s e  t o  t h i s  fam- 

i l y ,  and I thought t h a t  i t  was a very  r e g r e t t a b l e  t h ing .  I s t t l l  do, a s  

a ma t t e r  of f a c t .  

Q. Were people a c t u a l l y  thrown out  of t h e i r  homes f o r  non-payment of 

r e n t ?  

A. Almost never.  I don ' t  know of a case ,  r e a l l y ,  where t h a t  happened. 

I t h i n k  some were, perhaps, i n s p i r e d  t o  move--double up wi th  r e l a t i v e s ,  

o r  go elsewhere. I j u s t  don ' t  t h i n k  t h e  average American wanted t o  occupy 

t h e  proper ty  of somebody e l s e  when he wasn't  e n t i t l e d  t o  o r  d i d n ' t  have 

t h e  permission t o .  And when he couldn ' t  meet t h e  r e n t  o r  t h e  o t h e r  

charges,  h e  would f i n d  some w a y o f  doubling up wi th  h i s  family o r  some 

f r i e n d s ,  o r  making some type  of arrangement. There were some disposses-  

s i o n s  where f u r n i t u r e  w a s  a c t u a l l y  s e t  out  on t h e  s t r e e t  i n  f o u l  weather,  

bu t  t h e s e  cases ,  I th ink ,  were really the kind t h a t  we would see even 

today, where people were perhaps not  w e l l  ad jus t ed ,  no t  proper ly  ad jus t ed  



t o  soc ie ty  of today and might not recognize t h e  f a c t  t h a t  they a r e  i n  

r e a l  p e r i l .  

Q. What about t h e  banks making loans? O f  course, everyone knows t h e  

s t o r y  t h a t  banks l e n t  money too  f r e e l y  and a l l  t h i s .  They made loans,  

I understand, but  they d i d n ' t  make a long-term mortgage loan l i k e  they 

do today. They were short-term and you had t o  ref inance  every couple of 

years .  

A. Yes. The whole philosophy of banking a t  t h a t  t ime, T th ink ,  was a 

good dea l  d i f f e r e n t  than what w e  have now. For example, w e  have what w e  

c a l l  consumer type loans. In  those days, banks would not engage i n  t h a t  

type of t ransact ion .  By t h a t  I mean these  so-called borrow-till-payday, 

o r  finance-a-car, o r  finance-the-purchase-of-a-major-appliance, o r  some- 

th ing  l i k e  that--these a r e  t h e  type of loans with a monthly i n t e r e s t  r a t e  

of 2% per  cent  t o  perhaps 3 per  cent a month on an amount of four hundred 

d o l l a r s  o r  l eas .  In those days, t h e  banks, a c t u a l l y ,  did not engage i n  

t h a t  type of th ing a t  a l l .  Another th ing,  f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  t h e  banks 

w e r e  not  r e a l l y  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  r e a l  e s t a t e  loans a s  f a r  a s  homes were con- 

cerned. Now they might have been G n t e r e s t e a  f o r  i n d u s t r i a l  p roper t i e s  

o r  for farm proper t i e s  o r  something l i k e  t h a t ,  but  not  for h o m e ~ ~ t h e y  

were not.  Now t h i s  has changed, because almost a l l  banks now loan f o r  

c a r  purchases and they loan f o r  o ther  things--these so-called consumer 

type loans. And while t h e  i n t e r e s t  r a t e  is  i n f l a t e d  over t h e  old-l ine 

6 per  cent pe r  annum r a t e ,  i t ' s  nothing l i k e  some of these  na t iona l ly  

known agencies t h a t  s p e c i a l i z e  i n  t h i s  type of thing.  I don't  r e c a l l  

t h e  o the r  ha l f  of the  quest ion the re ,  except t h a t  t h e  banks gradually 



changed t h e i r  emphasis, o r  r a t h e r  acknowledged t h a t  t h e r e  was a p l ace  

and a market f o r  loans  on an i n d i v i d u a l  basis--a personal  b a s i s  r a t h e r  

t han  a bus iness  bas i s .  

Q. So where d i d  people go t o  ge t  a loan? Suppose they  wanted t o  buy 

a new ca r ,  where would they  ge t  t h e i r  loan? 

A. There w a s  two ways about it. The d e a l e r  f inanced i t ,  o r  he had a 

t ie-up wi th  what I would ca l l ,  t o  be  p o l i t e ,  a smal l  loan  agency that:  

spec i a l i zed  i n  t h i s  t ype  of th ing .  And he would r e f e r  you t o  t h a t ,  

where you d id  pay t h i s  2% pe r  cen t  o r  3 pe r  cen t  pe r  month i n t e r e s t .  

And most c a r s  were bought on a t i m e  payment basis. But t h e r e  w a s  a 

g r e a t  breakthrough on t h e  p a r t  of s e v e r a l  n a t i o n a l l y  known lending  in- 

s t i t u t i o n s  then  i n  t h e  f inanc ing  of c a r s ,  bu t  I can remember when t h i s  
. , 

w a s  regarded as a very  t r i c k y ,  and a very  chancy type  of loan. It w a s  

no t  common a t  a l l .  If  you wanted t h e  money, you went and pa id  an  exor- 

b i t a n t  i n t e r e s t  r a t e  t o  ge t  t h e  car .  

Q- How e f f e c t i v e  was t h e  Government program, t h e  HOLC--the Homeowners 

Loan Corporation? 

A. Well, it was, I would say ,  probably 90 p e r  cent  e f f e c t i v e  f o r  t h e  

very  reason it was forced  i n t o  it. It 's almost t o  t h e  e f f e c t  of saying ,  

11 How e f f e c t i v e  is  a b r idge  t o  g e t  from one s i d e  of a r i v e r  t o  t h e  o ther?"  

Because you s e e ,  i t  w a s  e i t h e r  a v a i l  yourse l f  of t h i s  agency o r  l o s e  
- 
dwell ing p lace .  And f o r  t h e  l ende r ,  it w a s  e i t h e r  a v a i l  yourse l f  of 

this agency o r  l o s e  your loan.  So i t  was q u i t e  e f f e c t i v e ,  r e a l l y .  And 

you see ,  i t  d i d n ' t  s o l i c i t  bus iness  o r  anything.  It was simply t h e r e  a s  

a haven f o r  those  who were forced  i n t o  a s i t u a t i o n  t h a t  they  couldn ' t  



otherwise handle. But it was very e f f e c t i v e  a s  far a s  i t  went. 

Q. I ' v e  heard s t o r i e s  t h a t  i n  Springfield t h e r e  were c e r t a i n  r e a l  

e s t a t e  men who made a for tune  during t h i s  period of time by s e l l i n g  

houses t& people and then booting them out .  Maybe i t  was j u s t  the  

miners and s o  f o r t h ,  but how common was t h i s ?  Do you know anybody who 

ac tua l ly  did l o s e  t h e i r  house because t h e  mine was l a i d  off  f o r  s i x  

months and they d idn ' t  make a payment? 

A. I do not  know of a s i n g l e  individual  ins tance  where t h i s  happened. 

I do know t h a t  t h e r e  were a number of prominent r e a l  e s t a t e  men who 

were s a i d  t o  have made a great  d e a l  of money by r e s e l l i n g  t h e  same house 

t h e  a f t e r  t i m e  a f t e r  time, and repossessing it. But i t ' s  a curious 

th ing about Springfield t o  t h i s  extent ,  t h a t  t h i s  was never repeated 

with any animostty, but  r a t h e r  a s  s o r t  of an object ive  repor t  a s  t o  how 

tough times w e r e .  

These men--and some of them a r e  s t i l l  active--were reported t o  have 

probably charged more than the  normal market i n  t h e  f i r s t  place i n  order 

t o  l e t  these  people g e t  i n t o  t h e  houses. And then when t h e  time came 

when t h e  people could not keep up t h e i r  payments, E h e s e  me$ went 

perhaps a l i t t l e  f u r t h e r  than some more conservative lending agencies 

would, and y e t ,  a s  a r e s u l t ,  people would see t h a t  t h i s  was beyond t h e i r  

means and beyond t h e i r  scope and surrendered, and t h e  house would be 

sold again and again repossessed. But t h e r e  were never, ever any repor t s  

t h a t  they cap i t a l i zed  on t h i s ,  but r a t h e r  t h a t  they understood the  prac- 

t i c a l i t i e s  of t h e  market a t  t h e  time and simply used it. 



Q. You s a i d  your f a t h e r  was a farmer f o r  years .  Now d i d  t h e  farmers 

su rv ive  dur ing  the Depression? 

A. This  is a very,  v e r y > i n t e r e s t i n g  th ing .  After t h e  s t o c k  market: 

c r a sh  i n  1929, and dur ing  1930 and 1931, t h e r e  w a s  a gradual  bu t  con- 

t inuous  d e c l i n e  i n  t h e  p r i c e  of farm commodities. Now a very  heavy 

percentage of t h e  farm land i n  t h e  b e t t e r  farm s t a t e s ,  such a s  I l l i n o i s ,  

Iowa and Ohio and Indiana,  had been purchased by small farm ope ra to r s  

w i th  heavy loans ,  and t h e s e  were f inanced t o  a very  l a r g e  e x t e n t  by 

your l a r g e r  insurance  companies--Metropolitan L i f e ,  P u r d e n t i a l  Life-- 

and o t h e r  r i c h  f i n a n c i a l  i n t e r e s t s .  

Q. You mean they  went t o  t h e  insurance  companies t o  ge t  a loan  f o r  a 

farm? 

A. Yes, they did. Most of t h e s e  insurance  companies had loan  agencies  

and loan  o f f i c e s  l oca t ed  a l l  throughtout  t h e  farm b e l t ,  and money t o  

f i nance  t h e  purchase of farms w a s  very  e a s i l y  ava i l ab l e .  But you've 

go t  t o  remember, t o  do t h i s ,  f i r s t  you had t o  have a farm of your own 

so  you pledged it t o  buy another  farm, and then  you pledged your i n t e r e s t  

i n  both of t h e s e  t o  buy another  farm. And i n  Iowa and I l l i n o i s ,  espe- 

c i a l l y ,  as a r e s u l t ,  t h e  farm t h a t  you once owned w a s  now t h e  c o l l a t e r a l  

f o r  l oans  on o t h e r  farms, s o  t h a t  when you de fau l t ed  o r  when t h e  income 

of t h e s e  farms could not  poss ib ly  pay much l e s s  t h e  payments, bu t  a l s o  

t h e  interest, t h e  whole t h i n g  had t o  be forec losed .  It was forec losed .  

The homestead was a l s o  up f o r  s a l e ,  t h a t ' s  what I'm t r y i n g  t o  say. Now 

then ,  t h e  bottom dropped out  of t h e  market f o r  farm commodities i n  1930 

and 1931, and a t  one t i m e ,  corn a c t u a l l y  reached the  p r i c e  of t e n  cen t s  
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per bushel. And when corn reached t h e  p r i c e  of t e n  cents  per  bushel, 

it was cheaper f o r  a farmer t o  burn i n  h i s  s tove  o r  h i s  furnace corn, 

than it was t o  buy coal  t o  heat  h i s  house. 

I Q. Do you know of anybody t h a t  d id  t h i s ?  

I A. Not ac tua l ly ,  but by report  I do. I don't  know of anybody t h a t  d id ,  

but  I do know t h i s :  t h e  insurance companies and other  f i n a n c i a l  i n s t i -  

tutions--banks, insurance companies and others--then began, because t h e  

i n t e r e s t  was not being paid e i t h e r  . . . Most of them, i f  you paid t h e  

i n t e r e s t  would be happy. But t h e  i n t e r e s t  was not being paid e i t h e r ,  

and by the  way, when corn reached t e n  cents  a bushel,  t h e  p r i c e  per 

pound of hogs o r  c a t t l e  was a l s o  very low, you see. It was almost nothing. 

But a t  any r a t e ,  then they s t a r t e d  t h e  foreclosure  sa les .  And t h e  fore- 

c losure  s a l e s  were held i n ,  f o r  t h e  most p a r t  t h a t  I remember, i n  Iowa 

and i n  South Dakota. And t h i s  r e su l t ed  i n  something t h a t  very c lose ly  

resembleda revolution,  because the farmers of these  areas we- . . . they 
i 

I would a t tend a s a l e  because t h i s  would be an auction s a l e  under t h e  

j u r i s d i c t i o n , o f  the  cour t ,  t h e  bankrupt court .  

So the farmers would get  together and t h e  word would go out t h a t  no 

one would bid  more than X p r i c e  per  ac re  f o r  t h i s  farm--X p r i c e  being 

something l i k e  sometimes a s  low as f i f t y  cents--and i f  anybody had t h e  

courage t o  b id  more than t h a t ,  he r i sked h i s  personal safe ty .  So a man 

might owe, t echn ica l ly ,  l e t ' s  say twenty thousand d o l l a r s ,  and the  forced 

s a l e  would come up f i v e  hundred do l l a r s .  And someone would su r rep t i -  

t i o u s l y  furnish  t h a t  t o  t h e  successful  bidder who would then deed it  back 

I 
t o  t h e  farmer. And while a t  t h e  moment t h i s  might sound far fe tched,  

ac tua l ly  the re  w e r e  some ins tances  of violence where people did go higher 

* 



than this and did not obey this local edict, and there were instances 

where courts threatened to call out the local guard and other law en- 

forcement agencies to protect the freedom of the bidder to bid something 

more closely representing the true value of the thing. 

The only name that I can remember of a national scale on that--there 

was a man by the name of Milo Reno. I really don't recall ever hearing 

that name since these sales, but he had a lot to say about it in those 

days. But another one that had a very great deal to say about this 

type of thing and who was unequivocally opposed to auctioning off the 

farms of these delinquent farmers, was Governor Langer of North Dakota. 

Langer later became senator and he served two and perhaps three terms 

in the Senate, and he had the nickname of Wild Bill Langer. And he was 

most outspoken about the injustice--what to him certainly was the in- 

justice--of this way of treating the American farmer under these con- 

ditions. And after he got into the Senate he also had some unorthodox 

ideas in other areas that I can't recall at the monent. (laughter) 

Q. Did you know 

the WPA? 
1 

A. Oh, yes! Do 

anybody personally who actuazly worked for the PWA or 

you want relatives or other people? 

Q. There were many, then? 

'public Works Administration and Works Progress Administration. 



A. There really were, on both sides. My cousin, John Williamson, was 

a face boss and later a mine superintendent for the United Mine Workers, 

both in the Capitol Coal Mine and the Peerless Mine, and then in one of 

the mines down near Taylorville. My uncle, my mother's brother, Uncle 

Jake Williamson, he was a mine superintendent for many years at the 

Sangamon Mine No. 2, which was owned by a local financier, at that time 

associated with the Marine Bank, by the name of Jay Wilcoxen. And this 

same uncle wa8 the superintendent of a couple of mines in Harlan, Ken- 

tucky, which is sometimes known as Bloody Harlan. And I've got, oh, I'd 

have to stop and count it up, but I wouldn't have any difficulty count- 

ing up two dozen relatives on one side or the other. By relatives I mean 

cousins or uncles. 

Q. My question was did you know anybody who worked for the Government 

organizations, the WPA or the PWA? Not the Progressives but . . . 

A. Oh, I thought you meant the mine workers. 

Q. No, we'll get to that: in a few minutes. 

A. Oh, that's funny. 

Q. Well, since we started this, let's talk about the Progressive Mine 

Workers. The Progressives, of course, were the splinter group of the 

United Mine Workers. 

A. Exactly. That's what they were. 

Q. Springfield, of course, if it wasn't a center, it was right in the 

thick of things--the violence and so forth. 



A.   hat's very  t r u e ,  i t  w a s .  

Q. Can you c & t e  some in s t ances  of t h ings  t h a t  occurred i n  Sp r ing f i e ld  

t h a t  shows t h e  brouble? 

A. W e l l ,  i n  s o r t  of a mild way. I remember, oh, gosh, i t  must have 

been i n  about 1929 o r  1930, t h e  miners had a mass meeting. It was on 

South S ix th  S t r e e t .  It w a s  r i g h t  down by t h e  Elks Club, and I ' m  no t  s u r e  

whether o r  no t  t h a t  was t h e  t e c h n i c a l  s i t e  of t h e  meeting o r  whether 

t hey  he ld  i t  a t  t h e  KC m i g h t $  of ~ o l u m b u g  Elub, bu t  it 'was a mass 

meeting of miners who had a l o t  of problems they  wanted t o  t a l k  about,  

and i t  had t o  do wi th  accept ing  a c o n t r a c t  a t  a reduced wage. The s t r e e t  

w a s  crowded and it w a s  . . . t h e  f e e l i n g  ran p r e t t y  high. John L. Lewis 

undertook t o  exp la in  h i s  p o l i c i e s  and pac i fy  t h e  meeting, and he w a s  very  

unsuccessful  and i t  looked l i k e  h i s  personal  s a f e t y  was i n  jeopardy and 

h e  took re fuge  i n  t h e  Leland Hotel. The Leland Hotel  was surrounded by 

t h i s  mass of miners and t h e i r  f r i e n d s  who were demanding t o  s e e  him 

aga in  and wanted t o  know what had happened. And it was s a i d  t h a t  he  got  

himself ushered out  of t h e  Leland Hotel i n  a laundry basket .  I c a n ' t  

guarantee t h a t .  But as I remember now, a t  t h a t  t ime, and on t h a t  very  

day, a very  well-known and highly regarded p o l i c e  o f f i c e r  by t h e  name 

of P o r t e r  W i l l i a m s  was k i l l e d .  They worked a s  a team--Porter Williams 

and a man by t h e  name of Jesberg.  They w e r e  Sp r ing f i e ld  p o l i c e  o f f i c e r s .  

Q. How do you s p e l l  Jesberg? 

A. J-E-S-B-E-R-C. And i t ' s  been a long whi le  ago and I just: c an ' t  

r e c a l l  all of t h e  d e t a i l s ,  bu t  t h e r e  w a s  some v io l ence  and t h e r e  was 



some shooting, and a s  I remember i t ,  Porter  Williams was k i l l e d .  Jesberg, 

of course, survived. I know t h i s :  it was a shock t o  the  community, and 

t h e  Springfield Pol ice  Department began a p r a c t i c e  then, which s t i l l  

endures, of making an award f o r  meritorious pol ice  se rv ice  which is  ca l l ed  

t h e  Por ter  Williams Award. I t 's  based on t h a t  p a r t i c u l a r  inc ident .  

Q. Was he k i l l e d  by t h e  miners? 

A. Nobody seems t o  know. They were a l l  miners, but which fac t ion?  

Nobody seems t o  know. See, t h i s  kind of t i e s  i n  with the  l a t e r  Easter  

Sunday th ing t h a t  1 once mentioned, I th ink,  t h a t  happened on the  day 

t h a t  my oldes t  son was born, which was Apri l  21, 1935, where t h e  Pro- 

press ive  Miners were holding a meeting of t h e i r  own on t h e  northwest 

corner of Sixth and Washington s t r e e t s .  And the re ,  too,  the  h a l l  was 

crowded and couldn' t  accomodate a l l  the  people, and the re  was a g rea t  

crowd down the re  on Sixth S t r e e t  and on Washington S t ree t .  And t h i s  

man named Ed Mabie and a man named Arthur Gramlich exited from addressing 

t h i s  meeting i n  behalf of t h e  Progressive Miners. There was a ca r  t h a t  

pulled up i n  front--a Graham-Paige, which is  a little-known make of car-- 

and the re  were so- shots  and one of these  men was f a t a l l y  woundad. 

I was just coming around the  corner a t  Sixth and Jefferson by t h e  po l i ce  

s t a t i o n  a t  t h a t  time, and I heard the  shots  but I didn ' t  know what was 

going on, and I ran up the re  and the re  w a s  a g rea t  crowd. And as I kind 

of pushed my way into t h e  crowd, I looked down and all of a sudden I 

noticed t h a t  my shoes w e r e  i n  blood--I had blood on my feet--because i n  

addi t ion  t o  these  t h a t  were k i l l e d ,  t h e r e  w e r e  a number of bystanders 

and others  t h a t  were wounded. And they took some of them across t h e  



s t r e e t  i n t o  ~ o g a n ' s  Tavern, and I went i n t o  Hogan's Tavern and t h e r e  

was one man wi th  a beard--beards were more uncommon then than  now--and 

he  was  on a s t r e t c h e r  a l r eady  and he  w a s  wa i t i ng  f o r  an ambulance t o  

t a k e  him t o  t h e  h o s p i t a l .  And t h e  next  day t h e  papers  s a i d  t h a t  t h i s  

man was an a t t o r n e y  from Pennsylvania who represented  t h e  United Mine 

Workers. And as I remember, t h e  paper s a i d  h i s  name was Joe  Tumulty. 

I wondered what an a t t o r n e y  from Pennsylvania was doing i n  Sp r ing f i e ld  

on Eas t e r  Sunday i n  1935 a t  S ix th  and Washingtonshasets ,  bu t  nobody 

seemed t o  make t h a t  inqui ry .  

Q. Did they ever  ca t ch  t h e  fe l lows?  

A. A s  f a r  as I know, t h e r e  were never any charges brought a g a i n s t  any- 

body i n  t h a t  p a r t i c u l a r  thfng. And t h e r e  were two men k i l l e d .  La te r  

they had s o r t  of a memorial s e r v i c e  and even a parade i n  Sp r ing f i e ld  i n  

r ecogn i t i on  of t h e  dea th  of t h e s e  men. 

Q. I suppose t h e  Progress ives  d i d  t h a t ?  

A. The Progress ives ,  excuse me,  yes. 

Q. What about any o t h e r  v i o l e n t  bombings and s o  f o r t h  t h a t  you've heard 

s t o r i e s  about? 

A. There were s t o r i e s ,  of course,  about bombings of t h e  r a i l r o a d  b r idges  

o r  t h e  d e s t r u c t i o n  o r  br idges ,  and even a l i t t l e  s n i p e r  f i r e  now and 

then  and t h a t  s o r t  of th ing .  And I guess on s e v e r a l  occass ions ,  i n  t h e  

county and nearby Spr ing f i e ld ,  were p i c k e t  l i n e s  s e t  up by t he  Progres- 

s i v e s  t o  s t o p  t h e  United Mine Workers from working. But they were kind 

of on thin ice, because you see, here's the ques t ion  of two d i f f e r e n t  



unions claiming ju r i sd ic t ion .  In  a l l  of my l i f e ,  I have never y e t  

heard of a mine t h a t  was operated o r  t h a t  anyone attempted t o  operate 

with nonunion labor ,  except i n  Herron where they had the  Herron Massacre. 

Q. How did Springfield reac t  t o  t h i s  violence--the k i l l i n g s  and so  f o r t h ?  

What was t h e  general opinion of t h e  people? 

A. Sort  of a boys-will-be-boys a t t i t u d e .  @heir a t t i t u d 2  was, "These 

miners a r e  t h e  lowest pa r t  of t h e  economic scale ;  they always a r e  rough 

and the re ' s  not much you can do with them. Anyway, as long a s  they con- 

f i n e  t h e i r  h o s t i l i t y  t o  each other ,  no use i n  us ge t t ing  worried about 

i t .  11 

Q. What about t h e  police? Were they duly upset about t h e  violence? 

A. I would say t h a t  t h e  po l i ce  were probably more concerned f o r  t h e i r  

own sa fe ty  than anything e l se ,  but I can understand t h a t  very w e l l .  But 

they a l s o  came from working-class famil ies ,  and i n  many cases,  you know, 

from miners' famil ies .  And I th ink they did  a very good job a t  doing 

t h e i r  duty when they had t o  do i t ,  but 1 don't  th ink  they brought any 

p a r t i c u l a r  enthusiasm t o  it. I n  o ther  words, a l l  r i g h t ,  you have t o  go 

out the re  now. The men are a r e  going t o  work a t  New North m i n d ,  and 

you've got t o  le t  them get  i n  and you got t o  l e t  them get out  sa fe ly ,  

and they d id  t h a t .  But they'd j u s t  a s  soon tha t  they were doing some- 

th ing  else. 

Q. You mentioned t o  me t h a t  A r t  Gramlich's f a t h e r  was k i l l e d ?  

A. Oh, yes. The older  Gramlich, he ran  . . . r e a l l y ,  i t  could only be 



described a s  a neighborhood tavern,  out a t  approximately Eighteenth 

and Ash streets. It was a qu ie t  place,  and one night ,  c los ing time came 

and he locked t h e  door and he turned out a l l  t h e  l i g h t s .  And apparently,  

he went t o  t h e  cash r e g i s t e r  and he took out whatever money was the re  and 

put it i n  a canvas sack. And a l l  he had was a n ight  l i g h t  burning above 

t h e  cash r e g i s t e r .  And, a s  w a s  h i s  custom--he l ived i n  a building t h a t  

was at tached t o  t h i s  tavern--he went t o  t h e  bar and he drew a beer f o r  

himself. H e  always had a g lass  of beer before he went on t o  t h e  door 

and locked up. A s  he was drinking t h a t  beer,  he was shot--through t h e  

window. The po l i ce  repor t s  say i t  was e i t h e r  a .36 or  a .30-30. There 

were never any a r r e s t s .  

Q. Was t h i s  a l s o  involved with t h e  mine business, too? 

A. Well, w e  thought so,because of t h e  name, you see,  and t h e  family. 

Incidenta l ly ,  t h i s  family i s  still r a t h e r  prominent and a c t i v e  i n  Spring- 
" 

f i e l d .  But the re  he was. H e  was a l l  alone and t h e  place was.closed.' 

He had taken t h e  cash out ,  and he went and drew a beer and was standing 

t h e r e  drinking it,  and bang! Somebody took him with a gun. 

Q. Did you have any reco l l ec t ions  about t h e  b i g  march t h e  Progressives 

made on southern I l l i n o i s ?  

A. Sure do. Yes, I can' t  place t h e  exact year,  but t h e  Progressive 

Miners decided that s ince  t h e  United Mine Workers were s o r t  of i n  t h e  

majori ty i n  the bigger shipping mines, a s  w e  ca l l ed  them, i n  southern 

I l l i n o i s ,  t h a t  they would go down the re  and picket  them. And they or- 

ganized a mass march down the re  with t h e  view t o  p icket ing these  miners 



and t ry ing  t o  encourage them t o  discontinue working. The d i n e r s  down 

t h e r e  were, f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  o r  perhaps even 100 per cent ,  United 

Mine Workers. So when this caravan, which was s a i d  t o  amount t o  a s  many 

as 25,000 individuals ,  reached t h e  southern p a r t  of t h e  s t a t e  a t  Pinck- 

neyv i l l e  and i n  t h a t  area ,  they were m e t  by these  southern I l l i n o i s  miners 

who were armed and who were very aggressive i n  r e s i s t i n g  t h i s  march. 

And t h i s  was ca l led  t h e  B a t t l e  of Pinckneyville o r  t h e  B a t t l e  of Mulkey- 

town. Now, t h i s  had t o  be i n  about 1932, somewhere i n  there--1 can ' t  

remember f o r  sure--because i t  wasn't 1928, it wasn't 1929. It might have 

been a l i t t l e  e a r l i e r  than 1932. It might have been 1930 o r  1931, but 

Ross Randolph, who was l a t e r  t h e  d i r e c t o r  of t h e  Department of Public 

Safety, and who was l a t e r  an FBI man and who was very a c t i v e  i n  t h e  l a w  

inforcement c i r c l e s ,  was e i t h e r  t h e  s h e r i f f  of t h a t  county where Pinck- 

neyv i l l e  is  located,  o r  chief deputy a t  t h a t  time. 

Q. Did they ever c a l l  out  t h e  National Guard t o  help q u e l l  some of 

t h e  violence? 

A. They o f ten  did. I r e c a l l  on one occasion where they ca l l ed  out t h e  

National Guard t o  p ro tec t  t h e  r i g h t  of miners who were going t o  work a t  

t h e  Old Jones and Adams it was ca l l ed ,  and l a t e r  ca l l ed  t h e  Peer less ,  

which is  a Peabody Mine, ac tua l ly  on what would be ca l led  t h e  o ld  bypass 

o r  Thirty F i r s t  Screet, just north of Sangamon Avenue. And most of t h e  miners 

would take t h e  s t r e e t c a r  and get  off a t  the fairground and walk t h e  mile 

and a hal f  o r  s o  t o  t h e  mine. And I r e c a l l  a t  one time, they had National 

Guard troops s ta t ionkd a t  every corner a l l  the  way out  there .  This was 

only one occasion, but they had them i n  many other occasions where they 



did. Both s ides  of t h e  miners, you've got: t o  remember, a f fec ted  a  great  

scorn of t h e  National Guard. They had many scur r i lous  terms about them, 

and they described them i n  most uncomplimentary ways. Their f a v o r i t e  

term f o r  them was "scab herders." ( laughter)  I t 's  t r u e ,  though. 

Q .  After  the  business about t h e  s t o l e n  b a l l o t  boxes and so  f o r t h  with 

John L. L e w i s ,  of course, t h e  Progressives broke away and t h e r e  was t h e  

ffght and s o  f o r t h ,  but how did t h e  United Mine Workers f e e l  about John 

L. Lewis? It seems l i k e  they c e r t a i n l y  d idn ' t  p a r t i c u l a r l y  l i k e  t h e  

business of him signing t h i s  contrac t  without t h e i r  approval. 

A. A s  a matter  of f a c t ,  they ac tua l ly  d id  seem t o  l i k e  i t .  There was a 

f e e l i n g  i n  t h e  United Mine Workers--that's t h e  John L. Lewis faction-- 

t h a t  they were pa r t  of t h e  fu tu re ,  t h a t  t h e  mines t h a t  they worked i n  

and t h e  methods t h a t  they were using were t h e  modern and t h e  coming th ing,  

s o  t h a t  they could expect more work per individual  than t h e  members of 

t h e  o ther  union. 

While it wasn't 100 per cent t r u e ,  i t  was r e a l l y  t r u e  t o  some extent  

t h a t  they were i n  t h e  so-called mechanized mines, where people were 

working by t h e  day ins tead of by t h e  ton,  and t h e  o ther  mines were t h e  

hand-loading type mines. And t h e  f a c t  of t h e  matter  is, they were r i g h t  

about f t .  Because mining, as we know it today, is  highly mechanized 

and i t ' s  highly specia l ized.  And those a r e  t h e  mines, and those  were 

t h e  b i g  producers t h a t  stayed i n  t h e  Lewis orgainizat ion.  The hand-loaded 

and the hand-operated type mines were the-ones  that  l a s t e d  a long while 

and they died a slow death, but  each day w a s  a l i t t l e  l e s s  benef ic ia l  t o  

them than t h e  day before,  even though they l a s t e d  t h i r t y  years.  They 



reached t h e i r  apex i n  about 1930, 1931 or 1932, whereas t h e  o ther  mines 

t h a t  you can see  now t h a t  a r e  operat ing i n  t h i s  s t a t e  were j u s t  a hand- 

f u l  of mines and were producing more coal  than a l l  of these  dozens of 

mines d id  before--the mechanized mines, t h e  modern mines. 

There's one th ing,  of course, t h a t  I guess you ought t o  mention, and t h a t  

is  these  mines a r e  adapted t o  t h e  modern techniques. In  o the r  words, 

t h e  coal  ve in  i s  th icker ,  t h e  coal  i t s e l f  i s  more workable and more 

accessible.  Some of t h e  old-type hand mines that you went t o ,  t h e  ve in  

i t se l f  would be from, oh, four  f e e t  s i x  inches t o  s i x  f e e t ,  which meant 

t h a t  i f  you were i n  one of the  four  f e e t  s i x  inch mines, you were work- 

ing  i n  a crouch o r  stoop posi t ion  a l l  day, and t h i s  type of mine doesn't  

adapt i t s e l f  very w e l l  t o  the  mechanization process. 

Q. Did you ever hear of Mother Jones? 

A. Oh, yes , .  . . 

Q. What did  you hear about Mother Jones? 

A. . . . yes, I have. It 's funny, though. They s t i l l  ce lebra te  Mother 

Jones' Day i n  M t .  Olive. And Mother Jones was t h e  patron s a i n t ,  r e a l l y ,  

of I l l i n o i s  coal  miners, without a f lavor  of fact ionalism, long before 

t h e r e  were Progressives and the re  were only United Mine Workers. In  f a c t ,  

long before t h e r e  was a John L. Lewis. I th ink John Mitchell  was pres- 

iden t  of t h e  miners' union when Mother Jones was most ac t ive .  I think 

Mother Jones probably became most famous o r  notorious back i n  t h e  days 

of t h e  Virden r i o t ,  when they were bringing up t o  Virden, I l l inois  non- 

union miners from t h e  Deep South. It 's ca l l ed  t h e  Virden r i o t  because 

t h a t ' s  where it happened. Apparently, a t  t h e  time of t h e  inc ident  when 

" - 1 



they brought i n  a t r a in load  of p o t e n t i a l  s t r ikebreakers ,  t h e  miners 

were l ined up on both s i d e s  of t h e  ra i l road  and they had t h e i r  guns and 

s t a r t e d  shooting, and t h e  t r a i n  never ac tua l ly  stopped but i t  kept moving 

because i t  wasn't s a f e  t o  stop. But the re  were a number of deaths. But 

I once read, a good deal  l a t e r ,  t h a t  i t  was s o r t  of an i r o n i c  thing,  

because the  M t .  Olive and t h e  Virden miners were taking tu rns  standing 

guard, and a t  t h e  t i m e  t h i s  happened i n  Virden, it was t h e  M t .  Olive miners 

t h a t  d id  t h e  shooting. But a t  any r a t e ,  Mother Jones i s  s t i l l  s o r t  af 

revered by the mining people. 

Q. What d id  t h e  Civi l  Works Administratfon do i n  Springfield? Were 

the re  ac tua l ly  jobs i n  the  C i v i l  Works Administration? 

A. Actually, the  C i v i l  Works Administration was simply a means of recogniz- 

ing  t h e  need of people who had no work and no income and pu t t ing  them 

on a payro l l  so  t h a t  they would get  a l i t t l e  income, a l i t t l e  sa la ry ,  

but then assigning them t o  any p a r t i c u l a r  minor job t h a t  d idn ' t  c a l l  f o r  

any planning o r  any investment and c a p i t a l  improvement. They were put  

t o  cleaning streets and, l i t e r a l l y ,  raking leaves and paint ing fences-- 

t h a t  s o r t  of thing. They gave them something t o  do, and they paid them 

f o r  doing it. 

Q. Was t h i s  u n t i l  they could f ind another job, o r  was i t  p r e t t y  much 

permanent? 

A. They didn ' t  promise them t o  f ind  another job, but i t  was known t h a t  

t h i s  was not  going t o  l a s t  and . . . ( tape ends abruptly)  

END OF TAPE 



Q. W e  were t a lk ing  about t h e  C i v i l  Works Administration. Did the  Works 

Progress Administration &E'g o r  t h e  Public Works Administration D w ~  
have much e f f e c t  i n  the  Springfield area?  

A. Well, yes it did. It's hard t o  measure out what it did,  but i t  took 

up t h e  s l ack  f r o m  people t h a t  couldn't f ind  work a t  t h e i r  occupation-- 

t h e i r  t r ade  or  o ther  jobs which had run out--and when they would r e g i s t e r  

f o r  employment, t h e  heads of famil ies  and others  who r e a l l y  had need of 

it were given a chance t o  make a t  l e a s t  a subsistence l e v e l  income, and 

they worked f o r  i t  which most of them wanted t o  do. So it had a very 

important place i n  t h e  economic scheme, t h e r e ' s  no question about it. 

Q. For some reason, 1've always had t rouble  determining which one was 

which. 

A. Well, I would say you'd have t o  do it this way: the WPA was--for 

work of an impermanent nature such a s  r epa i r ing  a highway or  r epa i r ing  

a bridge o r  i n s t a l l i n g  a drainage dam o r  levee o r  something of t h e  kind, 

but  PWA I would c l a s s i f y  a s  a c a p i t a l  improvement--building a l i b r a r y  

o r  building a brand new bridge or constructing a new c i v i c  building of 

some kind, o r  adding something t h a t  could be described a s  a c a p i t a l  

improvement. 1 th ink  t h a t  is t h e  bes t  way t o  get  t o  t h a t .  Not t h a t  

WPA was engaged a l together  i n  repa i r ing  th ings ,  it  did  build th ings  but 

they were not on t h e  same s c a l e  o r  r equ i re  t h e  same planning o r  the  

same financing as  t h e  PWA jobs. 

Q. How did  t h e  government operate these  PWA pro jec t s?  

A .  Well, i t ' s  my understanding t h a t  they came under t h e  o v e r a l l  direc- 



t i o n  of t h e  Secretary of t h e  I n t e r i o r ,  Harold Ickes. And t h e  Government 

supplied, I th ink I n  many cases,  perhaps a l l  of t h e  financing, and i n  

every case, t h e  majori ty of t h e  f inancing,  but l imi ted  i t s e l f  t o  the  

s e l e c t i o n  and t h e  design of them t o  the  d i r e c t i o n  of l o c a l  a u t h o r i t i e s  

who determined what they wanted and how much they wanted t o  spend and 

then submitted t h e i r  plans and requests  t o  t h e  na t iona l  a u t h o r i t i e s  f o r  

approval, who upon approval would f inance a s  much a s  was agreed upon. 

But they l e f t  t h e  d i r e c t i o n  of it  t o  t h e  l o c a l  au thor i t i e s .  

Q. Did anybody i n  your family work f o r  these  Government agencies? 

A. No. No, i t ' s  a pecul iar  th ing  about t h a t .  Nane d id .  Of course, 

my fa the r  was deceased then and i n  my own immediate family nobody did.  

I was working, of course, f o r  The B e l l  a l i n o i s  B e l l  Telephone compand, 

my s i s t e r  was working f o r  The Bell ,  my younger brother was not yet  old 

enough t o  work. So i t ' s  a pecul iar  thing. I got t o  r e f l e c t i n g  about 

t h a t ,  and from December 20 of 1928 t o  June 1 of 1950 I never missed a 

payday ( laughter)  . 

Q. What about k ids  ge t t ing  out of school? I ' m  c e r t a i n ,  of course, they 

had probably more t roub le  than anybody e l s e  f inding jobs. What did t h e  

Government do f o r  them? 

A. Well, those  t h a t  had been a s s i s t e d  during t h e i r  school career  by the  

NYA Bational  Youth ~ d m i n i s t r a t i o g  had an idea  of what they wanted t o  

do. Some of them wanted t o  be c le rks  l i k e  i n  u t i l i t y  o r  insurance com- 

panyof f i ces  o r  o ther  places.  Some had a knowledge of t h e  operation os 

o f f i c e  machines or  equipment o r  o f f i c e  prodecures anyway, s o  t h a t  they 

had an  idea  of where t o  look f o r  work and had something t o  o f f e r  t o  an 



employer. Those who did not have t h a t ,  of course, were r i g h t  on the  

job market the  same as everybody else. And a great  many of them, of 

course, took jobs t h a t  were f a r  below t h e i r  p o t e n t i a l  o r  t h e i r  a b i l i t i e s .  

I n  o ther  words, it was not a t  a l l  uncommon t o  f ind  someone with a bach- 

e l o r ' s  degree being a gasoline pump jockey i n  a f i l l i n g  s t a t i o n  or  oper- 

a t i n g  a s  a carhop a t  a hamburger stand. Matter of f a c t ,  t h a t  lasted 

wel l  i n t o  World War I1 and even beyond as a moonlight-type job where 

people w i th  bachelor 's  degrees would sometimes moonlight as carhops o r  

soda j e rks  or  th ings  l i k e  t h a t .  

Q. Was the re  any s o c i a l  stigma t o  having worked f o r  the  Government? 

A. Not f o r  the  Government d i rec t ly .  Matter of f a c t ,  i f  anything, it 

was a p res t ige  type thing,  because a t  t h a t  time t h e  government jobs 

had t h e  f r i n g e  benef i t s .  They had more f r inge  benef i t s  than anybody 

e l s e  ever had. This changed shor t ly  a f t e r  World War I1 so  t h a t  t h e  

Government employment f e l l  behind t h e  procession. But take  i n  the  1930ts,  

t h e  Government had i t s  ohm ret irement plan which was far  super ior  t o  

any government plan of any industry,  and it a l s o  had very l i b e r a l  annual 

and sick-leave p r iv i l eges  as well  as a l i t t l e  b e t t e r  supervision of 

working condit ions and environment, although t h i s  i s  not t o  say t h a t  

t h e r e  was not a lot: of room f o r  improvement, p a r t i c u l a r l y  i n  t h e  work- 

ing  condit ions and environment. ( laaghter)  

Q. I've noticed i n  whatever reading I 've  done t h a t  once the re  were 

o ther  jobs avai lable ,  people seemed t o  leave these  PWA and WPA a s  soon 

a s  they could. Were t h e  jobs t h a t  bad, or were they ashamed of them, 

o r  what was t h e  reason f o r  i t ?  



A. Well, I th ink that  it was twofold. I th ink,  f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  they 

earned more money i n  t h e  indust ry ,  t h e  jobs i n  p r i v a t e  industry.  It ' s 

t r u e  they worked more hours, but they had an opportunity t o  make more 

money. Then, too,  while perhaps i t  was not considered a d isgrace  t o  be 

on WPA o r  PWA o r  NYA o r  any of those,  it was something t h a t  you weren't 

r e a l l y  too proud of.  I th ink t h a t  you had t h e  pressure  of s o c i a l  ac- 

ceptance, but  t h e  prime condit ion,  I would say, was more money because 

by then the  wages and hours b i l l  had been passed which guaranteed you 

time and a ha l f  f o r  over f o r t y  hours. And, e spec ia l ly  during t h e  war, 

t h i s  made a very g rea t  d i f ference .  

Q. When could t h e  common man a c t u a l l y  t e l l  t h a t  th ings  were g e t t i n g  

b e t t e r ?  

A. Oh, wel l ,  I th ink  everybody could t e l l  with j u s t  a  s o r t  of f e e l i n g  

t h a t  l a t e  i n  1940 t h a t  th ings  were g e t t i n g  a l i t t l e  b e t t e r .  I n  o ther  

words, people began t o  th ink t h a t  i f  you went t o  a  private employer o r  

f ac to ry  o r  cons t ruct ion  s i te  and asked f o r  work, they'd l i s t e n  t o  you. 

They might not  h i r e  you, but  a t  l e a s t  you weren't met by a guard o r  

some discouraging s ign  l i k e  Applications accepted every New Year, every 

Leap Year Day o r  some other  crude w i t .  ( laughter)  So t h a t  a c t u a l l y  

develwped t h e r e  i n  t h e  1940's --the e a r l y  19401s, l a t e  1930's--particularly 

1940 t o  1941, somewhere i n  th~re, t h a t  you had a possible chance of being 

hired. When you'd go t o  the h i r i n g  gate they'd talk t o  you and a t  l e a s t  

look a t  your q u a l i f i c a t l a n s  and could t e l l  you what type of jobs might be 

ava i l ab le ,  t h a t  s o r t  of thing.  I th ink  t h a t  up t o  then,  for probably _ 

seven o r  eigfit years ,  t h a t  no one se r ious ly  enter ta ined a job appl ica t ion .  



Q. Was t h e r e  very much support amongst t h e  people i n  and around t h i s  

area f o r  t h e  New Deal program a s  a whole? 

A. The New Deal program as a whole, a f t e r  a l l ,  I l e f t  Spr ingf ie ld  i n  

t h e  e a r l y  p a r t  of 1937 and d idn ' t  r e a l l y  r e t u r n  u n t i l  1944, i n  January. 

But I th ink  my experience i n  Washington and Denver would be common t o  

Spr ingf ie ld .  There was always an element t h a t  c r i t i c i z e d  any government 

a c t i v i t y  f o r  various reasons. They believed i n  t h e  old cheory of every- 

body has t o  be responsib le  f o r  themselves. They d i d n ' t  want Uncle Sam 

tak ing over t h e i r  economic r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s ,  and they were q u i t e  vocal  and 

they would o f t en  c r i t i c i z e  people taking jobs i n  t h e  publ ic  a r e a  l i k e  

PWA and so  f o r t h ,  and WPA. But I th ink  on t h e  average, you'd f ind  t h a t  

t h e  grea t  majori ty of t h e  people were convinced t h a t  t h i s  was a necessary 

th ing,  and when I say t h a t ,  I don't  mean j u s t  t h e  people t h a t  were on 

these  jobs, but  r a t h e r  those  who did  have steady jobs i n  the  p r i v a t e  sec- 

t o r .  They knew t h a t  t h i s  was important becausk without i t ,  what would 

these  people do? 

And you got t o  remember t h i s ,  t h a t  even a t  the bottom of t h e  Depression, 

as hard a s  it might have been, the grea t  majori ty of the people who were 

working were not  r e a l l y  on a government payro l l  o r  a r e l i e f  o r  publ ic  

a s s i s t ance  type 05 th ing .  You know, t h e  r a i l r o a d s  s t i l l  run, the  insur-  

ance companies s t i l l  operated, t h e  telephone company s t i l l  h i red  some 

people. And while t h i s  ac ted  t o  depress t h e  b e n e f i t s  from these  jobs,  

ye t  never the less ,  t h e  jobs s t i l l  exis ted ,  see. Now, some companies 

resor ted  t o  reducing work r a t e s  and deductions from pay r a t h e r  than lay- 

ing anyone o f f .  A good example might be The B e l l .  The Bel l  is well- 

known a s  not  having l a i d  anyone o f f ,  but one th ing  they did do, they 



s t a r t e d  requir ing t h a t  t h e i r  employees each take  a hal f  a day off per  

week, and then deducting two days pay each month from them, which was 

r e a l l y  . . . . Nobody r e a l l y  resented t h i s ;  they got t h e  t i m e ,  but t h i s  

d id  reduce t h e i r  earninga some. 

Q. The United S ta tes ,  during t h e  Depression and, wel l ,  c l e a r  up u n t i l  

t h e  war, was mainly an i s o l a t i o n i s t  country. I f a i l  t o  understand how 

they could be t h a t  way. Maybe they w e r e  more in te res ted  i n  t h e i r  own 

problems, but how did  you o r  people l i k e  you ac tua l ly  f e e l  abbut t h e  

aggression going on t h e  Europe, from Mussolini and from Hitler and 

from Japan? 

A. Most of us,  I think,  d idn ' t  r e a l l y  comprehend t h e  extent  of t h e  

repression i n  Germany under H i t l e r .  I r e c a l l  seeing i n  t h e  movies-- 

they had newsreels; i n  those days we didn' t  have TV or  anything--pictures 

of what they ca l l ed  t h e  p o l i t i c a l  pr isoners  i n  concentration camps. And 

the pic tu res  they showed were apparently normal male individuals  i n  

back of barbed wire fences. And t h e  captions t a  t h e  p ic tu res  sa id  t h a t  

these  were p o l i t i c a l  a c t i v i s t s  t h a t  were not i n  agreement with t h e  

people i n  power a t  t h a t  time, and thus  had been segregated f o r  the  good 

of t h e  Government, There was no indicat ion,  t h a t  I saw o r  heard o r  knew 

of a t  t h a t  time, of t h e  wholesale exterminations t h a t  were reported 

l a t e r  i n  t h e  concentrat ion camps. 

A s  t o  Mussolini, he was regarded with s o r t  of a mixture of approval and 

disapproval.  A great  many people s o r t  of admired Mussolinf. H e  made 

a p r e t t y  impressive p i c t u r e  i n  the newsreels. There was t h i s  c l i c h e  

t h a t  be made the t r a i n s  run on time, and he seemed t o  have solved t h e  



unemployment problem i n  I t a l y .  And while  every now and then  a f e a t u r e  

writer i n  t h e  newspaper o r  a l i t t l e  something i n  a magazine might c r i t -  

i c i z e  h i s  methods, t h e r e  was c e r t a i n l y  noth ing  t h a t  I would c l a s s i f y  a s  

a p u b l i c  d i sapproval  of him. There were some who d i d ,  bu t  i n  t h e  main, 

t hey  d idn ' t .  And Hitler i s  a l i t t l e  d i f f e r e n t .  

Even though nobody, r e a l l y ,  t h a t  I knew of understood o r  knew about 

h i s  concent ra t ion  camp th ings ,  Hitler's very  approach t o  most every 

subject was c o n t r o v e r s i a l ,  so  t h a t  you were almost bound t o  be a part isan--  

e i t f ier  f o r  o r  aga ins t  him. I n  h i s  speeches and h i s  genera l  a t t i t u d e  i n  

a t t a c k i n g  t h e  rest of t h e  world, p a r t i c u l a r l y  t h e  p rov i s ions  of t h e  

V e r s a i l l e s  Trea ty  and t h e  condi t ions  i n  t h e  Ruhr, he was very  aggress ive .  

And t h e  people t h a t  I knew were a n t i - H i t l e r ,  bu t  no t  on t h e  grounds t h a t  

perhaps they  would be now, a s  t o  t h e  depreca t ions  t h a t  he committed. 

They didn't: approve of him; i n  f a c t ,  they thoroughly d i s l i k e d  him and 

they  disapproved, r e a l l y ,  of t h e  French and t h e  English i n  c a t e r i n g  t o  

him the way they  d id ,  p a r t i c u l a r l y  a t  Munich and be fo re  t h a t .  But a t  

t h e  s a m e  t i m e ,  I t h i n k  t h e  average or  t h e  p r e v a i l i n g  t h i n g  he re  w a s ,  

"That 's ,  a f t e r  a l l ,  a h r o p e a n  problem and we may n o t  approve of i t ,  but  

i t ' s  n o t  up t o  u s  t o  t r y  t o  s e t t l e  it." 

Q.  Did t h e  people a c t u a l l y  disapprove? Did they  b e l i e v e  Nev i l l e  

Chamberlain when he  came back waving h i s  papers ,  saying t h a t  t h i s  i s  

peace i n  our  t i m e ,  o r  d id  they more o r  less agree  wi th  Church i l l  say ing  

j u s t  t h e  oppos i te?  

A. 1'11 put  it t h i s  way: I t h i n k  t h e  magazines claimed t o  b e l i e v e  it. 

That was my only  source,  The Saturday Evening Post  and o the r s .  



Q .  What were your own react ions?  

A. That t h i s  is a s e l l o u t ,  and you can ' t  appease people and make any- 

th ing out of it. And t h i s  was not j u s t  my own, but some f r i ends  of 

mine t h a t  I knew p r e t t y  well ,  and we talked about i t ,  agreed t h a t  t h i s  

w i l l  be. We'll l i v e  t o  regre t  t h i s  i n  t h e  very quick fu ture .  

Q .  Hoover was considered a nonviolent person, and he d idn ' t  be l i eve  

i n  w a r  and whatever. Did t h e  people ac tua l ly  bel ieve  i n  t h e  United 

States--the sanctions w e  were performing upon Japan f o r  t h e i r  invasion 

of China, and upon these  o ther  expansionist f a s c i s t  countries--did they 

r e a l l y  th ink t h a t  something l i k e  t h i s  was going t o  do any good? 

A. Well, I don't r e a l l y  know exact ly  what you mean, because, you see,  

a t  t h a t  t i m e  w e  were s t i l l  s e l l i n g  scrap t o  Japan and every magazine 

was screaming i ts head off about it,  you see. And then the re  w a s  some 

d i f f i c u l t i e s  w e  had i n  mainland China a t  t h e  hands of t h e  Japanese-- 

t h e  Panay Incident  was one of them. And t h e  people resented t h i s  a 

g rea t  deal ,  because t h e  American s p i r i t  is  not  t o  be pushed around. But 

they didn ' t  seem t o  f e e l  t h a t  t h i s  was espec ia l ly  Hoover's f a u l t .  I n  

o ther  words, he was not  denounced f o r  anything i n  the  in te rna t iona l  a rea  

l ike  he was i n  t h e  l o c a l  o r  economic area.  Hoover was not popular, 

but none of the c r i t i c i s m  of him t h a t  I ever heard had anything t o  do, 

whatever, with in te rna t iona l  a f f a i r s .  

(phone r ings ,  tape turned o f f )  

Q. During t h e  Spanish Civ i l  War, how did you f e e l ,  o r  how did  t h e  

people of t h e  Springfield a rea  f e e l  about t h e  choice of e i t h e r  supporting 



t h e  fasc is ts - -a t  l e a s t  verbally--or t h e  cormmtnists, on the  o ther  hand. 

A. Well, I th ink most of u s  s o r t  of r egre t t ed  t h e  violence of t h e  whole 

thing,  but I bel ieve  t h a t  bas ica l ly  our a t t i t u d e s  were determined on 

r e l i g i o u s  l i n e s .  I bel ieve ,  f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  t h e  Catholics thought 

t h a t  Franco was probably j u s t i f i e d  as a temporary expedient t o  adopt 

t h e  r e s t r i c t i v e  measures t h a t  he d id ,  and t h a t  the  other s ides  were t h e  

t o o l s ,  e i t h e r  wi t t ing ly  o r  unwitt ingly,  of in te rna t iona l  communism. 

A t  l e a s t  i n  my  am^ associa t ions ,  i n  my own c i r c l e ,  t h a t ' s  about t h e  way 

w e  looked a t  it. We d idn ' t  th ink t h a t  i t  was, oh . . . while i t  was 

important, we d idn ' t  th ink tha t  it  had t h e  e f f e c t  on the  in te rna t iona l  

s i t u a t i o n  t h a t  l a t e r  developments showed t h a t  i t  did have. 

Q. ~ i d n ' t  you say t h e  Catholics supported, more o r  less, t h e  f a s c i s t  

s ide?  

A. I would say they supported Franco, but they would never have dig- 

nigied i t  o r  acknowledged t h a t  t h a t  w a s  especia l ly  fascds t .  They looked 

a t  it, r e a l l y ,  a s  an object ion t o  t h e  t a d i c a l  element t h a t  opposed 

Godless communism. 

Q. I guess you j u s t  answered t h e  quest ion I was going t o  ask about t h e  

German business with t h e  Catholics and with a l l  t h e  Chr is t ian  re l ig ions  

t ry ing  t o  . . . 

A. Well, there ,  too, of course, was a problem, you know. H i t l e r ,  a s  

f a r  as he could, I guess, t r i e d  t o  p lay  down any ant i - re l ig ious  OX an t i -  

Catholic o r  any anti-Lutheran thing,  but he  i n s i s t e d  on having h i s  own 

way. 



Q. In America, there was a fascist movement--the German-American Bund, 

or however you pronounce it. Was the~e a local organization of that 

around here? 

A. Not that I know of. I guess the national or international leader of 

the German-American Bund was Fritz Kuhn. He managed to make the news 

pretty often and made quite a few statements about the supremacy of the 

German race and the whole German idea. And there was a lot of hints and 

innuendos that certain people were either active in it or sympathetic 

to it, but I never really knew anyone that I thought was a Bundist. 

Q. By this time you were working for the Government. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Were you ever involved in seeking out or investigating anybody in 

that was supposed to be a member of this Bund? 

A. No, never was. 

Q. You were not living in Springfield at the time of the beginning of 

World War 11. 

A. No, I was not. I was living in Denver at that time. Of course, I 

remember so very well the invasion of Poland and the beginning of hos- 

tilities in 1939. And actuall.~, after the first rush and the first con- 

quest of Poland took over in late in the fall of 1939, things sort of came 

to a state of suspended animation: And all-the newspapers and on the 

radio and even the magazines, sometimes, referred to it as a phony war 

because nothing'was going on. 



Q. What was t h e  general public opinion of t h e  phony war, o r  t h e  

Bl i t zk r ieg  o r  whatever it was they ca l l ed  i t ?  

A. Well, a l o t  of people thought, "Well, i t 's  not going t o  go any fu r the r  

than t h i s ,  and they ' re  going t o  negot ia te  some s o r t  of a settlement." 

They wouldn't l e t  themselves come t o  t h e  point: of bel ieving t h a t  the re  

would ac tua l ly  be bloodshed, and ac tua l ly  be t h e  kind of hardships and t h e  

kind of war t h a t  q u i t e  a few a t  t h a t  t i m e  remembered from World War I. 

M t e r  a l l ,  a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  t h e r e  were s t i l l  a l a r g e  segment of t h e  pop- 

u l a t i o n  who were ha le  and hear ty  veterans of World War I. They thought 

of themselves a s  good Army t tmber  and many of them were w r y  much dis-  

appointed and even insu l t ed  t o  f ind  out t h a t  i n  t h e  plans of t h e  Govern- 

ment they were regarded as obsole te  old men who couldn't  be used again,  

Q. During t h e  war, of course, Russia was one of our a l l i e s .  Exactly 

how d i d  people f e e l  about Russia? Were they buddy-buddy, o r  d id  they 

ra the r  d i s t r u s t  them? 

A. Well, when i t  was f i r s t  announced t h a t  t h e  t r e a t y  t h a t  had been 

negotiated by Von Ribbentrop--and I can' t  r e c a l l  h i s  Russian counter- 

part-had been made, a l o t  of people j u s t  took t h e  a t t i t u d e  and s o r t  of 

f e l t  l f k e  t h i s  is  never going t o  work, but a t  t h e  same t i m e  i t  was s t i l l  

not any of our business. Then a f t e r  t h e  war was s t a r t e d  and a f t e r  it 

was very evident t h a t  t h e  Germans were about t o  t r y  t o  invade and con- 

quer the eas tern  European countr ies ,  and t h i s  was countered by an inva- 

s ion  from t h e  Russian s i d e  of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuanfa, they began 

t o  take a l i t t l e  more no t i ce  of it. And a l l  of a sudden the re  ac tua l ly  

was,I would say, a pronounced approval of Russia. They thought, " W e l l ,  
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we h a t e  Russia, we ha te  communism, but anybody t h a t ' s  f igh t ing  H i t l e r  i s  

not necessar i ly  bad. " 

Q. World War I1 was supposed t o  be a war t o  end d ic ta to r sh ips  and so 

for th .  How could people a c t u a l l y  approve of S t a l i n ,  who was probably 

one of t h e  biggest  d i c t a t o r s  we had ever had? 

A. Well, ac tua l ly  i t  wasn't r e a l l y  a very b i g  job. And the reason is, 

always before that--during t h e  war u n t i l  t h e  present  time-the United 

S ta tes  of America has approved d ic ta to r sh ips  i n  many, many countr ies  

without any outcry from anybody. Many of t h e  governments i n  South 

America were then, and a r e  s t i l l ,  d ic ta to r sh ips  and always have been. 

People generally--the rank and f i l e ,  t h e  tax payer, the guy t h a t  goes 

t o  work every day--are t echn ica l ly  agains t  d ic ta to r sh ips  but can ' t  he lp  

what's going on i n  Chile o r  Peru o r  Argentina, and not  r e a l l y  concerned 

with what goes on i n  t h e  Near E a s t  o r  t h e  Middle East. And t h e r e  was a 

tendency t o  say, "Well, those people probably don' t  mind this too much 

anyway. 11 

Q. When did you ac tua l ly  no t i ce  a lessening of f r iendship  between t h e  

United S t a t e s  and Russia? 

A. Oh, I f e e l  very s u r e  about t h i s  one. I personally couldn't  see any 

ind ica t ion  of a lessening of f r iendship  between t h e  United S ta tes  and 

Russia u n t i l  Winston Churchil l  made h i s  speech i n  Fulton, Missouri, i n ,  

I th ink  it was Apri l  o r  March of 1946, i n  which he f i r s t  used t h e  term 

1 t I ron Curtain. Up t o  then, w e  had sa id ,  The Russians th ink one way, we 

th ink  another way, but they have been our f r i ends  i n  t h e  f i g h t  agains t  



Hitler ."  And j u s t  before t h e  v ic to ry  over Japan, probably only t en  days 

o r  a couple of weeks, they had joined us i n  declaring war on Japan and 

we had sent  shipload a f t e r  shipload of suppl ies  and munitions of every 

kind t o  Murmansk, way up, almost t o  the  Arct ic  C i rc le  t o  h i t  t h e  northern 

p a r t  of Russia. 

Our i n t e r e s t s  had always been represented t o  us a s  being t o  keep Russia 

supplied because they are f igh t ing  t h e  Nazi t h r e a t  from t h e  e a s t ,  and 

no matter  what t h e i r  views a r e  and no matter what t h e i r  ideas  of govern- 

ment a r e ,  i t ' s  up t o  us t o  help them and keep H i t l e r  from becoming vic- 

to r ious ,  because when and i f  he does, he would then turn  himself t o  us. 

Now t h i s  doesn't suggest f o r  a minute t h a t  we would buy o r  p a r t i c i p a t e  

i n ,  oh, the  communist e t h i c  o r  t h e  communist be l i e f  a s  f a r  as economics 

a r e  concerned, and c e r t a i n l y  not as f a r  a s  t h e i r  b e l i e f s ,  especia l ly  with 

reference t o  r e l i g i o n  a r e  concerned. But we did spend, oh, so  much of 

our goods and money t o  send th ings  t o  Russia by way of Murmansk, and we 

l o s t  s o  much of it i n  those cold waters. 

Q. O f  course, t h e  war l a s t e d  f o r  severa l  years,  but how could ybu 

ac tua l ly  t e l l  when the  t i d e  was turning,  t h a t  t h e  A l l i e s  were ac tua l ly  

winnfng t h e  war? What event o r  what series of events ac tua l ly  showed t o  

the common man that: we were a t  l e a s t  winning, whether we would win o r  

not?  

A. I think t h i s  was f i r s t  indicated t o  an average person a f t e r  the  

B a t t l e  of t h e  Bulge, o r  even during t h e  B a t t l e  of t h e  Bulge i n  December 

of 1944. This was when Von Rundstedt made h i s  g rea t  breakthrough. This 

was r i g h t  a t  Christmastime i n  December of 1 9 4 4 .  And it was touch and go 



t h e r e  f o r  a while .  Although t h e  news and t h e  r a d i o  and the papers  were, 

w e l l ,  I wouldn't say censored, but  perhaps guided i n  what they  t o l d  us ,  

I t h i n k  t h a t  t h e  average person knew t h a t  t h i s  i s  a c r u c i a l  thing.  If 

we do no t  succeed i n  holding Von Rundstedt,  we've got  problems. Once 

we've he ld  him, I th ink  t h a t  t h e r e  was s o r t  of a surge  of confidence t h a t  

s a i d ,  "We're going t o  make it ." 

Q. His tory  books, of course,  t e l l  you t h a t  H i t l e r  w a s ,  o r  Germany was, 

about gone by t h e  time we invaded i n  1944. Was t h e r e  no i n k l i n g  t h a t  

w e  were a c t u a l l y  winning t h e  w a r  be fo re  t h i s  t ime? 

A. The f a c t  of t h e  rnatter,is, I don ' t  b e l i e v e  i t ,  even now. ( l augh te r )  

We weren ' t .  

Q. What about t h e  P a c i f i c  Theater  i n  Japan? 

A. Well, i n  Japan, I don' t  know. You know, everybody, I guess,  i s  an 

expert about t h i n g s  he doesn ' t  understand. But a f t e r  P e a r l  Harbor, and 

a f t e r  t h e  news began t o  l e a k  out  t h a t  i n s t ead  of j u s t  l o s ing ,  you know, 

a few naval  v e s s e l s ,  w e  had su f f e red  a very  gr ievous wound, and we had 

begun t o  send a l o t  of people i n t o  t h e  P a c i f i c  Theater ,  and p a r t i c u l a r l y  

when they  were down a t  Gwdalcanal .  And a t  about t h i s  t ime, the B a t t l e  

of t h e  Mddway was fought ,  and I t h i n k  i t  w a s  then  t h a t  t h e  newspapers 

and t h e  r a d i o  t o l d  us  some of t h e  t r u t h ,  and i t  went l i k e  t h i s :  when 

they  s a i d  t h e  B a t t l e  of the W w a y  is  such a g r e a t  v i c t o r y ,  i t  was only 

then  d id  w e  r e a l i z e  t h a t  without  t h i s  v i c t o r y  w e  w a s  i n  much worse shape 

than  they t o l d  us we were. You know, i n  o the r  words, w e  wouldn't have 

thought of Midway a s  a g r e a t  v i c t o r y  un le s s  somebody t o l d  us  without i t ,  



you r e a l l y  got  problems. 

Q. How could you a c t u a l l y  t e l l ?  When could you t e l l  t h e  t i d e  was 

t u r n i n g  i n  t h e  P a c i f i c ?  

A. Oh, gosh . . . it w a s  awful hard t o  do. You know, t h e r e  w a s  t h i s  

succession of r e v e r s a l s  i n  t h e  P a c i f i c ,  you know. There was t h e  Phi l -  

i pp ines  and Corregidor,  Bataan, t h e r e  w a s  Guadalcanal i t s e l f ;  t imes were 

r e a l l y  tough, and we l o s t  Guam, I be l ieve .  And we knew t h a t  we were i n  

a very  despera te  s i t u a t i o n ,  bu t  we s t i l l  had t h e  expanse of t h e  P a c i f i c  

Ocean between us.  There w a s  almost a despe ra t e  f e e l i n g  a s  f a r  a s  1 can 

tell. 

I was l i v i n g  i n  Denver a t  t h e  t i m e ,  bu t  t h e r e  was a g r e a t  f e e l i n g  on 

t h e  Vest Coast t h a t  everyone should be prepared f o r  even a p o s s i b l e  in- 

vas ion  of t roops  from Japan. I t h i n k  that: t h e  confidence t h a t  t h a t  

could no t  be o r  would no t  be came probably a f t e r  t h e  B a t t l e  of Midway 

and t h e  B a t t l e  of Guam, and our  v i c t o r i e s  a t  Wake I s l and  when they be- 

gan t h e  island-hopping technique t o  g e t  c l o s e r  t o  Japan. And a l l  of a 

sudden, while  we might l o s e  one he re  o r  t h e r e ,  we were no t  vu lnerable  

anymore. 

I remember so very c l e a r l y  when we began t o  t ake  some Japanese-held 

i s l a n d s  out  t he re .  The names of them escape m e  now.  here's one I 

t h i n k  was c a l l e d  Truk,  and it was a Japanese s t ronghold and everybody 

seemed t o  be very  much a f r a i d  of t h a t .  And then I remember Iwo Jim. 

That ' s  t h e  one where t h e  p i c t u r e s  a r e  s t i l l  ce l eb ra t ed ,  wheee t h e y ' r e  

r a i s i n g  t h e  f l a g  on Iwo Jima. I had a very ,  very  c l o s e  f r i e n d  l o s t  on 

Two Jima, and I always w i l l  remember t h a t .  He  w a s  a Mexican boy, Balvino 



Martinez. And I remember so  much t h a t  . . . w e l l ,  t h e  last n i g h t ,  he 

worked with us  and w e  gave him a going away p a r t y  and s e v e r a l  of u s  ended 

up t h e  evening i n  t h e  wee hours  of t h e  morning. 

Q. On August 6,  1945, t h e  United S t a t e s  dropped i ts  f i r s t  atomic bomb. 

Had you ever  heard anything about t h i s  before ,  about u s  having an atomic 

bomb? 

A. Never had, even one word. Once i t  was dropped, some th ings  began 

t o  s e t t l e  i n t o  p l ace  t h a t  seemed t o  have a p l ace  t h e r e  o r  a right t h e r e  

t h a t  was hard t o  be l ieve .  When I was i n  Denver, I was interviewed by 

t h e  head of my o f f i c e  as t o  whether o r  n o t  I ' d  be i n t e r e s t e d  i n  tak ing  

an admin i s t r a t i ve  o f f i c e ,  a c l e r i ca l - type  job, down i n  New Mexico. He 

t o l d  m e  t h a t  t h e  War Department had t a lked  t o  him.and asked t h a t  he he lp  

them i n  s e t t i n g  up an o f f i c e  o rgan iza t ion  i n  a defense establ ishment  

t h a t  was being arranged the re .  And he couldn ' t  t e l l  m e  anything about 

i t ,  except t h a t  it would b e  i n  one of two o r  t h r e e  l o c a t i o n s  i n  New Mexico. 

I c a n ' t  r e c a l l  t h e  l o c a t i o n s ,  any of them, but  a f t e r  t h e  bomb was dropped 

and t h e  news came out  t h a t  Los Alarnos w a s  q u i t e  a th ing ,  I f e l t  t h a t  t h a t  

might have been t h e  o b j e c t i v e  the re .  

Q. What was your immediate r e a c t i o n  t o  the dropping of t h e  atomic bomb? 

Were you pleased o r  were you shocked, o r  what? 

A. My own r e a c t i o n  was one of g r e a t  p leasure .  This i s  t h e  way t o  g e t  

t h e  j ab  done! ( l augh te r )  Then I t a lked  t o  my b r o t h e r ,  and he had a 

much more reserved  thought about t h i s  and inqu i r ed  of me--this was t h e  

very  same day t h e  news came out--did I f u l l y  comprehend what 's  going on 



he re ,  see .  And a f t e r  t a l k i n g  it over,  T began t o  go backwards a l i t t l e  

b i t .  I wasn't nea r ly  as happy about i t  as I had been a t  t h e  f i r s t  thought.  

My f i r s t  thought was, of course,  t h e  quicker  we g e t  Japan out  of t h e  way, 

t h e  b e t t e r  off we a re .  But t h e  concept,  the thought of an atomic bomb 

had never en tered  my head. 

Q Did t h e  papers  t e l l  you t h a t  t h e r e  were seventy thousand o r  e igh ty  

thousand people k i l l e d  i n  one i n s t a n t ,  o r  what d i d  they a c t u a l l y  say? 

A. Oh, I can ' t  remember exac t ly ,  except they  s a i d  t h a t  t h e r e  had been 

complete devas t a t ion  of t h e  t a r g e t .  I don' t  be l i eve  t h a t  they  even at- 

t m p t e d  t o  e s t ima te  t h e  c a s u a l t i e s  on t h e  first anflouncement. I t h ink  

t h a t  t h e  next  day t h a t  they d i d ,  and even began t o  break t h e  news t h a t  

without  being wi th in  t h e  r ad ius  of t h e  explos ive  f o r c e  t h a t  t h e  radio-  

a c t i v i t y  was very deadly. That came t h e  second day. I t h i n k  f o r  most 

of u s ,  t h a t  was s o r t  of t h e  sober ing  thought of an atomic bomb, r e a l l y .  

Q. Did you t h i n k  any d i f f e r e n t l y  a f t e r  t h e  second bomb was dropped, on 

August 9 ,  on Nagasaki? 

A. Y e s ,  ye s ,  I did.  Because--and I t h i n k  everyone e l s e  did--by then  

we had a t  l e a s t  thought o f  it ,  and t h e r e  had begun t o  be  a f e e l i n g  t o  

s o r t  of weigh t h e  circumstances.  I know t h a t  I was still i n  favor  of 

it ,  because I had heard and be l ieved  and s t i l l  b e l i e v e  tha t  $ t  would c o s t  

us a m i l l i o n  men t o  storm the beaches of Japan, and i t  seemed t o  m e  t h a t  

t h e  atomic bomb, a s  h o r r i b l e  as i t  was, would avoid t h e  n e c e s s i t y  of los- 

i n g  t h a t  many American men. I f e l t  t h a t  we were i n  a just cause; we 

were f i g h t i n g  a j u s t  war, and I d i d n ' t  want t o  k i l l  unnecessar i ly  even 



one Japanese, o r  any o ther  individual ,  but  i f  i t  came t o  a choice be- 

tween our own s o l d i e r s  and our own people and those  t h a t  I thought were 

responsible f o r  having us i n  t h i s  war then, we'd have t o  take  t h e  way 

t h a t  protected our own people. 

Q. How accurate was t h e  repor t ing  during World War II? Take, f o r  

ins tance ,  t h e  atomic bombs o r  anything e l s e .  

A. Well, I would say t h i s :  once they reported something, they reported 

i t  very accurately.  But I would say t h a t  t h e  repor t ing  was o f t en  j u s t  

no repor t ing  a t  a l l .  They d i d n ' t  t e l l  you anything. I can ' t  r e a l l y  

remember anything t h a t  I would th ink  was of a major na ture  where they 

t o l d  us an untruth.  Any inaccuracies t h a t  were t o l d  t o  us, I think,  

could be  read i ly  explained a s  a c o n f l i c t  i n  information, o r  in te rp re ta -  

t ion .  But once they t o l d  us  something I th ink i t  was so, but I th ink 

t h e r e  were many, many, many times where they j u s t  d idn ' t  t e l l  us anything. 

Q. Was the re ,  what was ca l l ed  i n  Vietnam, a c r e d i b i l i t y  gap? 

A. No, not t h a t  I know of .  I th ink most of us r ea l i zed  t h a t  when we 

read t h e  paper t h a t  t h i s  is  what they want us  t o  know, t h i s  is  what they ' r e  

t e l l i n g  us. Now, t h e r e  may be o ther  th ings  t h a t  they don' t  want us  t o  

know, but  I th ink most of u s  f e l t  t h a t  i f  they made a d i r e c t  d e f i n i t i v e  

statement t h a t  i t  was t rue .  

Q. What was your r eac t ion  t o  the  announcement i n  March of 1945 of 

Franklin Roosevelt 's death? 

A.  Oh, I was s o  very surpr ised  and so  very sad, I remember it s o  well .  



I: think, actually, it was in April. Well, whatever time it was, I know 

this, that I was on my way down to Newton, Illinois, and I left Spring- 

field about, oh, three or four o'clock in the afternoon, and my wife was 

withme. I had an assignment-down there and she has relatives there-- 

that's where she's from--and we stopped in Vandalia, Illinois to have 

our supper that evening at perhaps six or seven o'clock. I had not heard 

about the President's death. The waitress who served us said, "It's a 

very sad day for all of us. President Roosevelt passed away." I was 

so scandalized that I couldn't finish my dinner. I hadn't even started 

it, but I couldn't eat any of it. 

Q. Did you have any fears that we might then lose the war by this time? 

A. No, no, I did not. After I learned that he had passed away and 

found out a little bit about the surroundings, or.the curcumstances, I 

felt that we were in good hands with President Truman and that the sit- 

uation or the activities of the country would go along without any major 
i. 

change or without any problems. I had never deteclzed any local resisis- 

tance to the war or any feeling that we shouldn't proceed to a victory, 

and I thought that we really would, and this was all right. I wondered, 

of course, what kind of a leader President Truman would make. He really 

wasn't very we1l;known. After all, he followed Henry Wallace into the 

office. He was known, of course, to have come from Kansas City where it 

was alleged he was part of the Pendergast machine. And he was known also 

to have been a senator from Missouri, and like most vice-presidents was 

not too well-known, but somehow or another, Zt was not too great a worry. 

I know that I went on down to Newton like I had intended and, eventually, 



ended up i n  Metropol is ,  I l l i n o i s .  And it was i n  Metropol is ,  I l l i n o i s ,  

a day o r  two o r  perhaps t h r e e  l a t e r  on, when Pres ident  Truman made a 

nationwide r a d i o  address  i n  which he t a lked  t o  a l l  the people and s a i d  

a l i t t l e  something about h i s  f e e l i n g s  on t h e  occasion and h i s  p lans .  

And I thought he made a very l u c i d ,  a very  remarkable t a l k .  H e  d i d n ' t  

g e t  flowery about anything,  bu t  j u s t  reassured  everybody t h a t  t h ings  

n a t i o n a l l y  were going f i n e ,  we would bear the  l o s s  of ou r  Pres ident  and 

he would do h i s  b e s t  t o  c a r r y  on. It was s o r t  of a r eas su r ing  t a l k .  

Q. What was your opinion of Douglas MacArthur? 

A. I always d i s l i k e d  Douglas MacArthur. I d i s l i k e d  Douglas MacArthur 

during t h e  Bonus March. I d i s l i k e d  Douglas MacArthur when they  took 

him t o  t h e  Ph i l i pp ines  t o  reorganize  o r  t o  organize  t h e  Ph i l i pp ine  Defense 

Command. I d i s l i k e d  Douglas MacArthur a s  a man on a newsreel  o r  someone 

who was quoted i n  t h e  newspaper. There w a s  something about Douglas Mac- 

Arthur  $last I could no t  ab ide  by. 

Q. Did you ever  hear  of any of h i s  nicknames t h a t  h i s  s o l d i e r s  gave 

him, "dugout ~ o u g , "  o r  something l i k e  t h a t ?  

A. No, I d id  not .  I do know t h a t  I w a s  s o r t  of i n  a temporary doghouse 

wi th  my co-workers when I heard h i s  s p i r i t e d  defense  of h i s  conduct a f t e r  

t h e  P re s iden t  had removed him from o f f i c e .  My comment was, "This man 

should be s h o t  f o r  t reason."  It wasn't  exac t ly  a popular remark. ( l augh te r )  

Q. What d id  you th ink  of when a l l  w a s  l o s t  i n  Bataan and Corregidor? 

It w a s  j u s t  a mat te r  of time u n t i l  t h e  Japanese took it away from us ,  

a ma t t e r  of t ime u n t i l  w e  had t o  surrender .  What d i d  you t h i n k  of when 



a l l  of a sudden Frankl in  Roosevelt got  him and h i s  wi fe  and k i d s  out  and 

l e f t  t h a t  many more s o l d i e r s  here?  

A. Actual ly ,  I d i d n ' t  t h ink  anything adverse t o  Douglas MacArthur i n  t h a t  

case.  I thought he had conducted himself a t  Corregidor and a t  Bataan and 

i n  Japan i n  a s o l d i e r l y  way. I had no thought t h a t  Douglas MacArthur w a s  

no t  a p a t r i o t i c  o r  a brave man. It was n o t  t h a t .  But I d i d  th ink  t h a t  

i Douglas MacArthur s o r t  of thought of himself a s  s o r t  of a , oh . . . an 

omnipotent person,  who could do no wrong under any circumstances.  

Q. When d id  you f i r s t  hea r  about t h e  Bataan Death March of t h e  s o l d i e r s  

who surrendered on t h e  Ph i l i pp ines?  

A. Hard t o  say  when. W e  knew, of course,  t h a t  t h e  American s o l d i e r s  

and t h e  Ph i l i pp ine  s o l d i e r s  who were t r y i n g  t o  defend t h e  Ph i l i pp ines  

a g a i n s t  Japan had been, oh, forced  i n t o  Corregidor which a t  one time 

had been represented  as be ing  s u p e r i o r  t o  . . . what i s  i t ?  G i b r a l t e r .  

It had been represented  a s  being impregnable, and then  the news changed, 

f i n a l l y ,  and t h i s  was s o r t  of a gradual  th ing .  F i r s t ,  i t  cannot be  

taken;  then i t  w i l l  n o t  b e  taken;  then  i t  rill * .  probably su rv ive  another  

few days o r  e x i t .  Eventual ly,  the news reached us  t h a t  i t  had f a l l e n .  

Then t h e  news reached us  t h a t  as a r e s u l t  of tha t ,  t h a t  t h e  defenders  

had been assembled and forced  t o  marched on what i s  c a l l e d  t h e  Bataan 

Death March. Even then ,  it was no t  t oo  c l e a r ,  I do no t  be l i eve ,  where 

they  s t a r t e d  t h e  march from and where they ended t h e  march a t .  But i t  

I was represented  that it was under g r e a t  personal  hardship and c r u e l t y  
I 

where t h e  men, you know, where they  d ied  and were c r u e l l y  t r e a t e d  and 

I they  l o s t .  
I 

END OF SIDE ONE 
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Q. You were working f o r  t h e  Federa l  Government dur ing  World War 11, 

is  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

A. Yes, i t  is. See, I a c t u a l l y  began working f o r  them i n  1937, i n  

February, s o  that, of course,  I was a Federal  employee when t h e  war 

s t a r t e d  i n  1942. It w a s  i n  1942 that: we became--"we1' being t h e  country-- 

became q u i t e  involved i n  t h e  thing.  A l o t  of t h e  war p r i c e s  and r a t i o n s  

and c o n t r o l s  were i n s t i t u t e d  and began t o  be  a very  important f a c t o r  

i n  the  l i v e s  of all of us .  I was l i v i n g  i n  Denver a t  t h e  t i m e .  

Q. What department of t h e  Government d f d  you work f o r  then? 

A. I worked f o r  t h e  Div is ion  of Disbursments of t h e  Treasury Department. 

Q. What d id  t h a t  do? 

A. Well, a c t u a l l y  what it d id ,  i t  reviewed be fo re  payment t h e  va r ious  

b i l l s  t h a t  had been incurred by o t h e r  governmental departments,  a d  t hen  

issued--or au thor ized  t h e  i ssuance  and then  issued--the checks i n  pay- 

ment. I n  t h i s  capac i ty ,  it was our  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  t o  review t h e  vouchers 

t h a t  had been submitted f o r  payment, both f o r  personal  s e r v i c e s  such as 

p a y r o l l s  and t h a t  s o r t  of t h ing ,  and a l s o  then  f o r  payment f o r  s u p p l i e s  

o r  services-- that  s o r t  of thing--from any Government agency. 

Q. Mi l i t a ry?  

A. N o ,  no, j u s t  t h e  c i v i l i a n s .  The m i l i t a r y  d i d  t h e i r  own. But we had 

the others/and we would a l s o ,  a t  that  point ,  charge t h e  proper  appropri-  

a t i o n s  and i t  was our  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  t o  make s u r e  t h a t  they  were not  

spending more money than t h e i r  app ropr i a t ion  au thor ized .  



Q. Did you approve o r  disapprove of t h e s e  vouchers? 

A. W e  d i d n ' t  approve o r  disapprove of them i n  t h e  sense  t h a t  they  were 

w i s e  o r  unwise expendi tures ,  but  we c e r t a i n l y  approved o r  disapproved 

of them i n  t h e  sense  t h a t  they  were submitted i n  accordance wi th  estab-  

l i s h e d  r u l e s :  A, t h a t  they  were charged aga ins t  t h e  r i g h t  appropr ia t ion ;  

B,  t h a t  they  were n o t  exceeding t h e  money t o  t h e i r  c r e d i t ;  and C, t h a t  

i t  was very c l e a r  what t h e  checks were i n  payment f o r .  So they  had a 

procedure t h e r e  i n  which when t h e s e  vouchers were submitted they  were 

s igned by what w a s  c a l l e d  an au thor ized  c e r t i f y i n g  o f f i c e r .  It was up 

t o  u s  t o  be  very  s u r e  t h a t  it was submitted over the s i g n a t u r e  of an 

au thor ized  c e r t i f y i n g  o f f i c e r ,  aga ins t  t h e  r i g h t  appropr ia t ion ,  and 

exac t ly  t o  whom t h e  money was t o  be paid and f o r  what it w a s  t o  be pa id .  

Q. Did t h e  Government pay f o r  t h e s e  s e r v i c e s  a f t e r  they  had been rendered 

or be fo re  they would be rendered? 

A. No. I n  a11 cases, .  a f t e r .  The t r u t h  of t h e  ma t t e r  is i f  a voucher 

would come i n  t h a t  would look l i k e  it w a s  a payment, a prepayment, i t  

would be  r e j e c t e d .  

Q. Were t h e r e  ever  any in s t ances  i n  which people d i d  not  g e t  pa id  f o r  

s e r v i c e  t o  t h e  Government? 

A. Well, i f  so ,  of course,  t h a t  would be between t h e  agency f o r  which 

they  performed t h e  s e r v i c e  and them, n o t  a g a i n s t  t h e  Treasury Department. 

You wouldn't ha rd ly  know about: that. It 's important ,  I th ink ,  t o  say 

t h i s ,  though, t h a t  t h e r e  was a procedure set up which w a s  c a l l e d  an  agent- 



cash-error procedure, i n  which an individual  would be provided with 

t h e  cash money--sometimes i n  r a t h e r  l a rge  amounts--to pay on t h e  spot  

f o r  c e r t a i n  services  o r  suppl ies  needed by t h e  Government. He  would 

then submit a voucher i n  his own name showing what he had used t h e  money 

f o r ,  and a check would be sen t  t o  him. 

A case t o  show what goes on here,  it  was about at t h i s  t i m e  t h a t  we 

brought up, o r  i t  was legal ized t o  br ing up, a good many day laborers  

f o r  crops and other  purposes from Mexico. They wanted t h e i r  money; 

they dldn ' t  want a check and they didn ' t  want t o  wait .  And t h e  agent 

cashier  i n  these  instances was authorized t o  pay them dai ly .  He would 

then send i n  a voucher and he would get  h i s  money back. Occasionally, 

t h e r e  might be a quest ion a r i s e .  I remember very v iv id ly  i n  one case 

where an in fan t  chi ld  of a couple t h a t  had been brought t o  t h i s  country 

t o  work, passed away. The parents  were without funds, and t h e  agent 

cashier  paid f o r  t h e  funera l  o r  the b u r i a l  expenses of t h e  i n f a n t ,  and 

submitted a voucher. The voucher was o r i g i n a l l y  rejected, and a f t e r  

considerable correspondence and negot ia t ion  it was f i n a l l y  determined 

t h a t  it was within t h e  scope of t h e  labor agreement t o  defray t h i s  cos t ,  

s o  no one l o s t  out. 

Q. You the ,  I believe,  went with o r  t r ans fe r red  t o  the  Office of P r ice  

Administration? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. When was t h i s ?  

A. That was i n  June of 1944, perhaps July ,  but i t  was e i t h e r  l a t e  i n  



June o r  i n  ea r ly  July.  A t  t h a t  t i m e  I became . . . my payrol l  t i t l e  

was Commodities Inves t igator  f o r  t h e  Office of P r ice  Administration. 

My headquarters was Springfield,  I l l i n o i s .  

Q. You w e r e  t r ans fe r red  back here  from Denver? 

A. As a matter of f a c t ,  t h a t ' s  t rue .  I had l e f t  Denver six months 

before t h a t  and brought my family back t o  Springfield and taken a job 

i n  Chicago f o r  t h e  Division of Disbursments, because a t  t h a t  time t h e r e  

was a p robab i l i ty  tha t  I might accept an o f f e r  a s  an agent cashier  i n  

e i t h e r  Chungkingor Rio de Janei ro  o r  i n  Egypt i n  Cairo. 

Q. You were ac tua l ly  offered a job t o  go t o  Chungking i n  China with 

t h e  Japanese invasion and a l l  t h i s ?  

A.  hat's r i g h t .  This was where Chiang Kai-shek's headquarters was 

a t  t h a t  time. 

Q. What about t h e  Office of P r i c e  Administration? Just exact ly  what 

d id  t h e  OPA do during t h e  war? What were t h e  du t i es  of t h e  OPA? 

A. The d u t i e s  of the  OPA, ac tua l ly ,  were t o  enforce t h e  ra t ioning 

and p r i c e  control  laws. This was t h e  f i r s t  time i n  t h e  h i s to ry  of t h i s  

country, r e a l l y ,  t h a t  commodities were rat ioned,  t h a t  they were assigned 

t o  people on an individual  bas i s  so  t h a t  everyone had t h e  r i g h t  t o  t h e  

same amount of rat ioned commodities a t  a predetermined c e i l i n g  p r i c e  

l eve l .  I n  o ther  words, everyone got t h e  same amount of sugar, same 

amount of tires, same amount of gasoline,  same amount of shoes, o r  what- 

ever was determined t o  be i n  shor t  supply. It was a new idea,  o r  a t  



l e a s t  t h e  idea  might not  have been new, but it was a new experience f o r  

t h e  Government t o  t r y  t o  handle th ings  on t h a t  l e v e l  down t o  t h e  d a i l y  

l i v e s  of everyone. 1t:was a na t iona l  th ing ,  of course, and it had re- 

c ru i t ed  some exper ts  and accomplished profess ionals  i n  almost every type 

of commerce o r  indust ry  t o  help with t h e  job. I was i n  t h e  enforcement 

and inves t iga t ion  s i d e  of t h e  thing.  

Q. You were i n  inves t iga t ions .  How did you know t o  go out  and inves- 

t i g a t e  somebody? Would a complaint have t o  be made agains t  this person, 

o r  d id  t h e  Government j u s t  go out looking f o r  someone t o  inves t iga te?  

A. It was  two ways, o r  perhaps even more ways than t h a t .  F i r s t  of a l l ,  

t h e r e  were complaints t h a t  c e r t a i n  individuals ,  apparently-- i t ' s  some- 

times more than apparently--without quest ion,  had acquired scarce  com- 

modities t o  which it did  not appear they were e n t i t l e d .  A s p e c i f i c  case,  

of course, i s  tires. I f  so,  a f t e r  going through a l o c a l  l e v e l  o f f i c e ,  

c a l l e d  t h e  Local War P r i c e  and Rationing Board, i f  they couldn't  s a t i s -  

f a c t o r i l y  ad jus t  o r  so lve  t h i s  th ing ,  i t  would be re fe r red  t o  t h e  d i s t r i c t  

o f f i ce .  It then became t h e  job of t h e  d f s t r i c t  o f f i c e  t o  undertake t o  

a s c e r t a i n  how t h i s  could be, o r  i f  it was, i n  f a c t ,  t h e  t r u t h .  

Then the re  was a l s o  a plan i n  which spot  checks were made of various 

processors of food and commodities. This was mostly a check of what were 

ca l l ed  t h e  primary d i s t r i b u t o r s .  That would be those  who were i n  t h e  

meat packing buainess o r  t h e  canning business o r  t h e  manufacturing busi- 

ness of c lo th ing t h a t  was i n  shor t  supply. 

Then t h e r e  was, le t ' s  see ,  t h e r e  was a t h i r d  one here  t h a t  was a reason 



f o r  us t o  do t h i s  . . . oh, where c i t i z e n s  would complain they had been 

overcharged, o r  spot checks by members of l o c a l  p r i c e  boards would indicate-  

t h a t  they had a fee l ing  that--not necessar i ly  a feeling--where they had 

some information t h a t  t h e  p r i c e  c e i l i n g s  were not being observed o r  t h e  

post ing of c e i l i n g  p r i c e s  were not being observed, o r  having been posted, 

were not adhered to .  

Q. Do you have any information on how much t h e  Government sa id  a person 

could have i n  t h e  way of tires o r  something l i k e  t h i s ?  

A. I t 's  kind of sketchy, but when t i r e  ra t ioning f i r s t  s t a r t e d ,  t h e  

regula t ion o r  government r u l e  was issued,  was s t a t e d  t h a t  one could only 

have f ive  t i r e s  per  vehicle.  This was ac tua l ly  observed i n  the breach 

r a t h e r  than the  observance. There were many people t h a t  had t i r e s  i n  

t h e  basement or  i n  t h e  a t t i c  o r  e e r e v e r ,  because you couldn't  hardly 

f e r r e t  i t  out. 

Q. What did you do when, say, your t i r e  wore out and you had t o  buy 

another one? 

A. This is  a very good question. What you d i d  i n  a case l i k e  t h a t ,  you 

had t o  go t o  your War P r i c e  and Ration Board who had a committee who 

would inquire  of you. You'd be required o r  requested t o  f i l l  out an 

appl ica t ion s t a t i n g  your need and giving other information l i k e  t h e  

s i z e  t i r e  and f o r  what type of uehic le ,  t ruck,  pickup or  whatever. Then 

they would consider it and i f  they decided t h a t  t h i s  t i r e  and your need 

of t h i s  tire were i n  t h e  na t iona l  i n t e r e s t ,  they would i s s u e  a c e r t i f -  

i c a t e  which would author ize  you t o  go buy a t i r e .  And you'd pay f o r  it ,  



and if you had a c e r t i f i c a t e ,  t h e  t i re  dea le r  could sel l  i t  t o  you. 

Q. What about: i f  you had j u s t  a family automobile? Did they ac tua l ly  

i s s u e  these  th ings  f o r  people who j u s t  needed a t i r e  f o r  t h e i r  family 

car? 

A. Well, i f  t h e i r  family ca r  was not used for t r anspor ta t ion  t o  and 

from work, o r  was used only f o r  s o c i a l  o r  family business such as shop- 

ping o r  going t o  church, they would be l a s t  on t h e  p r i o r i t y  list. And 

i n  many cases,  they would not f ind  it f e a s i b l e  t o  i s s u e  them-a c e r t f f -  

i c a t e ,  but wherever possible,  depending upon the  s i z e  of t h e  t i r e  and 

depending upon t h e  a v a i l a b i l i t y  of tires, they would i s sue  them. They 

were not r e a l l y  a r b i t r a r y  about it. You might have t o  wait a l i t t l e  

while i f  you had such a need, but if it was at a l l  possible they would 

get  you a t i r e .  You could even a t  t h a t  time buy tires t h a t  were off  

quota, meaning retreaded carcasses,  and th ings  of t h a t  kind. I f  you 

wanted a new t i re  and had no r e a l  need of i t ,  such as t o  get you t o  a 

job and back--one th ing o r  another--you faced a p r e t t y  tough s i t u a t i o n ,  

r e a l l y .  

Q. They d idn ' t  i s s u e  r a t i o n  stamps f o r  tires, then? 

A. No, they d i d  not. No, you had t o  make a claim o r  make a request 

each time when you needed one. 

Q. What about: ammunition o r  something l i k e  t h i s ?  Could you buy t h a t ?  

For instance,  if you were a duck hunter,  could you buy ammunition? 

A. Sure could. I f  t h e  man had it and wanted t o  s e l l  it. It was not  on 

ra t ion .  



Q. Were t h e  munitions f a c t o r i e s  making ammunition f o r  hunters? 

A. No, they were not.  No. Any a m u n i t i o n  ava i l ab le  was simply what 

was i n  t h e  p ipe l ine  and on t h e  shelves. 

Q. How much did  they o f f e r  a person i n  the  way of sugar? 

A. Well, of course, t h i s  a l s o  var ied  according t o  t h e  sugar supply. 

And t h e  way they did it,  they had sugar coupons--or we used t o  have a 

d ign i f i ed  t i t l e  f o r  i t ,  ca l l ed  r a t i o n  evidences--that authorized you t o  

buy s o  many pounds of sugar per  person, t h a t  is,  how many i n  your family 

t h e r e  was. But the way t h e  r a t ion ing  worked, t h e r e  was sugar coupons 

marked X, f o r  example. I f  t h e  supply seemed t o  be p r e t t y  good, E h e s e  

coupon3 would be good f o r  s i x  weeks. I f  t h e  supply was p r e t t y  bad, it 

would be good f o r  t h r e e  months, and t h e r e  wouldn't be anything e l s e  

authorized u n t i l  t h a t  n inety  days was over. 

Q. My parents  have got some of these  old r a t i o n  books t h a t  they saved. 

I s e e  they've got some f o r  shoes. They issued a book f o r  each person i n  

t h e  family? 

A. That 's  r i g h t ,  they d id .  

Q. Did it  t a k e  one stamp f o r  a p a i r  of shoes, o r  a page of stamps f o r  a 

p a i r  of shoes; o r  what was i t ?  

A. Well, you see, t h i s  th ing  went through severa l  phases. F i r s t ,  they 

issued you r a t i o n  books. There was a book f o r  coffee,  a book f o r  gasoline,  

a book f o r  processed foods--meaning canned o r  o ther  preserved foods-- 



and a book f o r  meats. Then a s  time went on, changes occurred. !Chey 

el iminated,  or  r a t h e r  they converted, f o r  example, t h e  stamps i n  t h e  

books f o r  processed foods t o  a p l a s t i c  coin-type of b lue  p iece  t h a t  looked 

about l i k e  a dime, o r  perhaps a l i t t l e  bigger than a dime, which repre- 

sented so  many r a t i o n  points .  And f o r  meat, they issued a red one which 

could be redeemed by t h e  stamps i n  the  book, you see.   hat's r i g h t .  

Now then, f o r  t h e  sugar, they  stayed with t h e  stamps, because they had 

expira t ion  dates ,  o r  they had a code on them where they could be val ida ted  

f o r  c e r t a i n  p a r t i c u l a r  per iods  of time. For gasoline,  they issued stamps, 

also, and t h a t ,  too,  they re ta ined because gasol ine  was issued i n  vary- 

ing  amounts, according t o  t h e  need. Everyone was given a basic issue 

of gasol ine  of Eour ga l lons  a week. 

Q. Everybody, regardless  of age? 

A. No, no. Everybody wi th  a car .  Only those  with a c a r  could get  four  

ga l lons  per  week f o r  t h e  family car .  Now then,  i f  you drove t o  work, 

i t  depended on how many miles you drove, see. And he might go way above 

that--he would never go less--but he might not  go very much above t h a t ,  

he might go t o  s i x  ga l lons  a week. And t h i s  was authent ica ted  by t h e  

type of book what was issued t o  him i n  t h e  f i r s t  place. But you had a 

bas ic  th ing ,  I th ink  they ca l l ed  it a C-ration; I th ink t h e r e  w a s  a l e t t e r  

C on t h e  bas ic  four ga l lons  book. You got four ga l lons ,  no matter  what, 

then you could get  more depending on,-you know, i f  you were working o r  

needing it in .your  business and, of course, i f  you were working i n  a 

defense p lan t  o r  something l i k e  t h a t .  Now, i f  you were a salesman, es- 

p e c i a l l y  i f  you were a salesman i n  a non-essential l i n e  l i k e  perhaps t r y i n g  



t o  sel l  candy o r ,  oh, anything t h a t ' s  not connected with t h e  war e f f o r t ,  

you wouldn't ge t  anything except t h e  o r i g i n a l  four  gal lons.  ( laughter)  

That 's t h e  way it worked on tha t .  

Q. I ' ve  heard s t o r i e s  t h a t  people, you know, of course, t h e i r  t i r e s  

wore out i n  t h e  t h r e e  years  they had t h e  war, and even though they did  

get  these  c e r t i f i c a t e s  o r  they were allowed t o  buy a t i r e ,  they couldn't 

f ind  one. 

A. Well, t h i s  was very t rue .  You see ,  t h e  c e r t i f i c a t e  authorizes you 

t o  buy a t i r e  i f  you found a dealer  t h a t  had one a t  a  p r i c e  you wanted 

t o  pay. It didn ' t  order anybody t o  sell  you a t i r e ,  it j u s t  permitted 

you t o  buy one. However, i n  my own experience, whenever anyone got a 

c e r t i f i c a t e ,  t h e r e  might be a delay o f ,  oh, a week o r  t e n  days, but 

usual ly  you could f ind  a dealer  t h a t  would s e l l  you a t i r e ,  be ab le  t o  

sel l  you a tire. And t h e r e  always was these  re t reads  and recap t i r e s  

t h a t  would get  you over a temporary problem i n  almost every case, a l -  

though these  were not an i d e a l  so lut ion.  Many t i m e s  t h e  t reading w a s  

not a  good job, and t h e  carcass w a s  not r e a l  sound; you had t o  be care- 

f u l .  But w e  d i d  have a na t iona l  speed l i m i t  a t  t h a t  t i m e  of 35 miles 

per hour ! 

Q. I ' m  su re  t h e r e  was a black market. Was t h e r e  a thr iv ing black 

market around Central  I l l i n o i s ?  

A. Well, I guess the re  was r e a l l y  a t h r i v i n g  black market i n  scarce  

comodi t fes  everyplace. Now, a  thrivir ig black market i s  r e a l l y  j u s t  

tha t .  Percentagewise, how much of an e f f e c t  i t  had on the  d i s t r i b u t i o n  



and a v a i l a b i l i t y  of scarce  i t e m s  i s  a l i t t l e  d i f f i c u l t  t o  say, because 

as f a r  as I ' v e  ever been a b l e  t o  f ind  out ,  i n  even t h e  most: t i g h t l y  con- 

t r o l l e d  economy i n  t h e  d i c t a t o r  countr ies ,  the re  was and s t i l l  is, a 

black market. It was there .  I th ink,  however, i n  t h i s  country, t h e  end 

of t h e  war probably came a t  a time t h a t  choked off  t h e  very 1 k g e  and 

perhaps a d i sas t rous  black market. 

The syndicate had s o r t  of moved i n  on t h a t  and had begun t o  counterfe i t  

r a t i o n  evidences, both t h e  p l a s t i c  d isks  t h a t  I ta lked about a s  wel l  a s  

t h e  stamps. I know t h a t  w e  had u l t r a v i o l e t  lamps t o  examine some of 

these  th ings  with,  and t h e r e  were a good many sca re  s t o r i e s  as t o  i f  you 

needed meat stamps, wel l ,  they could be had a t  a c e r t a i n  p lace  for  cer- 

t a i n  conditions. And I th ink  t h i s  i s  probably t r u e .  Now, I th ink  i t ' s  

important t o  mention t h a t  t h e  war ended when t h i s  was beginning t o  be 

f e l t .  I th ink,  no doubt, t h a t  some people made a g rea t  d e a l  of money 

already. But t h e r e  was a movement on foot  t o  have included i n  t h e  law 

t h e  r i g h t  t o  conf iscat ion of any motor veh ic le  involved i n  handling black 

market commodities. That exltsts r i g h t  now, of course, with the Treasury 

Department i n  handling i l l i c i t  alcohol o r  o ther  contraband. When you 

pick it  up, you a l s o  conf iscate  t h e  car. And it was thought t h a t . t h i s  

might be a p r e t t y  sharp t u r n  f o r  those who were j u s t  casually t ranspar t -  

ing,  oh, sugar, meat, any other rat ioned commodities i n  t h e  back of t h e  

family car .  

Q. What did you do about automotive repa i r s?  I ' m  su re  t h a t  General 

Motors wasn't pu t t ing  out automotive parts f o r  o lder  ca r s .  How did  

somebody get  t h e i r  c a r  worked on? 



A. Well, you know, as a matter of f a c t ,  they ac tua l ly  weren't. They 

werenrt permitted, you know, t o  introduce new models. And most of t h e i r  

production, of course, was taken up i n  building tanks and other  w a r  

machines. But, a l l  of t h e  b ig  motor companies d id  a r a t h e r  thorough job 

of producing replacement p a r t s  f o r  o lder  ca r s .  There, too,  they weren't 

necessar i ly  on hand t h e  day you drove i n ,  but i n  most cases they could 

be acquired. 

Q. How many chi ldren did you have by t h i s  time? 

A. Well, t h a t ' s  p r e t t y  easy. I had four.  Our four th  ch i ld  was born 

t h e  New Year's Day following Pear l  Harbor, which was December 7,  1942. 

So I had four  during a l l  of t h e  war, because my f i f t h  ch i ld  was born i n  

1948, after the  war. 

Q. How did t h e  ra t ion ing  e f f e c t  your family? Did you have enough of 

everything? 

A. W e l l ,  it was kind of a pecu l i a r  th ing  i n  our case. For example, 

when they rat ioned coffee they na tu ra l ly  d id  not au then t i ca te  t h e  ra t ion-  

ing  f o r  chi ldren under . . . I don' t  know, t e n  o r  twelve years  of age. 

It was no problem i n  our household. Our chi ldren d idn ' t  then, and s t i l l  

don' t  drink coffee. But sugar w a s  something e l se .  Now, they got a f u l l  

measure of sugar i n  t h e i r  ra t ioning.  But w e  were then, and s t i l l  a r e  

q u i t e  a b i t  users  Gg sugar i n  heavy volume and w e  was always out of 

sugar. We never d i d  have enough sugar. ( laughter)  I don' t  th ink i t ' s  

poss ib le  f o r  us t o  have enough sugar, but nevertheless . . . 

Then they ra t ioned shoes. Now, shoes were a l s o  a problem t o  us because 



l i t t l e  chi ldren go through shoes very quickly. It was soon found, perhaps 

within s i x  months, c e r t a i n l y  within t h e  year, t h a t  t h e  ra t ioning of 

women and chi ldren 's  shoes was not productive, and they took shoes off  

ra t ioning.  So t h a t  was no longer a problem. Then we had t h e  ra t ion ing  

of meat. Children got t h e  f u l l  r a t i o n  of meat. Now, i n  t h i s  case w e  

were winners because we had more r a t i o n  stamps f o r  meat than we ac tua l ly  

wanted . 

Q. Could you t r a d e  stamps with somebody e l s e ,  or  did you have t o  use  

them? 

A. Technically, you w e r e  not supposed to .  

Q. --You had t o  keep your own book f o r  each person? 

A.   hat's r i g h t .  However, i f  you bought a s t eak  with r a t i o n s  stamps 

and made a,.birthday present  of it t o  someone, why that: was not necessar i ly  . " 

a v i o l a t i o n  of anything. 

Q. With t h e  p r i c e  con t ro l  going on i n  t h e  country, did t h e  qua l i ty  of 

the goods go down even though t h e  p r i c e  stayed t h e  same? 

A. Well, not  necessari ly.  There were many th ings  where t h e  q u a l i t y  or  

a b i l i t y  was never control l ing ,  such as l i t t l e  chi ldren 's  shoes. They 

were stamped out  of p l a s t i c s  o r  reclaimed mater ia ls  and one th ing  o r  

another. And they s t i l l  are.  Under p r i c e  control ,  t h e  g rea tes t  inequity 

occurred, perhaps, i n  t h e  f a i l u r e  of t h e  manufacturers t o  observe t h e i r  

t r a d i t i o n a l  p rac t i ces  i n  t h e  manufacture and t h e  d i s t r i b u t i o n  of t h e  

garments . 



For example, i n  chi ldren 's  garments, with many manufacturers it had been 

h i s t o r i c  for 50 per  cent  of t h e i r  l i n e  t o  be very inexpensive garments, 

then t h e  other 50 per cent--perhaps 10 t o  20 per  cent--would be a l i t t l e  

more expensive o r  a l i t t l e  more s t y l i s h  l i n e .  Another 20 pe r  cent were 

a l i t t l e  more expensive and a l i t t l e  more s t y l i s h ,  and t h e  l a s t  10 per  

cent  something super la t ive .  

When p r i c e  control  came, what most of t h e  manufacturers i n  t h e  garment 

business did-and t h i s  was not confined t o  chi ldren 's  garments, but it 

can be bes t  demonstrated here--was they discontinued t h e i r  cheaper items 

and manufactured only t h e i r  most expensive. What had been 10 per  cent 

of t h e i r  l i n e  turned i n t o  be 90 per cent of t h e i r  l i n e .  The enforcement 

of p r i c e  con t ro l  w a s  very d i f f i c u l t  there ,  because you w e r e  i n  a s o r t  of 

never-never land t h a t  involved such things a s  s t y l e  and such th ings  as 

f i t ,  It involved a g rea t  many things other than j u s t  durab i l i ty ,  and 

f o r  t h f s  reason, and i n  t h i s  way, manufacturers of garments of a l l  kinds, 

and other  th ings  besides,  discontinued t h e i r  bargain and cheaper p r i c e s  

and j u s t  used a11 of t h e i r  commodities t o  manufacture t h e i r  most expen- 

s i v e  l i n e .  And t h i s  was an imposition i n  more ways than one, because 

many times they were being issued scarce  commodities i n  t h e  amounts t h a t  

they had used before when the  qmjor p a r t  of t h e i r  production was f o r  

popular priced items. Now, they were using these  same scarce  commodities 

t o  manufacture only t h e  very expensive i t e m s .  

Q, You say you were i n  t h e  inves t iga t ing  departmmt of t h e  OPA? 

A. OPA, yes, t h a t ' s  r i gh t .  
. . 

Q. Was t h e  inves t iga t ing  department a l s o  t h e  a r r e s t i n g  department, or  d i d  



you have t o  go t o  t h e  l o c a l  a u t h o r i t i e s ,  then ,  t o  a r r e s t  t h e  fe l low f o r  

v i o l a t i o n  of var ious  laws? 

A. W e l l ,  a c t u a l l y ,  w e  d id  not  have t h e  power of a r r e s t  and we d i d n ' t  

want i t .  But this i s  n o t  t o  say  t h a t  we d i d  not  handle c r imina l  cases .  

In many a reas ,  i t  p a r t i c u l a r l y  had t o  do wi th  v i o l a t i o n s  of meat r a t i o n i n g  

and of t i re  and gaso l ine  r a t i o n i n g  c r imina l  cases .  Usually when we had 

a  s e r i o u s  case ,  a  major case ,  we would r e f e r  t o  t h e  United S t a t e s  Attorney,  

who would review i t  and who then  made t h e  dec i s ion  a s  t o  whether o r  no t  

t h i s  should be  presented t o  t h e  grand j u r y  f o r  p o s s i b l e  indictment ,  o r  

whether he would move on h i s  own motion on what t hey  c a l l  f i l e  and in fo r -  

mation. In  ocher  words, w e  d id  not  do t h e  a r r e s t i n g ,  bu t  we o f t e n  i n s t i -  

gated an a r r e s t .  The c r imina l  s i d e  of t h e  t h i n g  was a  minor s i d e  of our  

enforcement a c t i v i t i e s .  

W e  were empowered under t h e  P r i c e  Action t o  i n s t i t u t e  a c t i o n  and t o  s e t -  

t l e  without  a c t i o n  i f  t h e  sub jec t  and h i s  counsel  were ag reeab le -up  t o  

t h r e e  t i m e s  t h e  amount: of the v i o l a t i o n .  I n  o t h e r  words, w e  would de ter -  

mine t h a t ,  perhaps,  a  d e a l e r  i n  a c e r t a i n  commodity such as meat had dis -  

posed of a quani ty  of meat a t  over c e i l i n g  p r i c e s  i n  t h e  n e t  amount of $800. 

We could then  agree  wi th  him t o  s e t t l e  t h a t  upon t h e  payment of $2,400 a s  

a penal ty.  This  app l i ed  even i n  such t h i n g s  as r e s t a u r a n t  meals. They 

a l s o  had c e i l i n g s  i n  t h e  processed foods as w e l l  a s  m e a t  and t h i n g s  of 

t h a t  na tu re .  

Now our  only r e l i e f  i n  r a t i o n  cases ,  r e a l l y ,  was an in junc t ion .  There was 

no money r e l i e f  t h e r e .  I f  we determined someone w a s  d i s r ega rd ing  t h e  r a t i o n  

laws and were a l s o  convinced t h a t  w e  could no t  persuade him t o  s t o p ,  we 

would have ta g8 t o  t h e  United States Attorney who would ask the cour t  f o r  

qn injunct ion. .  Now, i f  he v i o l a t e d  t h e  in junc t ion ,  he would 
I f ,  , . .  



then be l i a b l e  f o r  criminal  pena l t i e s ,  or  sanctions,  as they say. 

Now on t h e  p r i c e  s i d e  of i t ,  i f  we determined someone was overcharging 

on t h e  pr ice ,  we did not go t o  the  United Sta tes  Attorney, but r a the r  

our own a t torneys  f i l e d  a c i v i l  s u i t  f o r  t h e  amount of damages i f  we 

couldn't adjus t  it o r  sett le it outs ide  of t h e  court .  But f o r  r a t i o n ,  

we had t o  get an in junct ion and then if t h e r e  is a v io la t ion  of t h e  

injunction,  we would have t o  go t o  the  United S t a t e s  Attorney again, who 

would take  it up a s  a criminal  thing.  

Q. What about t h e  farmers? How i n  t h e  world could you r a t i o n  a farmer's 

p ig  crop? 

A. We d idn ' t  even t r y .  

Q. You d idn ' t  go out and count h i s  pigs? 

A. No, no. T h i s  is  one th ing  about it: any farmer t h a t  r a i sed  pigs ,  

chickens, o r  whatever, and used them f o r  h i s  own use--which they h i s to r -  

i c a l l y  did--there was no attempt t o  govern that .  Perhaps he might 

s laughter  a few ex t ra  pigs for h i s  r e l a t i v e s  o r  f r i ends ,  but they were 

not i n  the  channels of commerce. We did not concern ourselves with tha t .  

It was an educational  program; w e  t r i e d  t o  convince them t h a t  i t  was a 

p a t r i o t i c  duty t o  help out  as much a s  they could. But where they f i r s t  

came t o  our a t t e n t i o n  would be when they entered what we ca l l ed  a primary 

d i s t r i b u t o r  thing,  which i s  where they went t o  a slaughterhouse o r  an 

auction sale where they handled them i n  commercial q u a n t i t i e s  and numbers 

of them. 



They were required t o  make out  r epor t s  and send t o  us.  So a t  t h a t  point  

they became our respons ib i l i ty ,  and a l s o  it became poss ib le  t o  exerc ise  

some control ,  because they would send i n  a report  which was r i g h t  o r  i t  

was wrong. If they kept sending i n  r e p o r t s  t h a t  were l i g h t ,  you could 

go make a check of it. And i f  they d idn ' t  send any repor t  a t  a l l ,  they 

were i n  v io la t ion ,  don't  you see. And once they had sent  i n  repor t s ,  

then t r ac ing  i t  through t h e  normal channels of processing and d i s t r ibu-  

t i o n ,  while i t  was d i f f i c u l t ,  i t  was not impossible because we had a 

good many people who had been ra ised  i n  t h e  meat production and market- 

ing,  s a l e s  and processing. While it was complicated, j u s t  l i k e  a l o t  of 

jobs, it was c e r t a i n l y  possible.  

Q. Were t h e r e  any ceilings placed on f a r m  commodity p r i ces?  

A.  Yes, the re  was, e i p e c i a l l y  on corn. I do not r e c a l l  now whether or  

not the re  was a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  on wheat, but t h e r e  was very, very d e f i n i t e l y  

a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  on corn, and t h i s  caused a g rea t  d e a l  of unrest  and a 

great  deal  of c r i t i c i sm.  

Q. What was t h e  c e i l i a g  p r i ce?  

A. Well, see, t h e  c e i l i n g  p r i c e s  were f igured i n  such a way t h a t  it  

was almost impossible t o  t e l l  because t h e r e  was an add-on pr ice .  A farmer 

would take a base p r i c e  which was a t  t h e  farm, and he was then permitted 

t o  add a c e r t a i n  markv  f o r  hauling it t o  t h e  e levator ,  which i n  tu rn  

was governed by t h e  moisture content and t h e  quality--whether i t  was 

graded--the q u a l i t y  and grade. .So it was impossible t o  say of any load 

of corn, without c e r t a i n  o ther  information, t h e  c e i l i n g  p r i c e  a s  such. 



I 
1 But t o  get t o  t h e  point ,  t h e  overa l l  average c e i l i n g  p r i c e  a t  a harge 

I 
loading point--which a l s o  had something t o  do with i t ,  whether i t  was 

loaded onto r a i l  o r  by barge along the  I l l i n o i s  o r  Miss iss ippi  River-- 

it seldom went above $1.07 a bushel. 

Q. What about meat? Was t h e r e  a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  placed on meat? 

A. Oh, indeed t h e r e  was. Now t h i s  was a very t r i c k y  thing. There was 

a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  on meat, but of course, meat can only be priced accord- 

ing t o  grade, a l s o ,  so t h a t  we had a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  on every d i f f e r e n t  

grade of meat. NOW, t h a t  doesn't  seem too tough, but then we a l s o  had 

i 
a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  on l i v e  animals. So we had t o  put a c e i l i n g  p r i c e  on 

l i v e  beef anlmals, f o r  example. To do t h a t ,  then, one had t o  be expert  1 enough t o  know t h a t  t h e  dressed carcass  would be a grade A,  B, C o r  D. 

This could tu rn  i n t o  a never-never land. It got p r e t t y  tough. But t h e  

remarkable th ing  about it i s  it can be done. 

I 

1 Q. If a person was known t o  have acquired a c e r t a i n  number of r a t i o n  

1 books, o r  maybe he wasn't shor t  anything--maybe he w a s  r a t h e r  a f f luen t  

and he d g h t  have bought c e r t a i n  th ings  from other  people, was t h i s  

I person l i a b l e  t o  be prosecuted? 

A. Yes, he was l i a b l e  t o ,  but t h e  element of proof was such t h a t  it 

would be almost impossible t o  do anything about it  without a confession. 

Q. I mean, suppose he  went i n t o  t h e  s t o r e  t o  buy something and someone 

was standing there and saw him and he had a whole pocketful of r a t i o n  

books, You couldn't prove t h i s ?  What would t h e  pena l t i e s  be f o r  sorne- 

th ing l i k e  t h i s ?  



A. Oh, the re  were criminal  p e n a l i t e s  f o r  it i f  you could prove i t ,  but 

j u s t  seeing it i n  h i s  possession. . , . F i r s t  of a l l ,  you would have t o  

prove t h a t  he got them i l l e g a l l y  and t h a t  they hadn't  been given t o  him 

o r  loaned t o  him by f r i e n d s  o r  employees t o  shop i n  t h e i r  name. The 

element of proof was very tough, and even though it  was wartime, and 

even though maybe a few l i b e r t i e s  were taken with people's r i g h t s ,  t h e  

element of proof as in te rp re ted  by t h e  cour t s  was very d i f f i c u l t .  It 

made these  kind of v i o l a t i o n s  almost impossible t o  do much about it. 

But you have got t o  remember now, a f t e r  a l l ,  i n  t h e  b ig  p ic tu re ,  t h a t  

much of a v i o l a t i o n  was not going t o  e f f e c t  t h e  o v e r a l l  supply and de- 

mand too  b ig ,  you know. I f  it had got ten  widespread, then they would 

have had t o  approach t h e  th ing  differently--perhaps t h e  Government take  

t i t l e  t o  a l l  t h e  s laughterable  animals. That 's been done i n  o ther  coun- 

tries, but here  they have t r i e d  not t o  do t h a t .  

Q. How much publ ic  support was the re  among t h e  people? Did t h e  people 

g r i p e  about i t  and complain about i t ,  o r  d id  they just t r y  t o  do i t ?  

A. For t h e  most p a r t ,  t h e r e  was g rea t  support and people bel ieved i n  i t  

and l ived  up t o  i t  and were happy t o  obey it with t h e  usual  reservat ion  

t h a t  t h e r e  was grea t  suspicion t h a t  somebody e l s e  was g e t t i n g  by with 

something. Everybody helped enforce t h e  act. (chuckles) 

9. Were t h e r e  a l o t  of complaints? 

A. hrpec ia l ly  on t i r e s  t h e r e  were. Nobody could understand how come 

t h e i r  neighbor got a new t i r e  and they was having t rouble .  ( laughter)  

That 's  t rue .  Good G Q ~ ,  I ' ve  seen more l e t t e r s ,  "You'd never be l ieve  how 



so-and-so got t i r e s , "  and, " H i s  son-in-law ga t  a t ire," and they knew 

t h a t  he got a t i r e  and took it  up t o  Aunt Minnie up a t  Galesburg, you 

know. 

Q. Now, you were with t h e  Division of Disbursments i n  Denver. How b i g  

was t h e  area t h a t  t h e  Denver o f f i c e  had j u r i s d i c t i o n  over? 

A. About twelve s t a t e s .  

Q. I f  you covered twelve s t a t e s  i n  t h i s  o f f i c e ,  d id  you run across 

some of t h e  vouchers t h a t  were from t h e  Japanese concentration camps, 

o r  I guess they were ca l l ed  re locat ion camps? 

A. Relocation cen te r s  they were ca l led .  I want t o  c l a r i f y  a l i t t l e  

something. See, I was i n  a regional  disbursing o f f i c e  and we d id  have 

t h e  j u r i s d i c t i o n  over t h e  s t a t e s  t h a t  I mentioned. But we a l s o  had 

subordinate o f f i c e s  ca l l ed  s t a t e  o f f i ces .  But t h e  s t a t e  o f f i c e s  were 

mostly f o r  specia l ized purposes, and we handled t h e  overa l l  general  pic- 

t u r e ,  But i n  espec ia l ly  those s t a t e s  t h a t  had heavy s a l a r y  payments 

f o r  r e l i e f  cases,  t h a t  s o r t  of th ing,  they opened up branches o r  s t a t e  

o f f i ces .  But i n  t h e  regional  o f f i c e s  w e  had t h e  supervision of the  pay- 

ments f o r  these Japanese re locat ion cen te r s  t h a t  were s e t  up r i g h t  a f t e r  

Pear l  Harbor. 

I r e c a l l  very, very v iv id ly  . . . well ,  I can r e c a l l  the  one a t  k c h e ,  

Colorado. I was i n  Denver a t  t h e  time, and t h a t  was t h e  c loses t  t o  us. 

Then the re  was one i n  Montana and I'm not: r e a l l y  su re  i f  i t  was a t  Helena 

o r  where i t  was. There w a s  a t  l e a s t  one other  i n  our immediate region 

where these  camps were set up f o r  t h e  people t o  live--the relocated 



Japanese people. Now, t h e r e  was one a t  Tule Lake i n  Ca l i fo rn i a ,  bu t  

t h a t  w a s  no t  pa id  out of our o f f i c e ,  bu t  w e  were cognizant of t h e  th ing .  

Tule Lake w a s  s a i d  t o  be  t h e  Japanese r e l o c a t i o n  c e n t e r  f o r  t hose  who 

were aggress ive  and h o s t i l e  and t h a t  might poss ib ly  be v i o l e n t .  Now 

t h e  o t h e r s ,  i n  Amache and up i n  Montana, they were mostly j u s t  t h e  

ord inary  Japanese who had been l i v i n g  on t h e  West Coast and were moved 

out of t h e r e  because of w a r  condi t ions .  They were housed i n  bar racks ,  

and i n  many cases ,  t h e  f a m i l i e s  were separa ted .  Some of t h e  family would 

be i n  one camp and some i n  another .  

Now, as w e  knew t h e  t h i n g  a t  t h e  t ime,  t h e  vouchers would go through 

t h e r e  and we would s e e  t h e  expenditures  f o r  t h e i r  maintenance. For ex- 

ample, many t h i n g s  had s o r t  of e x o t i c  names and t i t l e s  f o r  us.  They 

used t o  buy bundles of d r i e d  seaweed and t h i n g s  of t h a t  n a t u r e  t h a t  we 

weren't  used t o .  The Denver Post  newspaper a t  t h a t  t ime made a b i g  f u s s  

over  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  we were buying creamery butter--which w a s  a r a t ioned  

commodity--or t h a t  t h e s e  camps were buying i t ,  and we knew it was t r u e  

because t h e  vouchers were coming through our  o f f i c e  and were being paid.  

So a s  f a r  as I could t e l l ,  when they  r e loca t ed  the Japanese, t h e  shock, 

of being d i s l o c a t e d  and of even f a m i l i e s  being separa ted  was very,  very  

real, I f e e l  t h a t  they  were f e d  and housed and c lo thed  adequately without 

ques t ion  on t h a t  score ,  

I b e l i e v e  t h e  name of t h e  n a t i o n a l  admin i s t r a to r  w a s  D i l lon  Myer. He 

had charge of t h i s  and i t  was i n d i r e c t l y  under t h e  superv is ion  of t h e  

Secre ta ry  of t h e  I n t e r i o r ,  which was Harold Ickes.  Ickes, of course,  w a s  



famous and had been f o r  many yea r s  as a g r e a t  progress ive  minded type  

person,  but  it was under t h e  Department of I n t e r i o r  t h a t  t h i s  func t ion  

was placed. 

And a f t e r  t hese  people were r e loca t ed ,  a determined e f f o r t  w a s  made t a  

adapt  them t o  t h e  world t h a t  was, and a number of them entered  t h e  United 

S t a t e s  Army, and o t h e r s  were r e c r u i t e d  t o  work i n  t h e  e a s t .  I be l i eve  

t h e r e  were, oh, q u i t e  a few hundred of them t h a t  ended up working i n  

Chicago i n  t h e  v a r i o u s  h o t e l s  and t h a t  s o r t  of thing.  So they weren't  

p r i sone r s  except that whi le  t hey  were i n  t h e  r e l o c a t i o n  c e n t e r s ,  t h a t ' s  

where they  had t o  l i v e  and they  had r u l e s ,  but  i f  jobs were a v a i l a b l e  

t o  them and they  were i n t e r e s t e d  i n  accept ing  them, they  were given t h e  

oppor tuni ty  t o  do so. 

Q. Were t h e r e  guards at t h e s e  pr i sons?  

A. I t h i n k  t h e r e  were. I'm not  p o s i t i v e .  I t h i n k  t h e r e  a c t u a l l y  were 

armed guards a t  t h e s e  p r i s o n s  t o  prevent  . . . well, l i t ' s  say  t o  main- 

t a i n  order .  

Q. What w a s  t h e  p u b l i c  sentiment toward t h i s ?  Was it well-known t h a t  

they  were l i v i n g  i n  t h e s e  camps? 

A. Oh, yes, it was very  well-known. Pub l i c  sent iment  w a s  "Good enough 

f o r  them. I f  we l eave  them on t h e  Coast t h e  Emperor of Japan w i l l  be  

here tomorrow.'' 

Q. You say  =Denver Post  was p r e t t y  upse t  w i th  t h e i r  e a t i n g  creamery 

b u t t e r .  
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A .  That ' s  r i g h t ,  and even g e t t i n g  t h e  shoes without  r a t i o n i n g  coupons-- 

t h i s  s o r t  of th ing .  

Q. But you say  they  were f e d  and housed adequately.  

A. I f e e l  s u r e  they  were. I never d i d  hear  any complaints.  

Q. What d id  t h e  people t h i n k  ought t o  be dane wi th  them? 

A. Of course,  people,  gene ra l ly ,  were f r igh tened .  Nobody seemed t o  be 

concerned t h a t  t h e s e  people had been taken from t h e i r  own homes and 

t h e i r  own proper ty ,  and many, of course,  had been forced  t o  s e l l .  

EM) OF TAPE 

Q. I n  t h e  e a r l i e r  t i m e s ,  what d i d  t h e  people a c t u a l l y  do f o r  e n t e r t a i n -  

ment ? 

A. Well, t h e  t h i n g  I remember mostly t h a t  a d u l t s  did--by a d u l t s ,  I mean 

s i x t e e n  o r  over--they played cards .  There w a s  an awful l o t  of card play- 

i n g  i n  almost every household, e s p e c i a l l y  i n  t h e  f a l l  and win ter  months 

when you'd s t a y  in s ide .  Everybody played cards.  They played p inochle ,  

they  played rum, and t h e r e  were some v a r i a t i o n s  of t ha t - -d i f f e r en t  card 

games, But t h e s e  card games I am t a l k i n g  about were r e a l l y  no t ,  oh, l i k e  

anything l i k e  gambling games o r  anything where you' d ge t  i n t o  any t r o u b l e  

f o r  t h e  most p a r t .  Natura l ly ,  t h e r e  was cons iderable  poker and o t h e r  

games played amongst people who l i k e d  t h a t ,  j u s t  as t h e r e  i s  now. But 

t h e  ord inary  househole--in t h e  evening a f t e r  t h e  evening meal was f i n i s h e d  

and everything-people gathered around, and a good many of them would read ,  



some might, perhaps, p l ay  a musical  instrument  f o r  t h e i r  own s a t i s f a c -  

t i o n ,  bu t  f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  they  would p l ay  cards.  

Oh, I remember one fami ly  I was good f r i e n d s  t o  about t h e  t ime I w a s  i n  

h igh  school.  W e  would go over t h e r e  and t h e  mother of t h e  family was 

such a much b e t t e r  card p l aye r  than  h e r  husband. H e  was a very  en thus i -  

a s t i c  card p l aye r ,  but  he  had a very  s h o r t  temper. And she  would almost 

always win and he  would always complain and denounce her  t a c t i c s  and claim 

she  wasn't  p lay ing  f a i r ,  and t h a t  i t  w a s  j u s t  a ma t t e r  of luck ,  no t  s k i l l ,  

and he  should have won. And we  would be i n  another  room and we'd take 

this a l l  down. They'd p lay  rum, f o r  example, and as you know, you f i l l  

i n  d i f f e r e n t  suits, you make combinations. And he 'd always say,  "Now, 

Mag, you knew I w a s  ho ld ing  hearts. Why d i d n ' t  you g ive  them? It j u s t  

i s n ' t  r i g h t  f o r  you no t  t o  g ive  m e  t hose  cards!" That ' s  j u s t  one of 

t h o s e  th ings .  

And then ,  of course,  people would go to  t h e  movies, people read--that 

kind of th ing .  Women would do handiwork o r  needlework o r  crochet ing;  

fe l lows  would do, oh, small jobs  around t h e  p l ace  i n  t h e  evening. But 

t h e  hand t o o l s ,  t h e  e l e c t r i c  t o o l s ,  were not  a s  e a s i l y  a v a i l a b l e  t hen  

as they  a r e  now. It 's no t  t o  say we d i d n ' t  have e l e c t r i c i t y ,  bu.t an  

e l e c t r i c  d r i l l  o r  an e l e c t r i c  s a w ,  or something of t h a t  kind c o s t s  a 

g r e a t  d e a l  more money. They j u s t  were no t  as e a s i l y  obtained.  You s u r e l y  

d i d n ' t  ge t  them i n  any d rugs t a re  o r  supermarket l i k e  you can now. 

Q. What about t h e  movies? What movies d i d  they  have i n  town a t  t h a t  

t ime? 



A .  These a r e  a l l  s i lent:  movies I am ta lk ing  about, you know. A t  one 

t i m e  they had i n  t h i s  town what they ca l led  a W.W. Watts Theaters. That 

consisted of th ree  thea te r s .  They w e r e  named t h e  Gaity, t h e  Princess 

and t h e  Vaudette. The Gaity i s  now t h e  Senate; t h e  Princess i s  now the  

Lincoln; and t h e  Vaudette has been to rn  down and a new building i s  on 

t h e  s i t e .  

Q. Where is  t h a t ?  

A.  It was, ac tua l ly ,  almost on t h e  corner of F i f t h  and Monroe. It would 

be about where Sandy's res taurant  i s  the re  now. Now across t h e  s t r e e t  

from t h a t ,  on F i f t h  S t r e e t ,  was a t h e a t e r  ca l l ed  t h e  Lyric. Now t h e  

Lyric came c lose  t o  being t h e  f i r s t  air-conditioned t h e a t e r  t h a t  w e  had. 

It didn ' t  have t r u e  a i rcondi t ioning,  but it had a real strong e l e c t r i c  

fan system t h a t  they used, and they stayed open i n  t h e  summertime. Many 

of t h e  o ther  thea te r s  t h a t  I have j u s t  mentioned t o  you, they would close 

i n  t h e  summer months. 

But i n  addi t ion  t o  t h e  Lyric and these  I have mentioned, we have down- 

street, what is now t h e  Roxy was t h e  Majestic. The Majestic was t h e  home 

base f o r  a l l  t h e  vaudevi l le  shows t h a t  came t o  town. They were very 

popular. They had matinees almost every day, as wel l  a s  one program, 

a t  l e a s t ,  i n  t h e  evening. And a l l  t h e  vaudevil le  headliners of t h e  day 

came there .  The Majestic was very important i n  t h e  t h e a t r i c a l  scheme 

of th ings  i n  Springfield a t  t h a t  time. Even a s  a small boy, I remember 

my parents taking me t o  see  t h e  shows there, and I was g rea t ly  impressed 

because the re  were l i v e  people on t h e  stage.  



Then, i n  addi t ion  t o  t h a t ,  we had over on Sixth S t r e e t  a l ineup of thea te r s .  

About where  ernd don's s t o r e  i s  now, was a thea te r  t h a t  ca l l ed  i t s e l f  t h e  

Royal. And then f u r t h e r  on down t h e  street, towards t h e  Marine Bank, j u s t  

on t h e  south s i d e  of t h a t  alley--no, it was r e a l l y  on t h e  nor th  s i d e  of 

t h a t  alley--in f a c t ,  i t  was p a r t  of what is  now t h e  Marine Bank parking 

l o t ,  was a t h e a t e r  ca l l ed  t h e  Savoy. And r i g h t  on the  very carrier--it 

was within twenty f e e t  of that--was a much l a r g e r  building then, ca l l ed  

t h e  Strand. That building remained the re  u n t i l  within the  last t e n  years. 

Then on down Sixth Street--that is ,  across Washington S t ree t  on t h e  nor th  

s i d e  of Washington and on t h e  w e s t  side of Sixth S t r e e t ,  a t  t h e  f i r s t  

a l l e y  intersection--was a thea te r  ca l led  t h e  Amuse-U. Then on Washington 

S t r e e t ,  t o  the eas t  of Sixth S t r e e t ,  what is now . . . it  has a d i f f e r e n t  

name now; I th ink  i t ' s  cal led  t h e  New Arcs o r  something l i k e  t h a t .  It 

was for  many years known a s  the Sta te ,  but i n  those days i t  had even an- 

o ther  name, it was s t i l l  another theater .  It i s  s t i l l  operated the re  

now, as one of these  modern . . . oh, one of these  f l e s h  f l i c k s ,  t h a t ' s  

what i t  is. 

Q. I th ink  i t ' s  t h e  Cinema A r t s ,  i s n ' t  i t ?  

A. Cinema A r t s ,  t h a t ' s  r i g h t .  That 's correc t .  Then w e  had a couple of 

neighborhood t h e a t e r s  on North Grand Avenue between Eighth and Ninth. 

We had t h e  Pantheon, and a t  approximately Eleventh and South Grand av- 

enues, we had . . . I think i n  those  days it was ca l l ed  t h e  Empress. It 

was la ter  changed t o  t h e  Southtown. These a r e  a l l  s i l e n t  movies I am 

t a l k i n g  about. Without exception, they l a t e r  became ta lk ing  movies, 

excepting f o r  t h e  Amuse-U and t h e  Savoy and t h e  Royal. I bel ieve  they 



closed down a t  about t h e  time t a lk ing  movies came i n t o  being. 

The f i r s t  t a lk ing  movie I have any reco l l ec t ion  of was down a t  t h e  Lyric 

Theater there ,  oh F i f t h  S t r e e t  j u s t  north of Monroe. And A 1  Jolson was 

t h e  s t a r  of i t ,  and I th ink t h e  name of t h e  show was -- The Jazz Singer. 1 

know t h a t  t h a t  was t h e  f i r s t  show, t h e  f i r s t  thea te r ,  t o  show a t a lk ing  

movie, and I know t h a t  they had two, another one l a t e r  by A1 Jolson, but 

I can ' t  remember t h e  name of t h e  thing. But they had t h e  f i r s t  two task- 

ing  movies shown i n  town. And I ' m  p r e t t y  su re  tha t  t h i s  was i n  1928, 

because a t  t h a t  time, t h e  job t h a t  I was working on ca l l ed  f ~ r  me t o  r i d e  

the s t r e e t c a r  through town, and I would go by t h e  Lyric and look a t  t h e i r  

b i l lboard  t o  see  what was playing and wondered j u s t  how those  t a l k i n g  

movies were. I remember very v ividly ,  i t  was A 1  Jolson. I remember t h e  

song of one of those f i r s t  two shows was one ca l l ed ,  "Sonny Boy" t h a t  

he  sang, and had a g rea t  dea l  of success with it a t  t h a t  t i m e .  

Q. About how of ten  d i d  people go t o  t h e  show or  go t o  t h e  movies? 

A. That, of course, varied g rea t ly  by family. There were many people 

who made it a point  t o  go t o  t h e  movies at  l e a s t  once a week. I would 

th ink  t h a t  t h a t  was probably t h e  custom of a l o t  of people, i f  not t h e  

majority. Then the re  were o thers  who would go twice a week, more o r  

less on a schedule, but then, of course, t h e r e  were fana t i c s  l i k e  t h e r e  

a r e  now, who would t r y  t o  see  every change a l l  t h e  time. 

Thaw the Orpheum Theater was being b u i l t  i n  1925. I th ink  i t  ac tua l ly  

opened for business i n  about Apr i l  of 1927 and, of course . . . t h e  f a c t  

of the matter  is ,  i t  was, and it i s  s t i l l  t h e  grandest: thea te r  t h i s  t o m  



ever did have. It was designed and b u i l t  t o  be a thea te r ,  It seated 

3,800 people. It was concrete and s t e e l  construction.  It had a very 

e labora te  lobby with mirrors,  and t h e  lobby was about four s t o r i e s  t a l l .  

There were b ig  chandeliers  and t h e  f l o o r s  were carpeted, t h e  ushers were 

uniformed. Having been an usher t h e r e  myself, I remember a good deal  

about t h i s .  The f a c t  of the  matter is, 1 worked t h e r e  a s  an usher from 

September of 1927 u n t i l  j u s t  a f t e r  t h e  Christmas season, o r  j u s t  a f t e r  

New Year's of 1928. I remember so  very wel l ;  t h e  thea te r ,  of course, a t  

t h a t  time was s t i l l  very new, and t h a t  was t h e  first place i n  Springfield 

t h a t  had a combination of vaudevil le  and movies. 

When it opened up, t h e  movies were s t i l l  s i l e n t ,  too. They would open 

a t  1:20 i n  t h e  afternoon. The doors opened sooner than t h a t ,  and they 

had shor t  f ea tu res  and th ings ,  but your &in fea tu re  came on a t  1:20 i n  

t h e  afternoon. It played, and then they repeated t h a t  f ea tu re .  And then 

t h e  f i r s t  of t h e  vaudevil le  shows--they had two each evening--the f i r s t  

of t h e  vaudevi l le  shows would then come on, so  t h a t  i f  you came i n  any 

t i m e  during those  f i r s t  two shows, you remained and saw t h e  vaudevil le  

show, a t  which time you l e f t .  And t h e  l a s t  vaudevi l le  show came on l a t e r ,  

about 8:00 p.m., so  t h a t  they had a movie before and a f t e r  each vaudevil le  

show. 

They had some very good a c t s  the re ,  and, oh, some people who l a t e r  became 

very famous played t h e  Orpheurn Theater. Paul  Whiteman was t h e r e  . . . 
gosh, I wish I could remember more of them. Ken Murray was there.  Later ,  

he made some . . . i n  t h i  f i r s t  days of t e l ev i s ion ,  i n  f a c t ,  he got t o  be 

p r e t t y  famous with a show or ig ina t ing  on t h e  West Coast ca l l ed  "Ken 



Murray's B l a c k o u t s . ' ~ l a c k o u t - - t h a t ' s  t h e a t r f c a l  t a l k  f o r  r e a l  g rea t  

jokes t h a t  t ake  t h e  p lace  by storm. ( laughter)  I can't remember j u s t  

offhand exact ly  who e l s e  headlined e i t h e r  a t  the  Orpheum o r  a t  t h e  Ma- 

j e s t i c ,  because t h e  Majest ic  a l s o  had some vaudevi l le  shows during t h a t  

time. But those  were t h e  b ig  dea l s ,  and t h e  big n igh t s  were Saturday 

and Sunday n igh t s  i n  both those  t h e a t e r s .  

Q. What about radio?  When d i d  r ad io  f i r s t  come around here,  and when 

did  people s t a r t  l i s t e n i n g  t o  i t  with any grea t  enthusiasm? 

A. Well, l e t ' s  see. You have t o  kind of put it together  t h i s  way: I 

can remember, a f t e r  World War I, hearing aome t a l k  of t h e  wire less .  And, 

of course, w e  a l l  knew and had read and &rd even taught i n  school of 

sh ips  a t  sea  and armies and governments t h a t  could communicate by using 

t h e  Morse Code by wi re less  as though it were te legraph,  but: without the  

w i r e s .  I can also remember, as a small boy, having var ious  houses pointed 

out  t o  me by o the r s  who s a i d  t h a t  i n  t h a t  house was a person who had h i s  

own wire less ,  and he could send and rece ive  messages. I guess w e  c a l l  

them what we c a l l  hams. 

But t h e  f i r s t  r a d i o  t h a t  I remember hearing myself--I remember t h i s  very 

clearly-- i t  was during t h e  Democratic convention i n  t h e  summer of 1924. 

It was down on Seventh and Washington streets i n  t h e  s a l e s  room por t ion  

of a t i r e  s a l e s  and r e p a i r  shop. The door was always open and they had 

a radio  on t h a t  you could hear ,  and people would gather a t  t h e  open door 

j u s t  t o  hear  it. I was carry ing newspapers a t  t h e  time, and on my way 

down t o  t h e  newspaper o f f i c e  i n  t h e  afternoon,  I would s top  by t h e r e  and 

j o i n  t h e  h a l f - c i r c l e  of people around the door, j u s t  t o  hear  this .  I 



thought i t  was t h e  g r e a t e s t  th ing going. 

I happen t o  know t h a t  it was the Democratic convention because as a 

newsboy a t  t h e  time, I would be met i n  t h e  evening by a g rea t  many of 

my subscribers,  t o  ask had they chosen anybody a t  t h e  convention. No 

one could have cared less than I did  i f  they never chose anybody, but  

I was very glad when they f i n a l l y  did s o  t h a t  my customers would not be 

wait ing f o r  me  t o  br ing them t h e  paper. 

But I do know t h a t  i t  was during t h e  convention of 1924 when A 1  Smith 

and William Gibbs McAdoo deadlocked t h e  convention. A t  t h a t  time, t h e  

r u l e  t o  secure t h e  nomination of t h e  Democratic Party ca l led  f o r  a 

two-thirds vote,  and ne i the r  A 1  Smith, who was Governor of New York, o r  

McAdoo could get the  two-thirds vote,  and they therefore  deadlocked t h e  

convention. The r e s u l t  w a s  t h e  convention l a s ted ,  oh, I don' t  know, a 

week o r  more, and i t  took a t  l e a s t  105 b a l l o t s ,  and it might have taken 

more. They eventually nominated John W. Davis f o r  President ,  but he 

w a s  nominated, well ,  simply t o  get  t h e  convention closed and out of t h e  

way. H e  was a Coolidge opponent a t  t h a t  time. Calvin Coolidge had suc- 

ceeded Warding when Harding died,  s o  t h i s  was when Coolidge ran. And 

Davis, of course, he  was from West Virginia,  and he was s a i d  t o  be a very 

a s t u t e  and a very i n t e l l e c t u a l  corporation lawyer, and a good s o l i d  Dem- 

ocrat, but he had never any chance of winning t h e  e lec t ion  i n  1924 be- 

cause of t h i s  very se r ious  s p l i t  i n  t h e  Democratic Party. 

Now t h a t  is  the f i r s t  t i m e  I know of a radio.  It was not long a f t e r  t h i s ,  

because t h i s  was i n  1924, t h a t  my Uncle Jake got a radio  a t  home. This 



was t h e  f i r s t  home rad io  I ever saw. And t h i s  radio,  t h e  name of the  

company, o r  t h e  name of t h e  brand, was Atwater Kent. The Atwater Kent 

Company, I guess, had manufactured various things.  I don't know i f  it 

was musical instruments o r  appliances o r  what, but it was not an unknown 

name i n  products because I know they made other  th ings  besides radios.  

But t h e  radio  they put out was not encased i n  any cabinet;  it was s o r t  

of on a board, perhaps e ight  inches wide by about four f e e t  long. Now, 

a l l  of t h e  working p a r t s ,  including t h e  tubes,  were open t o  view the re ,  

see.  Thus, when you turned t h e  knobs on t h e  thing,  you could see what 

was happening i n  t h e  back. And with t h e  s e t  came a s i l k e n  cover t h a t  

was used a s  a dus t  cover tha t  you put over t h i s  thing.  

Now t h e  radio ,  i t  had a loudspeaker, which was q u i t e  a g iant  s t e p  for- 

ward, because p r i o r  t o  that--although I had never used them, I understand 

other  people had--they were compelled t o  l i s t e n  through earphones. 

This Atwater Kent a l s o  had earphones s o  t h a t  you could l i s t e n  t o  it e i t h e r  

way--either through t h e  speaker o r  t h a t  G a r p h o n e a  . 

Another th ing I th ink important t o  mention is  t h a t  these  were ba t t e ry  

operated. There was no such th ing  as what w e  c a l l  an e l e c t r i c a l l y  operated 

set. They got t h e i r  power from b a t t e r i e s  r a the r  than from t h e  current .  

It ca l l ed  f o r  both dry b a t t e r i e s ,  which were ra the r  l a rge  A and B b a t t e r i e s ,  

and they a l s o  ca l l ed  f o r  w e t  b a t t e r i e s ,  j u s t  exact ly  l i k e  a six-volt  

b a t t e r y  i n  a car. This caused some complications, because they run t i d y  

i n  appearance, and t h e r e  was a c e r t a i n  r i s k  of t h e  ba t t e ry  ac id  from the  

wet bat tery .  Many holes  i n  rugs,  and i n  f u r n i t u r e ,  and i n  c lo th ing came 

about because of t h i s .  And more than t h a t ,  t h e  dry b a t t e r i e s  would l a s t  



f o r  seve ra l  weeks, but  t h e  wet b a t t e r i e s ,  i f  you were playing your radio  

very much, would only l a s t  a couple of days and you were up agains t  a 

I ' 

problem of taking it down and having i t  recharged. 

Q. Where did you get  it recharged a t ?  

A. Well, you could go t o  most any se rv ice  s t a t i o n  and have i t  recharged. 

It was nothing more than a automobile ba t t e ry .  However, t h i s  condit ion 

d idn ' t  l a s t  r e a l  long, although it was long enough t o  be recognized. 

Then they came up with a charger t h a t  you could plug i n  and connect r i g h t  

t o  the  ba t t e ry ,  thus  avoiding hauling it down t o  the  se rv ice  s t a t i o n .  

But t h i s  was not too  s a t i s f a c t o r y ,  because it s t i l l  ca l l ed  f o r  discon- 

nect ion  from t h e  s e t  while t h e  charging was i n  process. But then, they 

came up with what they c a l l  a t r i c k l e  charger, which you at tached t o  a 

l i g h t  plug and a t tached t o  t h e  b a t t e r y ,  i n  which then continued t o  re- 

supply the  b a t t e r y  a s  t h e  j u i c e  was being used out  of i t ,  you see.  Now, 

t h i s  turned i n t o  a g rea t  success. Also, t h i s  whole ba t t e ry  system was 

t h e  subjec t  of a good dea l  of imagination and work by people. People 

b u i l t  fancy cases t o  put t h e  b a t t e r y  i n ;  some housewives concealed them 

a s  p l a n t e r s  with ferns and th ings  of t h a t  kind on them, o r ,  oh, d raper i e s  

of one kind o r  another j u s t  t o  t r y  t o  conceal the  f a c t  t h a t  they were 

b a t t e r i e s .  Some of them had them on t a b l e s  with a shel f  under t h e  t a b l e ,  

and a l l  of t h i s  c o l l e c t i o n  of junk co l l ec ted  under there .  Nevertheless, 

t h a t ' s  how t h e  th ing  worked, and it  was s a t i s f a c t o r y .  

I can remember that i n  those  days, it was before network t e l e v i s i o n  as w e  

know it now, and t h e  b i g  subjec t  of conversation i n  t h e  1920's was what 



programs d id  you g e t .  Most everyone who had a  r a d i o  would t a l k  t o  t h e i r  

f r i e n d s  and say, "Oh, I got  I n d i a n a p b l h  last n igh t ,  'I or  "I got Shreve- 

p o r t ,  Louisiana," o r  "~ansas City came i n  c l ea r , "  and "st. Louis was 

very  f i n e .  " 

I t h i n k  a t  t h a t  t ime,  Sprfngf ie ld  only had one r a d i o  broadcas t ing  sta- 

t i o n ,  and t h a t  w a s  a  good d e a l  l a t e r  t han  t h e  t ime t h a t  I'm t a l k i n g  about.  

But t h e  f i r s t  such broadcas t ing  s t a t i o n  i n  Sp r ing f i e ld  w a s  WCBS. WCBS, 

t hose  c a l l  l e t t e r s  a r e  s t i l l  used by t h e  f l a g s h i p  s t a t i o n  of e i t h e r  t h e  

Nat iona l  B r o a d c a s t i n g  compand o r  Columbia Broadcasting System i n  New 

York City.  The Federa l  Communications Commission found it expedient  t o  

ask Spr ing f i e ld  t o  g ive  up t h e s e  c a l l  l e t t e r s  of WCBS, so  they  could be 

reassigned on t h e  e a s t e r n  seaboard, f o r  t e c h n i c a l  reasons,  I suppose. 

And they  came as c l o s e  t o  making t h a t  a l l  r i g h t  a s  they  could by sub- 

s t i t u t i n g  i n s t e a d  WCVS. One reason I remember t h i s  s o  c l e a r l y  i s  t h e  

r a d i o  s t a t i o n  had a s logan going a t  t h a t  t ime which wouldn't match up 

wi th  i t s  p re sen t  l e t t e r s ,  and the slogan was, "Who can bea t  Spr ingf ie ld?"  

That ' s  what WCBS was suppose t o  s tand  f o r .  

The first a l l  e l e c t r i c  r a d i o  t h a t  I r e c a l l ,  which means t h e r e  was no 

b a t t e r i e s  involved a t  all--it w a s  j u s t  l i k e  t h e  r a d i o s  are today; you 

brought it home and you plugged it i n  and played i t - - tha t  must have been 

a long  about i n  1930, o r  perhaps even a l i t t l e  l a t e r .  1 ' d  say  probably 

1930. The brand name of t h e  f i r s t  one I ever  heard of w a s  S t e i n i t e .  I 

know i n  those  days, i f  you had a  S t e i n i t e  r ad io ,  you were looked up t o ,  

o r  envied a l i t t l e  b i t .  

Q. What kind of programs d id  you ge t  on t h e s e  r ad ios?  



A. W e l l ,  f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  j u s t  about what you g e t  now, r e a l l y .  You 

got  a l o t  of dance music i n  t h e  evening and i n  t h e  l a t e  n ight .  I f a c t ,  

t h e  b i g  d e a l  was--as f a r  back as t h e  b a t t e r y  operated radios--was Coon 

Sanders and h i s  Kansas C i ty  Night Hawks. This  had t o  come direct from 

Kansas Ci ty ,  too ,  t h i s  wasn't on any chain,  you know. I f  you got  Coon 

Sanders and t h e  Kansas C i ty  Night Hawks, you got Kansas City! ( laughter )  

Down south  i n  Shreveport,  Louisiana,  t h e r e  was a man, I t h i n k  he c a l l e d  

himself Colonel Henderson, and he  w a s  t h e  f i r s t  airwave propagandist ,  o r  

e v a n g e l i s t ,  t h a t  I would r e c a l l .  When I say evange l i s t ,  I don' t  mean 

r e l i g i o u s .  H i s  cause was, "Down wi th  t h e  cha in  s t o r e s . "  H e  would ramble 

by the hour i n  t h e  l a t e  n igh t  hours  aga ins t  the  e f f e c t  on our  economy of 

cha in  stores. And he would name them. He was ,aga ins t  the A&P chain, 

and he  was a g a i n s t  any of t h e  o t h e r  g rea t  chaina. He accused them of be- 

i ng  bad f o r  bus iness ,  and of being d ishones t  i n  t h e i r  compet i t ive  t a c t i c s ,  

and thought t h a t  it w a s  a very  bad t h i n g  f o r  t h e  country and t h a t  any- 

body who pa t ronized  a cha in  s t o r e  was being d i s l o y a l  t o  h i s  o m  community 

and h i s  own f e l low people. 

Of course,  the broadcas t ing  of s p o r t i n g  even t s  came r i g h t  a long wi th  

r ad io .  The broadcas t ing  of p r i z e f i g h t i n g ,  f o r  example. The champion- 

s h i p  fights, everybody would l i s t e n  t o  t h a t ,  and t h e  broadcas t ing  of 

b a s e b a l l  games--it caught on immediately. Basebal l  games could a c t u a l l y  

be heard down t h e r e  a t  t h a t  Eighth and Washington t i r e  s t o r e  during t h e  

sumtner of 1924 when I w a s  t a l k i n g  about t h e  Democratic convention. The 

f f r s t  announcer I eve r  heard whose name I remember, who broadcast  base- 

b a l l  games, was a man who broadcast  from S t .  Louis a t  t h a t  time. His 



name was P r a m  Laux. I t h i n k  h e ' s  s t i l l  l i v i n g .  I s a w  r e fe rence  t o  

him i n  a Sunday paper not  t o o  many yea r s  ago, and I always thought he 

d id  an  e x c e l l e n t  job of broadcas t ing  t h e  b a s e b a l l  game, r e a l l y .  

The f i r s t  newscasters  t h a t  I remember, and I don ' t  know i n  what o rde r ,  

bu t  I know a t  one time t h e  b igges t  name i n  newscasting was a man by 

t h e  name of Graham McNamee. He was e a s i l y  t h e  b igges t  name i n  newscast- 

i n g  t h e r e  i n  t h e  e a r l y  1930's and l a t e  1920's. Then, I t h i n k ,  even 

be fo re  him w e  had a man by t h e  name of Floyd Gibbons. Now, Floyd Gibbons, 

I th ink ,  was t h e  very  first newscaster t h a t  was n a t i o n a l l y  recognized. 

Then l a t e r  on, t h e r e  was another  one--he t a l k e d  wi th  a c l ipped  B r i t i s h  

accent--and t h a t  was a man by t h e  name of Boake Car te r .  There was Graham 

McNamee and Boake Car t e r  and Floyd Gibbons and, w e l l ,  of course,  a good 

d e a l  l a t e r ,  during World War 11, w a s  Gabr ie l  Beater ,  t h a t  would always 

start off  every broadcast  wi th ,  "There is good news tonight .  W e  have 

j u s t  l earned  t h a t  t h e r e  is  going t o  be anough orange j u i c e  f o r  t h e  r e s t  

of t h e  win ter ,  bu t  I have a l s o  j u s t  l earned  t h a t  w e  have l o s t  t h r e e  s h i p s  

and f i f t e e n  thousand men off  t h e  coast of Iceland." ( l augh te r )  You've 

got some good news, and got  some bad news. But he always s t a r t e d  

out  w i th ,  "There's good news tonight ."  Everybody would l i s t e n  t o  him. 

I t h i n k  he passed away j u s t  a couple of yea r s  ago. They called him the  

Great Gabbo or  something l i k e  t h a t .  

Q. What about the enter tainment  programs? When d i d  they  start o f f  wi th  

some of the  en ter ta inment  programs we have a l l  heard o f?  

A. They were s o  gradual ,  I can ' t  t e l l .  I know t h e  first ones t h a t  I 



r e c a l l  g e t t i n g  r e a l l y  i n t e r e s t e d  in--Jack Benny is  one, one of the very 

f i r s t  ones. A t  t h e  same t i m e  was Fred Allen. I always, and I s t i l l  do 

th ink  t h a t  Fred Allen was probably t h e  g rea tes t  comedian t h a t  was ever on 

t h e  a i r .  1 recall one time he introduced a guest over t h e  a i r .  He in t ro-  

duced him, and he sa id ,  "This i s  so-and-so. ~ e ' s  t h e  star of s t age ,  

screen and telephone." ( laughter)  That never d id  leave me. A t  any r a t e ,  

then a f t e r  Jack Benny . . . w e l l ,  a t  about the  same time . . . no, it 

was a good dea l  l a t e r  than t h a t  before  Bob Hope came along, but he d id  

come along afterwards and became a weekly fea ture .  Then on the  comedy 

s i d e ,  o r  t h e  non-musical s ide ,  a l s o ,  was Fibber McGee and Molly. They 

were g rea t  f a v o r i t e s  of mine f o r  many a year. 

Then, of course, t h e r e  was Bob Burns, who played what he c a l l e d  a bazooka 

contrapt ion  made from a bathroom plunger and a sec t ion  of p ipe ,  some- 

th ing  l i k e  t h a t .  He came from Pine Ridge, Arkansas, I th ink.  O r  maybe 

he s a i d  Pine Bluff ,  Arkansas. H e  used t o  always t a l k  about h i s  home town 

down the re  i n  Arkansas. Besides t h a t ,  t h e r e  were s o  many of them, of 

course. There was Lum and Abner, of course. And, of course, Kate Smith 

had a weekly- program. And t h e r e  was Singing Sam t h e  Barbarsol man. I 

remember him so  very, very well. And, of course, there were some of these  

adventure shows l i k e  The Lone Ranger. Some of these  mystery programs, 

l i k e  . . . I can ' t  remember t h e  name of them now. The Shadow, I th ink ,  

w a s  one. And I th ink  they had a couple of o the r s ,  l i k e  . . . oh, I can ' t  

remember t h e  names of them, but they were detect ive-type shows, you know. 

Of course, t h e  broadcast of th ings  l i k e  we already said--sports,  l i k e  the  

World Ser ies ,  f o o t b a l l  games, basebal l  games, and a l l  t h a t  s t u f f .  1 



remember very v iv id ly  t h e  World Ser ies  i n  Chicago i n  1932 when Babe 

Ruth made his grea t  home run a f t e r  t e l l i n g  t h e  crowd i n  advance t h a t ' s  

what: he was going t o  do. I know t h a t  was i n  the  World Ser ies  i n  1932. 

Q .  About when did  they start these  programs? Can you give me a rough 

guess? For instance,  Fibber McGee? 

A. Y e s ,  I can. Eddie Canter was one t h e  f i r s t  na t iona l ly  syndicated 

shows, and I would say t h a t  must have been i n  1930. It might have been 

a shade before. I n  addi t ion  t o  Eddie Canter, t h a t  very same year. . . . 
W e l l ,  of course, W i l l  Rogers had a one-man show every Sunday night  f o r  

a couple of years a t  about t h e  same t i m e .  So, on Sunday night  you could 

hear Eddie Canter and you could hear W i l l  Rogers. I don't  know exact ly  

what o thers  t h e r e  were. They began t o  r e a l l y  mushroom around 1928. I 

can ' t  remember t h e  names of a l l  of them, but I f e e l  sure  t h a t  Canter and 

W i l l  Rogers and some of t h e  o thers  were i n  t h e  l a t e  1920's &hen t h e g  

r e a l l y  s t a r t e d .  But some of them, of course, s t a r t e d  a s  one th ing  and 

changed t o  another. 

II 
The Amos and Andy showdthat ran  f o r  so  many years  ac tua l ly  s t a r t e d  out a s  

rl rl  
a l o c a l  show i n  Chicago under t h e  name of Sam and Henry. They f e l l  out 

with the  owner of t h e  show, which I th ink was t h e  Chicago Tribune Company 

which owned and operated t h e  radio  s t a t i o n  WGN. So when they wouldn't: 

get together  on terms, it developed t h a t  t h e  t i t l e  name of t h e  show,'sam 
I 

II 
and Henry, was t h e  property of t h e  s t a t ion .  So they j u s t  f e l l  out and 

I' 11 
then renamed the show Amos and Andy and went on. 

It was a t  t h i s  t i m e  t h a t  t h e  change began t o  develop. I th ink  it was i n  



1928 when the networks, really . . . no, it was a little earlier than 
that, perhaps as early as 1927. At any rate, let's say in the middle 

1920's. At first they were called Blue and Red networks. They were all 

under the same ownership. I think the Federal Communications Commission 

published an edict, or brought some sort of authority to bear so that 

they became divorced, and out of them developed what I suppose is now 

the National and Columbia Broadcasting systems. ' There are a lot of 
technicalities involved in that. All I really know is the first net- 

works I ever heard of was the Blue Network and the Red Network. And, of 

course, these various shows were carried on according to which kind, 

like they'd say Bob Hope was on the Blue Network on Mondays, or Fibber 

McGee's an the Red Network on Tuesdays, or whatever that would be. 

Q. Now, you've mentioned already that card playing was home entertainment, 

and, of course, radio was, too. Was there anything else that people did 

when they'd get together? 

A. Yes, there was. The fact of the matter is, it still survives to a 

very limited degree, but when I was a youngster it was very popular. Maybe 

.it was because I came from a large family, but playing a musical instru- 

ment in the home, or gathering at the home of relatives on a Sunday even- 

fng where people would bring their own musical instruments and play was 

a very big thing, especially in the fall and winter when it was more 

livable in the house. It was comfortable there. It wasn't too hot. I 

know my relatives--some uncles and aunts that I had--on Sunday nights, 

most any Sunday night there would be a gathering there of people. Some 

l~ational Broadcasting Company and the Columbia Broadcasting System 



would br ing  a v i o l i n ,  some would br ing  a mandolin, even, and some would 

play t h e  piano, some even E o u l d  p l a g  j u s t  a french harp. 

These were j u s t  p r e t t y  much regu la r  gatherings,  and everyone . , . oh, 

I wouldn't say everyone by any means, but i n  every group t h e r e  were a 

number of people who could and were w i l l i n g  t o  play a musical instrument. 

And, of course, a l o t  of s inging went on a s  w e l l .  That w a s  r e a l l y  p r e t t y  

much of a staple f o r  f a l l  and win te r  entertainment, e spec ia l ly  before 

radio ,  because a f t e r  t h a t  i t  began t o  diminish. I f  you wanted music, 

t h e r e  w a s  a dance band you could t u r n  on, and it  j u s t  l o s t  i t s  importance. 

I n  t h e  summertime, of course, t h e r e  was always s o r t  of outdoors things-- 

not  s o  much a t  n igh t ,  because a t  n ight  you can ' t  hardly do s o  many th ings  

outdoors. Oh, I am th inking of a l l  kinds of things--croquet, o r  t h e r e  

a r e  a l o t  of outdoor games, p i tching horseshoes. You can j u s t  play a- 

round. Sometimes t h e  o l d s t e r s  would do t r i c k s  of one kind o r  another, o r  

they'd demonstrate that: they could jump higher than someone e l s e  o r  some- 

th ing  of t h a t  kind, o r  encourage t h e  youngsters t o  pu t  on the  boxing gloves. 

Sometimes t h e  gloves weighed about as much as t h e  k ids ,  you know--that 

kind of thing.  It was j u s t  more s o c i a l i z i n g ,  more person-tp-person in- 

volvement the re .  It w a s  r e a l l y  t rue .  And inc iden ta l ly ,  these  gatherings 

I ' m  t a l k i n g  about were not  sparked by any a lcohol ic  fuel. I f  you wanted 

a dr ink ,  you got  lemonade o r  a g l a s s  of milk and t h a t  was it. 

Q. "What's t h e  most: memorable th ing you can remember from your r ad io  

programs-the e a r l y  ones and so  f o r t h ?  

A. Well, I don't  know. Over t h e  years I ' ve  had a grea t  many. I was 



l i s t e n i n g  t o  t h e  r a d i o  when t h e  German de r igab le  caught on f i r e  and ex- 

ploded, and I can remember t h e  ho r ro r  i n  t h e  voice  of t h e  announcer. He 

had been going along smoothly descr ib ing  t h e  docking of t he  g i a n t  a i r -  

s h i p  a s  i t  came i n ,  when a l l  of a sudden, it took f i r e  and burned r i g h t  

before  h i s  eyes. And he was r e a l l y  unable t o  t e l l  you about i t .  It was 

r i g h t  t h e r e  i n  f r o n t  of him, you know, and t h i s  was c e r t a i n l y  such a 

g r e a t  shock and s u r p r i s e  t o  him. And i t  made such a very d e f i n i t e  im- 

p ress ion .  

Q. Was t h i s  t h e  Hindenburg d i s a s t e r ?  

A. That ' s  r i g h t ,  t h a t ' s  t he  one, yes. I remember i t  so well .  A t  t h a t  

t h e  I was l i v i n g  out: i n  V i rg in i a ,  w e l l ,  actually n o t  f a r  from . . . w e l l ,  

I had an  Alexandria,  a i r g i n i J  mai l  route ,  bu t  I was c l o s e r  t o  F a l l s  

Church E i r g i n i g .  Not t h a t  t h a t  makes any d i f f e rence .  ( l augh te r )  

But then,  of course,  t h e  news of the a t t a c k  of P e a r l  Harbor, I remember 

t h a t  s o  very c l e a r l y .  B u t  even wi th  a l l  of t h a t ,  and t h e r e  were some 

o t h e r s ,  too ,  bes ides  t h e  a t t a c k  on P e a r l  Harbor, and c e r t a i n l y  Roosevel t l s  

speech when he  announced we were a t  war was very ,  very  moving and made 

a tremendous impression on me. And, oh, various e l e c t i o n  v i c t o r i e s  and 

some s p o r t i n g  events .  But t h e  th ing ,  probably, t h a t  impressed me the 

most t h a t  I ever  heard by r a d i o ,  was long a f t e r  r a d i o  had passed out a s  

t h e  leading  form of communication. It had been superceded by t e l e v i s i o n .  

I ' m  t a l k i n g  about t h e  announcement t h a t  John F. Kennedy had been a s sas s i -  

nated.  Where I was, t h e r e  was no t e l e v i s i o n ,  and t h e  announcement came 

by r ad io .  And f o r  t h e  next two hours ,  every bit of information t h a t  I 

had on t h i s  event  came t o  me by rad io .  



I was s i t t i n g  i n  t h e  o u t e r  o f f i c e  of t h e  genera l  o f f i c e s  of t h e  Steak 

and Shake i n  Bloornington, wai t ing  f o r  t h e  person t h a t  I wanted t o  s e e  

r e t u r n  from lunch. It was a r a iny  day--by t h e  way, t h a t  w i l l  be j u s t  

about n i n e  years  ago--and I d i d n ' t  want t o  go and g e t  my own lunch u n t i l  

I had concluded t h i s  t a l k  I had l i n e d  up. It r e a l l y  wasn't  an appoint- 

ment, I j u s t  had t o  get some information from t h i s  i nd iv idua l .  While I 

was wai t ing  there--I guess i t  must have been s h o r t l y  before  one otclock-- 

a young lady r an  through t h e  o f f i c e ,  and I was t h e  only occupant,  and 

she  shouted, "~ennedy  has been assass ina ted!"  Well, I couldn ' t  be l i eve  

my e a r s .  She kept on going, and she  went on u p s t a i r s  t o  t h e  o t h e r  o f f i c e s  

of t h e  company--this w a s  a l a r g e  place.  So I followed her .  And t h e  

p l ace  had been l i k e  a morgue, j u s t  no a c t i v i t y ,  no t  even phones r ing ing ,  

no sound a t  a l l .  And much t o  my s u r p r i s e ,  a l l  of a sudden t h e r e  must 

have been a t  l e a s t  a dozen r ad ios  made t h e i r  appearance. 

I ' v e  always been i n t e r e s t e d  i n  t h a t ;  they  had them i n  t h e i r  desks o r  i n  

t h e i r  l ocke r s  o r  something, when a l l  of a sudden, i t  seemed l i k e  every- 

one had a r ad io .  And everyone, they  gathered around i n  l i t t l e  knots  a t  

t hese  r ad ios  t o  keep up wi th  what was going on. Of course,  everyone was 

q u i t e  shocked, and more than  t h a t ,  t h e  f i r s t  news t h a t  came was f rag-  

mentary and it w a s  l a r g e l y  rumor, and i t  suggested a l o t  of t h ings  and 

caused a l o t  of worr ies  a s  t o  whether t h i s  was a l o c a l ,  o r  p a r t  of a 

planned nationwide movement, o r  whether he had a c t u a l l y  l o s t  h i s  l i fe - -  

a l l  t h e s e  th ings .  I must have s tayed  t h e r e ,  probably, two hours o r  two 

hours  and a h a l f .  I s tayed  t h e r e  w e l l  a f t e r  t h e  o f f i c i a l  announcement 

came through t h a t  M r .  Kennedy had died. I remember t h a t  so  wel l .  I 



suppose t h a t  t h a t ' s ,  by f a r ,  t h e  t h i n g  t h a t  was t h e  most newsworthy, o r  

t h e  most memorable event  t h a t  I ever had back on rad io .  

Q. How about t e l e v i s i o n ?  When d id  you s e e  your f i r s t  t e l e v i s i o n ?  

A. You know, I'm p r e t t y  s u r e  t h a t  I f i r s t  saw it  i n  1947. I was working 

i n  Sp r ing f i e ld ,  and i t  was r i g h t  a f t e r  t h e  war. I b e t t e r  change t h a t ,  I 

t h i n k  it w a s k i n  1946, and I had t o  go t o  Chicago t o  a meeting. And t h e  

meeting w a s  he ld  in what was c a l l e d  the  War I n d u s t r i e s  Building,  which 

w a s  l oca t ed  on t h e  corner  of Frankl in  and Jackson boulevards.  And down- 

s t a i r s ,  and ac ros s  t h e  street--no, i t  wasran t h e  same s i d e  of t h e  streefy- 

r i g h t  near  t h a t  bu i ld ing ,  was a  r e s t a u r a n t  c a l l e d  The J o l l y  Chef, and we 

would go out  f o r  co f f ee  t o  t h a t  p lace ,  and they had a t e l e v i s i o n  s e t  i n  

t he re .  To me ,  t h a t  just seemed l i k e  a  wonder of wonders. To a c t u a l l y  

s i t  t h e r e ,  e s p e c i a l l y  when I s a w  my f i r s t  b a l l  game, I would s i t  t h e r e  

and j u s t  marvel. You could see t h a t  p i t c h e r  wind up, and you could s e e  

t h a t  b a l l  go a l l  t h e  way t o  t h e  p l a t e  and s e e  t h e  man e i t h e r  h i t  i t  o r  

not .  I thought t h a t  w a s  t h e  g r e a t e s t  t h i n g  ever .  You know, t h a t  j u s t  

r e a l l y  s e n t  me.  I thought,  "Man, t h i s  is r e a l l y  going." 

Q. What d i d  t h a t  look l i k e ,  t h e  s e t  i t s e l f ?  

A. Oh, t h e  set i t s e l f ?  It w a s  up on t h e  w a l l  on a b i g  s h e l f  t h a t  had 

been cons t ruc ted  f o r  i t .  When t h e  set w a s  turned o f f ,  it d i d n ' t  look 

much d i f f e r e n t  than  my own does now. There wasn't  much d i f f e r e n c e  t o  i t ;  

you couldn ' t  see anything i n  t h e  way of paraphenal ia ,  l i k e  it d i d n ' t  

have r a b b i t  e a r s ,  antennas o r  anything l i k e  t h a t  t h a t  I remember. It 

w a s  j u s t  up on t h a t  h igh  s h e l f  t h a t  had been b u i l t  f o r  it. Any anFenna 



o r  something l i k e  that: was e i t h e r  not i n  view o r  i t  was outs ide  coming 

i n  on a w i r e .  

Q. What s t a t i o n  did  they pick up there?  

A. I don't have any idea. It was a l o c a l  Chicago s t a t i o n ,  I know tha t .  

I know a l s o  t h a t  the  audio pa r t  was very good, you could hear the  an- 

nouncer and follow t h e  play very w e l l .  The ac tua l  p i c t u r e  was good. I 

thought t h a t  w a s  r e a l l y  great  entertainment. I s t i l l  do. (chuckles) 

Q. Now ta lk ing  again about family entertainment. You were t a lk ing  a 

f e w  minutes ago about t h e  p o s s i b i l i t y  of alcohol a t  family get  togethers.  

O f  course, if t h e  men get  together i t  might be a l i t t l e  d i f f e r e n t  than 

a family function,  and c e r t a i n l y  the re  may wel l  be some alcohol. Say 

the re  was a par ty  going on, was the re  any a c t u a l  danger of a pol ice  raid-- 

j u s t  a few men having a card pa r ty  o r  something and drinking a f e w  beers? 

A. No, the re  was not. And what I sa id  about t h e  Sunday evening o r  

weekend family gatherings and alcohol s tands;  i t ' s  r e a l l y  t rue .  But 

t h i s  might not be  exact ly  accura te  a s  far a s  the drinking h a b i t s  of the  

men were concerned. For t h e  most pa r t ,  they d i d  drink,  and i n  almost every 

case during t h e  prohibi t ion  years,  they went ahead and made t h e i r  own 

home brew and made t h e i r  own wine, and none of them that I know of ever 

t r i e d  t o  make anything d i s t i l l e d  because you could buy it  p r e t t y  e a s i l y ,  

and, well ,  cheap enough. You could buy a gallon of white mule--that 

would be bootleg whiskey--for four  do l l a r s .  So it  was not a scarce  i t e m .  

And t h e  men, when left t o  themselves or  when they were segregated from 

t h e  women, even i f  it was a family gathering, they might take over t h e  



kitchen or another room and play a little poker and drink some beer, or 

drink something else as far as that's concerned. 

There was never any thought that youtd be bothered by the police or the 

law or anyone else, unless--it would be just like now--unless you were 

a nuisance. In other words, if people got to quarreling and fighting and 

there was loud and boisterous talk, or you were offensive to passersby 

or someone else, the police would certainly put a stop to it. But just 

for the circumstance that you were drinking some liqueur on the premises, 

you'd never be bothered. On more than one occasion, I've played poker 

with and sat around the table in company.with police officers who were 

not on duty--however, on one or two occasions they were in uniform. 

(chuckles) 

But the whole thrust of enforcement of the prohibition law was for the 

law to be enforced by the Federal Government through it's prohibition 

agents. Now this is not to say, really, that the police departments 

encouraged or ignored violations of that law, but they did not go out 

of their way to develap any arrests on it. In other words, unless it 

was a nuisance, even though it was strongly suspected that a business 

establishment was selling liquor, the local police, for the most part, 

were never bothered. They might stay out of it; they wouldn't want to 

compromise themselves by being in there where the public could see them, 

but they wouldn't bother it. Yet if complaints were made by the neighbors 

or perhaps by members of families of those who did patronize the place, 

like the wife of a man who came home intoxicated, the police would make 

arrests and would make a raid. But they didn't go out of their way to 



do it  a t  a l l .  

Q. Suppose t h e  p o l i c e  d i d  a r r e s t  a man. Do you have any s t o r i e s  o r  

any rememberances of anybody you knew t h a t  got  a r r e s t e d  and w a s  t r e a t e d  

a little d i f f e r e n t l y  t han  they are treated today by t h e  po l i ce?  

A. Oh, gosh, i t ' s  hard t o  say. When we were much younger t h e r e  were 

some r e p o r t s  t h a t  I personal ly  be l i eve  t o  b e  t r u e ,  about a l o c a l  c h a r a c t e r  

who had been sentenced by a Federa l  cour t  t o  a j a i l  t e r m  i n  t h e  Federa l  

s e c t i o n  of t h e  c i t y  j a i l  f o r  s e v e r a l  months, and who was s a i d  t o  have 

been r e l eased  each evening by t h e  l o c a l  a u t h o r i t i e s  t o  go out  and ope ra t e  

h i s  place of bus iness  and then  r e p o r t  i n  a f t e r  he closed up f o r  t h e  n igh t .  

I can ' t  vouch f o r  i t ,  bu t  t h a t ' s  t h e  type  of s t o r y  t h a t  went around. 

Then i t  was a l s o  s a i d  tha t  i f  one was a r r e s t e d  f o r  t r a n s p o r t i n g  a lcohol ,  

t h a t  i t  w a s  p o s s i b l e  t o  get  ou t  without  much t r o u b l e  by simply mention- 

i n g  . . . ( t ape  ends ab rup t ly )  

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. You were saying he  could get out  by doing what? 

A. Oh,  by simply mentioning t h e  name of some well-known l o c a l  p o l i t i c i a n s  

and underworld c h a r a c t e r s  who would immediately g e t  you out  on b a i l .  I n  

many cases ,  t h a t  seemed t o  be t h e  las t  one ever  heard of i t .  I n  o t h e r  

words, f o r  t h e  most p a r t ,  it seemed t h a t  be ing  busted f o r  v i o l a t i n g  t h e  

p r o h i b i t i o n  law was not  as s e r i o u s  as be ing  a r r e s t e d  f o r  speeding. There 

were some ce l eb ra t ed  cases  where bootlegging--the manufacture and sale 

of l i q u o r  on a l a r g e  scale--where cases  were brought t o  t r i a l  and some 

p r e t t y  s eve re  sen tences  were handed out .  But t h e  v i o l a t i o n s  always seemed 

t o  be  i f  you were manufacturing and s e l l i n g  on a c o m e r i c a l  s c a l e .  If 


